
CITY OF DARIEN TEMPORARY AMENDMENT TO CITY COUNCIL MEETING RULES 
FOR COMPLIANCE WITH ILLINOIS OPEN MEETINGS ACT:  
 

• In person attendance at City Council meetings have resumed as of September 21, 
2020. All elected officials may elect to participate in a City Council meeting by way 
of audio or video conferencing. The Council member's absence must be because of 
personal illness or disability; employment purposes; city business; or a family or 
other emergency. If a member of the council wishes to attend the meeting by means 
of a video or audio conference, the member must notify the city clerk of his or her 
nonattendance as soon as is reasonably possible so that the clerk may make 
appropriate arrangements. 
  

• The public will be permitted to attend a City Council meeting but the meeting room 
will be limited to 10 members of the public at one time. The public will be required to 
maintain social distancing rules and are required to wear a mask while in the building.  
 

• Members of the public physically present must be able to hear all discussion and 
testimony and all votes of the members of the body. This would mean that members 
of the public physically present, if more than 10, can be in a different room at City 
Hall. For example, this can be accomplished by offering a call-in telephone number, a 
web-based link such as YouTube presenting meeting live or viewing the meeting on 
cable at City Hall. 
 

• The public is encouraged to participate in City Council meetings by submitting 
questions and comments via email to Mayor Marchese at jmarchese@darienil.gov or 
City Administrator Bryon Vana at bvana@darienil.gov. 
 

• Emails providing public comment shall be submitted prior to the start of the City 
Council meeting. Emails asking questions relating to an agenda item will be accepted 
during the Council meeting through the conclusion of Agenda Item 14- Questions and 
Comments 
 

Visit the City of Darien YouTube channel to view the meeting live. 
****************************************************************************** 
PRE-COUNCIL WORK SESSION — 7:00 P.M. 
******************************************************************************* 
 

Agenda of the Regular Meeting 
 

of the City Council of the 
 

CITY OF DARIEN 
 

October 5, 2020 
 

7:30 P.M. 
 

1. Call to Order 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
3. Roll Call 
 
4. Declaration of Quorum 

 
 

mailto:jmarchese@darienil.gov
mailto:bvana@darienil.gov
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC3p__NwrHvHMdslS1ThLY5w
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5. Questions, Comments and Announcements — General (This is an opportunity for the
public to make comments or ask questions on any issue – 3 Minute Limit Per 
Person, Additional Public Comment Period - Agenda Item 18) 

6. Approval of Minutes – September 21, 2020

7. Receiving of Communications

8. Mayor's Report
A. Heart of Darien Award 
B.
C.
D.

Mayoral Proclamation “Arts DuPage Month” (October 2020) 
Darien Chamber of Commerce Report – Business Update 
Annual Financial Report 

9. City Clerk's Report

10. City Administrator's Report

11. Department Head Information/Questions

12. Treasurer's Report
A. Warrant Number — 20-21-11 

13. Standing Committee Reports

14. Questions and Comments — Agenda Related (This is an opportunity for the public to
make comments or ask questions on any item on the Council’s Agenda – 
3 Minute Limit Per Person) 

15. Old Business

16. Consent Agenda

17. New Business
A. Consideration of a Motion to Approve a Resolution Authorizing the Purchase of the 

Deicing and Anti-Icing Product Thermapoint R at the Unit Price of $1.09 Per 
Gallon from Industrial Systems LTD in an Amount not to Exceed $32,000, 
(29,358 Gallons x $1.09/Gallon) 

B. Consideration of a Motion to Approve a Resolution Approving a Business 
Assistance Rebate Under the Cares Act for Certain Local Businesses That 
Experienced Additional Expenses to Create Outdoor Services During the 
Covid Pandemic 

C. Consideration of a Motion to Approve an Ordinance Amending Title VII of the 
Darien City Code, “Health and Sanitation” (Beekeeping) 

D. Consideration of a Motion to Approve an Ordinance Amending Title VII of the 
Darien City Code “Health and Sanitation”(Domestic Fowl) 

E. Consideration of a Motion to Approve an Ordinance Amending the Darien City Code 
by Adding a Chapter to Title VII, “Health and Sanitation” (Domestic Fowl) 
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18. Questions, Comments and Announcements — General (This is an opportunity for the
public to make comments or ask questions on any issue – 3 Minute Limit 
Per Person) 

19. Adjournment



A WORK SESSION WAS CALLED TO ORDER AT 7:00 P.M. BY MAYOR MARCHESE 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF REVIEWING ITEMS ON THE SEPTEMBER 21, 2020 AGENDA 
WITH THE CITY COUNCIL.  THE WORK SESSION ADJOURNED AT 7:27 P.M. 

Minutes of the Regular Meeting 

of the City Council of the 

CITY OF DARIEN 

September 21, 2020 

7:30 P.M. 

1. CALL TO ORDER

The regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Darien was called to order at 7:30
P.M. by Mayor Marchese.

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Mayor Marchese led the Council and audience in the Pledge of Allegiance.

3. ROLL CALL — The Roll Call of Aldermen by Clerk Ragona was as follows:

Present: Thomas J. Belczak Ted V. Schauer 
Thomas M. Chlystek Mary Coyle Sullivan 
Joseph A. Kenny Lester Vaughan (Phone) 

Absent: Eric K. Gustafson 

Also in Attendance: Joseph Marchese, Mayor 
JoAnne E. Ragona, City Clerk 
Michael J. Coren, City Treasurer 
Bryon D. Vana, City Administrator 
Gregory Thomas, Police Chief  
Daniel Gombac, Director of Municipal Services 

4. DECLARATION OF A QUORUM — There being six aldermen present, Mayor
Marchese declared a quorum. 
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5. QUESTIONS, COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS – GENERAL 
 
There were none. 
 

6. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – September 8, 2020 City Council Meeting 
 
It was moved by Alderwoman Sullivan and seconded by Alderman Belczak to approve 
the minutes of the City Council Meeting of September 8, 2020. 
 

Roll Call: Ayes: Belczak, Chlystek, Kenny, Schauer, Sullivan, 
Vaughan 

 
 Nays: None 

 
Absent: Gustafson  

 
Results:  Ayes 6, Nays 0, Absent 1 
MOTION DULY CARRIED 

 
7. RECEIVING OF COMMUNICATIONS 

 
Alderwoman Sullivan … 
…stated she has been in continuous communication with Pinehurst residents regarding 
installation of fence on Carriage Greens Golf Course; she reminded residents the golf 
course is private property. 
…received communication from Drew Kelly regarding City’s Economic Development 
Incentive Agreement with Carriage Greens County Club.  She noted that the agreement is 
posted on City’s website.  She directed Mr. Kelly to contact Administrator Vana for 
additional information. 
…received inquiry from resident in the Carriage Green subdivision regarding refuse 
containers; advised resident that refuse can be placed at curb 24 hours in advance of 
pickup date.  Alderwoman Sullivan reminded residents to secure recyclables. 
…read Public Safety Announcement:  “Surge in Suicide Deaths Review First 6 Months 
of 2020” from Richard A. Jorgensen, MD, DuPage County Coroner.  She echoed the 
importance of reaching out to those most vulnerable. 
 
Treasurer Coren clarified agreement with Carriage Greens Country Club; he stated 
agreement was not set up in the form of a grant, but a loan to be repaid in ten years 
through taxes collected or from personal assets. 
 
 
 
 



City Council Meeting  September 21, 2020 
 

 3 
 

Alderman Vaughan received communication from… 
…resident at 7300 block of Brookbank Road regarding Bed & Breakfast operating at 
7313 Clarendon Hills Road;  Darien Police Department was notified and City was 
contacted. 
…Mike & Kathleen Madden, 700 block of Maple Lane, regarding inappropriate political 
sign. 
…resident regarding incident with Darien Police Department that involved her son.  
Resident thanked police officers for deescalating the situation and treating her son with 
dignity and respect. 
 
Alderman Chylstek received communication from… 
…Steven Delusio, unincorporated Darien, regarding zoning concern with DuPage County 
for soccer field and need for a traffic study. 
…Steve Leopoldo regarding concern with some businesses not wearing masks. 
…Connie Kelly & Tamara Frederickson supported chickens on property. 
…Drew Kelly regarding capital expenditures of Carriage Greens agreement; 
Administrator Vana responded. 
…Chiba Japanese Restaurant thanking City for rebating Food and Beverage taxes. 
 
Mayor Marchese read the correspondence between Alderwoman Sullivan and Drew 
Kelly regarding Carriage Greens Country Club hosting community events.  He stated due 
to COVID-19 monies had been taken out of budget, but will be reviewed next year. 
 
Alderwoman Sullivan noted willingness to host Ward events at Carriage Green Country 
Club, but is airing on the side of caution due to COVID-19. 
 
Mayor Marchese noted Carriage Greens Country Club has been hosting Darien Woman’s 
Club meetings at no cost to the club. 
 
Alderman Kenny received communication from… 
…Stephanie Kochan in favor of chickens. 
…John Norbert opposing chickens and bees. 
 
Mayor Marchese stated he received 10-15 questions in response to new series “Ask the 
Mayor.”  He noted the goal of this initiative is to increase transparency and provide 
residents with the facts about important issues in our City.  Resident questions and 
insights will be shared every few weeks through Direct Connect eNews and social media 
outlets. 
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8. MAYORS REPORT 
 

Mayor Marchese provided the following update: 
• Due to COVID-19, we have all made adjustments in the way we conduct our 

lives.  Social distancing and wearing face masks are the norm and will probably 
be with us for the remainder of 2020 and into 2021. 

• Changes have impacted our businesses.  Masks are mandatory when entering 
businesses, which includes dining out.  While local businesses are working to do 
their part, an incident of non-compliance by Carriage Greens Country Club was 
reported on social media.  City staff had a discussion with management; an 
apology and commitment to compliance was received.  Actions are being taken 
by management to assure the safety and health of patrons. 

• As of September 18, Illinois Department of Public Health has reclassified DuPage 
County to “blue” status as related to COVID-19 risk metrics.  While this is 
positive, Mayor Marchese asked all to maintain diligence in complying with 
Center for Disease Control guidelines and to be conscious of our impact on the 
health and safety of others. 

• Received “Ask the Mayor” question regarding plan for celebrating Halloween in 
the City of Darien.  He noted the Illinois Department of Public Health would soon 
be publishing guidelines with respect to how municipalities handle the holiday in 
their communities.  Once the information is received, an update will be published 
in Direct Connect eNews and social media outlets.   

• Attended Ribbon Cutting event for Edgewood Clinical Services located at 7900 
Cass Avenue.  With COVID fatigue and suicides up in the country, Mayor 
Marchese encouraged all to help those in our community with mental health 
issues. 
 

9. CITY CLERK’S REPORT 
 

Clerk Ragona announced: 
• City of Darien election materials for the April 6, 2021 Consolidated Election may 

be picked up at Darien City Hall beginning September 22, 2020. 
• Available elected position (4 year term) include: Alderman for Ward 1, 3, 5 and 7. 
• Candidates are encouraged to seek the advice of legal counsel before filing 

nomination papers, which must be in apparent conformity with the Election 
Code.  The first day to file is December 14, 2020 at 8:30 A.M. and the last day to 
file is December 21, 2020 at 4:30 P.M. 

• Regular business hours at Darien City Hall are Monday through Friday, 8:30 
A.M. to 4:30 P.M. 

 
10. CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 

 
There was no report. 
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11. DEPARTMENT HEAD INFORMATION/QUESTIONS 
 

A. POLICE DEPARTMENT – NO REPORT 
 
Chief Thomas provided an update on the camera rebate program; 117 cameras were 
purchased by residents. 
 
B. MUNICIPAL SERVICES – ARCHITECTURAL AND DESIGN GUIDELINES 
 
Director Gombac followed up on request by Alderman Chylstek regarding need for code 
amendment regulating minimum architectural and design standards.   He provided 
Council background information and spreadsheet indicating how similar and adjacent 
municipalities regulate design standards.  He requested direction from Council; Council 
discussion ensued.  Decision was to use recommended guidelines versus mandates.  Staff 
will draft document and forward to Municipal Services Committee for review.  He 
thanked City Planner for compiling report. 
 
Director Gombac reviewed City’s refuse container ordinance and current enforcement 
process.  Due to the number of violators and repeat violators, he met with Chief Thomas 
to implement garbage container enforcement.  He reviewed new measures and stated 
fines will be issued.  Council discussion ensued; Director Gombac addressed Council 
questions.  Council determined notice be given before ticketing, which will begin 
October 5, 2020.  Information regarding ticketing for garbage container violations will be 
published in Direct Connect eNews and social media outlets. 
 

12. TREASURER’S REPORT 
 

A. WARRANT NUMBER 20-21-10 
 
It was moved by Alderman Kenny and seconded by Alderman Schauer to approve 
payment of Warrant Number 20-21-10 in the amount of $699,387.42 from the 
enumerated funds, and $264,225.79 from payroll funds for the period ending 09/10/20 for 
a total to be approved of $963,613.21. 
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Roll Call: Ayes: Belczak, Chlystek, Kenny, Schauer, Sullivan, 

Vaughan 
 

 Nays: None 
 
Absent: Gustafson 
 

Results:  Ayes 6, Nays 0, Absent 1 
MOTION DULY CARRIED 

 
B. MONTHLY REPORT – AUGUST 2020 
 
Treasurer Coren explained all reports are preliminary, pending final issuance of audit 
report.  He reviewed year-to-date sources of revenue, expenditures, and fund balances 
through the month of August 2020. 
 
General Fund:   Revenue $5,618,149; Expenditures $4,485,983, 

Current Balance $3,297,701 
Water Fund:   Revenue $1,215,285; Expenditures $1,865,357; 

Current Balance $2,809,452 
Motor Fuel Tax Fund:   Revenue $722,589; Expenditures $136,841; Current 

Balance $1,144,718 
Water Depreciation Fund:   Revenue $3,846; Expenditures $15,604; Current 

Balance $2,427,235 
Capital Improvement Fund:   Revenue $137,710; Expenditures $195,468; Current 

Balance $5,384,769 
 

Alderman Belczak inquired about state of the budget after cuts were made due to 
pandemic; Treasurer Coren provided financial overview. 
 
Administrator Vana stated $750,000 reimbursement request for COVID expenses was 
submitted to DuPage County.  With the impact of COVID still cloudy, he stated City will 
be proceeding cautiously with budget changes for the next six months. 
 
Mayor Marchese shared the concerns local businesses are experiencing in providing 
outdoor dining due to the change of seasons.  He would like the City to provide 
assistance, but the budget is limited.  He noted all can help businesses by wearing masks 
and social distancing. 
 
Alderwoman Sullivan expressed concern for businesses and the need to support them. 
 



City Council Meeting  September 21, 2020 
 

 7 
 

Treasurer Coren commented even if a vaccine becomes available, it may take time for 
people to feel comfortable dining indoors. 

 
13. STANDING COMMITTEE REPORTS 

 
Administrative/Finance Committee – Alderwoman Sullivan announced the next 
meeting of the Administrative/Finance Committee is scheduled for October 5, 2020 at 
6:00 P.M. in the City Hall Conference Room.  She noted the Economic Development 
Committee will be meeting on October 14, 2020 at 7:00 P.M. in Council Chambers. 
 
Municipal Services Committee – Chairman Belczak announced the next meeting of the 
Municipal Services Committee is scheduled for September 28, 2020 at 7:00 P.M.; he 
noted chicken and bee ordinance will be on the agenda. 
 
Police Committee – Chairman Kenny announced the next meeting of the Police 
Committee is scheduled for October 19, 2020 at 6:00 P.M. in the Police Department 
Training Room. 
 
 

14. QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS – AGENDA RELATED 
 

There were none. 
 

15. OLD BUSINESS 
 

There was no Old Business. 
 

16. CONSENT AGENDA  
 

There was no Consent Agenda. 
 

17. NEW BUSINESS 
 
There was no New Business. 
 

18. QUESTIONS, COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS – GENERAL 
 

Alderman Chlystek thanked City staff for their hard work.  He commented many 
companies have provided employees a mental health day due to COVID fatigue and 
inquired if this would be a consideration for staff.  Administrator Vana responded the 
idea is a nice gesture but unrealistic due to union agreements. 
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Alderwoman Sullivan applauded e-learners, students, parents and teachers in the Darien 
community; she encouraged all to keep up the good work. 
 
Mayor Marchese commended City staff and Administrator Vana for their dedication and 
work ethic in making Darien “A nice place to live”. 
 

19. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was moved by 
Alderman Kenny and seconded by Alderman Schauer to adjourn the City Council 
meeting. 
 

VIA VOICE VOTE – MOTION DULY CARRIED 
 
The City Council meeting adjourned at 8:40 P.M. 
 

  
Mayor  

 
________________________________ 

City Clerk 
 
All supporting documentation and report originals of these minutes are on file in the Office of the City Clerk under File Number 9-21-20. 
Minutes of 9-21-20 CCM. 



Mayoral Proclamation 
Whereas, amid the COVID-19 pandemic, the role of the arts has never been 

more important to inspire, heal, and connect us within our county; and 

Whereas, the arts embody much of the accumulated wisdom, intellect, and 

imagination of humankind; and 

Whereas, the arts enrich us as individuals and play a unique role in the lives 

of our families, our communities; and  

Whereas, the arts promote a better understanding of the diversified cultures 

within our communities and unify us regardless of age, race, and ethnicity; and 

Whereas, the arts sector in DuPage County consists of 2,272 arts related 

businesses and account for 4.2 percent of the total number of businesses in the 

region, a larger share of the economy than transportation, tourism, agriculture, 

and construction; and 

Whereas, the arts provide full-time employment for over 15,000 workers in 

DuPage County; and 

Whereas, the arts improve our economy, enrich our civic life, drive tourism 

and commerce, and exert a profound positive influence on the education of our 

children; and  

Whereas, Arts DuPage has regularly issued official proclamations to all the 

cities, towns, and villages in DuPage County on an annual basis designating 

October as Arts DuPage Month; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Joseph A. Marchese, Mayor of the City of Darien, 

do hereby proclaim the Month of October 2020, as 

Arts DuPage Month 
and call upon our community members to celebrate and promote the arts in 

DuPage County. 



 In Witness Whereof, I Have Hereunto Set My Hand And Caused To Be 

Affixed The Seal Of The City of Darien. 

 Done, this fifth day of October Two Thousand Twenty. 
 

        ______________________________ 

Joseph A. Marchese, Mayor 

 

Attest: 

______________________________

JoAnne E. Ragona, City Clerk 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
The Honorable Mayor 
Members of the City Council 
City of Darien, Illinois 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City 
of Darien, Illinois (the City) as of and for the year ended April 30, 2020, and the related notes to 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinions. 
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Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major 
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Darien, Illinois, as of April 30, 
2020, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for 
the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis and the required supplementary information as listed in the 
table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide 
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining and 
individual fund financial statements and schedules, and supplemental data are presented for purposes 
of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The combining 
and individual fund financial statements and schedules and supplemental data are the responsibility 
of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual 
fund financial statements and schedules and supplemental data are fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
The introductory section has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance 
on it. 

- 2 -



 

- 3 - 

We also have previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, the City’s basic financial statements for the year ended April 30, 2019, 
which are not presented with the accompanying financial statements. In our report dated August 28, 
2019, we expressed unmodified opinions on the respective financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information. That audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial 
statements that collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statement as a whole. The 2019 
comparative data included on certain individual fund schedules are presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the 2019 financials statements. The information has been subjected 
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of those basic financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the 2019 comparative 
information included on certain individual fund schedules are fairly stated in all material respects in 
relation to the basic financial statements from which they have been derived. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated August 
13, 2020, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. 
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
 
Naperville, Illinois 
August 13, 2020 
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1415 West Diehl Road, Suite 400 

Naperville, IL 60563 

630.566.8400 

 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL  

OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER  
MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED  

IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
 
Members of the City Council 
City of Darien, Illinois 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information 
of the City of Darien, Illinois (the City) as of and for the year ended April 30, 2020, and the related 
notes to financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements, and 
have issued our report thereon dated August 13, 2020.  
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention 
by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that 
were not identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist 
that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion 
on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other 
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
Naperville, Illinois 
August 13, 2020 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
As management of the City of Darien, we offer readers of Darien’s financial statements this 
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Darien for the fiscal year 
ended April 30, 2020.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is designed to focus on 
the current year’s activities, resulting changes, and currently known facts.  We encourage 
readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with the City’s financial 
statements.  
 
The City of Darien’s MD&A is also designed to assist the reader in focusing on significant 
financial issues, provide an overview of financial activities, identify current changes, address the 
subsequent year’s challenges, identify material deviations from the financial plan (approved 
budgets), and identify issues with individual funds.  
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

❑ The City of Darien maintained compliance with the Police Pension funding requirements 
as well as the IMRF funding requirements throughout the year.  

 
❑ The City was able to transfer $3.8 million to the Capital Improvements Fund in FYE 20 to 

be used in the City of Darien’s 3-year Capital Improvement Plan. The Capital 
Improvement Plan includes sidewalk replacement, storm-water ditch projects, new street 
lighting, the road program, and crack sealing to name a few. 

 
❑ The City was able to maintain a balance in The General Fund throughout the fiscal year 

to cover a minimum of 3 months of operating expenses. 
 

❑ The City was able to reduce its General Obligation Refunding Bond debt by $625,000 
during the year. 

 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial 
statements.  The basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 
 

• Government-wide financial statements, 

• Fund financial statements, and 

• Notes to the basic financial statements 
 
This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial 
statements. 
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Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements (see pages 6-8) are designed to be corporate-like 
in that all governmental and business-type activities are consolidated into columns which add 
to a total for the Primary Government. 
 

 The focus of the Statement of Net Position (the "Unrestricted Net Position") is designed to be 
similar to bottom line results for the City and its governmental and business-type activities. This 
statement combines and consolidates governmental funds’ current financial resources (short-
term spendable resources) with capital assets and long-term obligations using the accrual basis 
of accounting and economic resources measurement focus. 
 

 The Statement of Activities is focused on both the gross and net cost of various activities 
(including governmental and business-type), which are supported by the government's general 
taxes and other resources. This is intended to summarize and simplify the user's analysis of the 
cost of various governmental services and/or subsidy to various business-type activities. 
 

 The Governmental Activities reflect the City's basic services, including administration, police 
and buildings, planning and development, streets and yard waste, and public works. Property 
taxes, sales taxes, and shared state income taxes finance the majority of these services. 
 

 The Business-Type Activities reflect private sector type operations (Water & Sewer), where 
the fee for service typically covers all or most of the cost of operation including depreciation. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
Traditional users of governmental financial statements will find the Fund Financial Statements 
presentation (pages 9-17) more familiar. The focus is on Major Funds, rather than the previous 
model fund types. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over 
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City uses fund 
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All 
of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary 
funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 

 Governmental Funds are presented on a sources and uses of liquid resources basis. This is 
the manner in which the financial plan (the budget) is typically developed. The flow and 
availability of liquid (spendable) resources is a clear and appropriate focus of any analysis of a 
government. Funds are established for various purposes and the Fund Financial Statements 
allow the demonstration of sources and uses and/or budgeting compliance associated herewith. 
Governmental Funds are recorded using the current financial resources method. The flow of 
current financial resources will reflect bond proceeds and inter-fund transfers as other financial 
sources, as well as capital expenditures and bond principal payments as expenditures. A 
reconciliation will eliminate these transactions and incorporate the capital assets and long-term 
obligations (bonds and others) into the Governmental Activities column (in the Government-Wide 
Financial Statements). 
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 Proprietary Funds, also called Enterprise Funds, include the Water/Sewer Fund. These are 
used to report the same function presented in business-type activities in the City-Wide Financial 
Statements. Accounting for this type of fund, we utilize the economic resources method, in a 
similar fashion as corporate accounting. Unlike governmental Funds, the Business-Type 
Activities column on the Business-Type Fund Financial Statements is the same as the Business-
Type column on the Government-Wide Financial Statements. 
 

 Fiduciary Funds represent trust responsibilities of the government, but which have resources 
that are held for the benefit of parties outside the City. These assets are restricted in purpose 
and do not represent discretionary assets of the government. Therefore, these assets are not 
presented as part of the Government-Wide Financial Statements. Accounting for fiduciary 
component units is similar to that used by proprietary funds. Currently the City has one fiduciary 
component unit, the Police Pension Fund. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a 
full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and various fund financial 
statements. 
 
Other Information 
 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents 
certain required supplementary information concerning the City’s contributions and funding 
progress of the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund, Police Pension Fund, and Other 
Postemployment Benefit Plan; as well as, budget to actual comparisons of the General Fund 
and any major special revenue funds.  Supplementary schedules include combining and 
individual fund financial statements and schedules and supplemental data. 
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Condensed Statement of Net Position 
As of April 30, 2020 and 2019 

(In millions of dollars) 

  
Governmental Activities 

 
Business-Type  

Activities 

 
Government 

Total 
 2020  2019 Change 2020 2019  Change 2020 2019  Change 

Current and other assets 13.76 14.65 (0.89) 7.68 7.09 0.59 21.44 21.74         (0.30) 

Capital assets 7.20 7.49 (0.29) 6.13 6.47 (0.34) 13.33 13.96 (0.63) 

   Total Assets 20.96 22.14         (1.18)    13.81 13.56 0.25 34.77 35.70 (0.93) 
Deferred Outflow of 
Resources 

3.72     4.19  (0.47) 0.26     0.59   (0.33)    3.98    4.78        (0.80) 

Total assets and Deferred  

Outflow of Resources 

  24.68 

 

  26.33 (1.65) 14.07 

 

 

 

14.15   (0.08) 38.75 40.48 (1.73) 

Long-term liabilities  26.95 26.38       0.57 5.02 6.16  (1.14) 31.97 32.54 (0.57) 

Other liabilities 2.17 1.63 0.54 1.03 0.84 0.19 3.20 2.47 0.73 

   Total Liabilities 29.12 28.01 1.11 6.05 7.00 (0.95) 35.17 35.01   0.16 
Deferred Inflows of  
Resources 

4.02 3.83     0.19 

 

0.19 

 

0.04 0.15 4.21 3.87 0.34 

Total Liabilities and  

Deferred Inflows of  

Resources 

                      

 

33.14 

                      

 

31.84 

                     

 

1.30 

               

 

6.24 

               

 

7.04 

 

 

(0.80) 

 

 

39.38 

 

 

38.88 

                  

 

0.50 

Net position          

Net investment in capital  

Assets. 6.54  6.63   (0.09) 2.59 2.97 (0.38) 9.13 9.60 (0.47) 

Restricted     1.08     0.67  0.41 0.00 0.00   0.00 1.08 0.67 0.41 

Unrestricted (16.08)  (12.81)    (3.27) 5.24 4.14 1.10 (10.84) (8.67) (2.17) 

     Total Net Position (8.46) (5.51)    (2.95) 7.83 7.11 0.72 (0.63) 1.60 (2.23) 
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Normal Impacts 
 

There are six basic (normal) transactions that will affect the comparability of the Statement of 
Net Position summary presentation. 
 
Net results of activities – which will impact (increase/decrease) current assets and unrestricted 
net position. 
 
Borrowing for capital – which will increase current assets and long-term debt. 
 
Spending borrowed proceeds on new capital – which will:  (a) reduce current assets and increase 
capital assets; and, (b) increase capital assets and long-term debt, which will not change the net 
investment in capital assets. 
 
Spending of non-borrowed current assets on new capital – which will:  (a) reduce current assets 
and increase capital assets; and, (b) will reduce unrestricted net position and increase net 
investment in capital assets. 
 
Principal payment on debt – which will:  (a) reduce current assets and reduce long-term debt; 
and, (b) reduce unrestricted net position and increase net investment in capital assets. 
 
Reduction of capital assets through depreciation –will reduce capital assets and net investment 
in capital assets. 
 
Current Year Impacts 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a governments’ 
financial position.  In the case of the City of Darien, total net position decreased approximately 
$2.23 million from $1.60 million to -$0.63 million. The decrease was a result of increases in 
pension fund liabilities and related changes in deferred inflow and outflows of resources. The 
City of Darien has a goal to maintain a specific level of fund balance which is used to cover 
Capital Project expenditures or used for the early payment of debt.   
 
The City of Darien’s assessed property tax rate was .2652.  The City of Darien’s portion of a 
resident’s tax bill is approximately 4.20% of their total tax bill. The City of Darien’s property taxes 
remain relatively lower than other municipalities within DuPage County.    
 
A portion of the net position of the governmental activities is restricted for street maintenance, 
road improvements, storm sewer, public safety, and a special service area.  
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Condensed Statement of Activities 

As of April 30, 2020 and 2019 

(In millions of dollars) 

  Governmental Business-Type Government 

  Activities Activities Total 

  2020 2019 Change 2020 2019 Change 2020 2019 Change 

Revenues:               

Program Revenues:               

Charges for Services 
           

1.78        1.86  (0.08) 
           

7.63  
           

7.85  
           

(0.22)  
           

9.41  9.71 (0.30) 

Operating and Capital               

Grants and Contributions 
           

1.08        0.61   0.47  - - - 
           

1.08  0.61       0.47 

General Revenues:               

Property Taxes 
           

2.45   2.43  0.02         -             -      -    
           

2.45  2.43 0.02 

Other Taxes 
         

11.53  
          

11.59  (0.06)   -             -       -    
         

11.53  11.59 (0.06) 

Other General Revenues 
           

0.54        0.33  0.21 
           

0.09  
           

0.10  
           

(0.01)  
           

0.63 0.43 0.20 

     Total Revenues 
         

17.38  
         

16.82   0.56  
           

7.72  
           

7.95  
           

(0.23)  
         

25.10  
         

24.77  
           

0.33  

Expenses:               

General Government 
           

2.17   1.88      0.29    -             -         -    
           

2.17   1.88  0.29 

Highways and Streets 
           

9.61   7.39  2.22      -     -               -    
           

9.61     7.39  2.22 

Public Safety 
           

8.53    8.32   0.21     -      -               -    
           

8.53      8.32  0.21 

Interest and Fees 
           

0.02         0.02 0.00     -       -          -    
           

0.02      0.02  0.00 

Water                -                   -                   -    
           

7.00  
           

6.73  
           

0.27  
           

7.00      6.73   0.27  

     Total Expenses 
         

20.33  
         

17.61  2.72 
           

7.00  
           

6.73  
           

0.27    27.33  
           

24.34 
           

2.99 

Increase (Decrease) in                                 
   Net Position Before Prior (2.95)  (0.79) (2.16)  0.72 1.22 (0.50)    (2.23)   0.43 (2.66) 
   Period Adjustment 

            

Prior Period Adjustment & 
           

0.00   (1.41)  (1.41)  
           

0.00    
   

__(0.24)_    
        

(0.24)_  0.00_   (1.65) 
         

(1.65)  

   Change in Accounting               
   Principles 

              

Change in Net Position 
           

(2.95)   (0.79) (2.16) 
           

0.72       1.22 (0.50) 
           

(2.23)   0.43    (2.66)  

Net Position, Beginning 
          

(5.51) 
         

(4.72)   (0.79) 
           

7.11  
           

5.89 1.22 
           

1.60        1.17      0.43 

   of Year               

     Net Position, 
          

(8.46) 
          

(5.51) 
           

(2.95)  
           

7.83  
           

7.11   0.72 
           

(0.63)  
           

1.60    (2.23)  

        End of Year                   

Normal Impacts 
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There are eight basic (normal) impacts that will affect the comparability of the revenues and 
expenses on the Statement of Activities summary presentation. 
 
Revenues 
 
Economic condition – which can reflect a declining, stable or growing economic environment, 
and has substantial impact on state sales, replacement and hotel/motel tax revenue; as well as, 
public spending habits for building permits, elective user fees, and volumes of consumption. 
 
Increase/decrease in City approved rates – while certain tax rates are set by statute, the City 
Council has significant authority to impose and periodically increase/decrease rates (water, 
home rule sales tax, property taxes, etc.). 
 
Changing patterns in intergovernmental and grant revenue (both recurring and non-recurring) – 
certain recurring revenues (state shared revenues, etc.) may experience significant changes 
periodically while non-recurring grants are less predictable and often distorted in their impact on 
year to year comparisons. 
 
Market impacts on investment income – the City’s investments may be affected by market 
conditions causing investment income to increase/decrease. 
 
Expenses 
 
Introduction of new programs – within the functional expense categories (general government, 
public safety, and highways and streets), individual programs may be added or deleted to meet 
changing community needs. 
 
Change in authorized personnel – changes in service demand may cause the City Council to 
increase/decrease authorized staffing.  Staffing costs (salary and related benefits) represent the 
largest operating cost of the City. 
 
Salary increases (annual adjustments and merit) – the ability to attract and retain staff members, 
requires the City to strive to approach a competitive salary range position in the marketplace. 
 
Inflation – while overall inflation appears to be reasonably modest, the City is a major consumer 
of certain commodities such as supplies, fuel and parts.  Some functions may experience 
unusual commodity specific increases. 
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GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 
  
The percentages illustrated below, represent the governmental revenues and expenditures by 
source/function per page 6 of the MD&A, column 1. 
 

 
 

  
 
  

10%

6%

14%

67%

3%

GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES 
BY SOURCE

Charges for Services Grants & Contributions Property Taxes

Other Taxes Other General Revenues

11%

47%

42%

0%GOVERNMENTAL EXPENSES 
BY FUNCTION

General Government Highways and Streets Public Safety Interest and fees
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Business Type Activities 
 
The amounts illustrated below, represent the business-type revenues and expenditures by 
activity per page 6 of the MD&A, column 2. 
 

 
 
The Business-Type activity of the City of Darien includes the Water Department.  The Water 
Department serves the city residents and businesses; pricing of water is based on fees 
determined by the supplier of water, the DuPage Water Commission. The City of Darien has 
been able to avoid raising water rates to its residents and businesses over the past several 
years, even though there have been increases in the fee for the supply of water by the DuPage 
Water Commission. Sales of water (revenues) can be affected by climate, at times, with warmer 
and drier summers bringing higher demand.  The operating revenues of the Water Department 
decreased by $.23 million in comparison to the prior year. 
 
The City pays all of the general expenses from the general fund. On an annual basis, a transfer 
in the amount of $250 thousand is done from the Water Department to the General Fund. The 
reason this transfer is done, is to cover the overhead worked on behalf of the Water Department, 
yet captured within the General Fund. Operating expenses increased $0.27 million for this fiscal 
year. 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS 
 
The City of Darien uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance 
related legal requirements. 
 
Governmental Funds:  The focus of the City of Darien’s governmental funds is to provide 
information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources.  Such 
information is useful in assessing the City of Darien financing requirements.   
 
The City of Darien’s major funds include the General Fund and the Capital Improvement Fund.  
 
At of the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Darien’s governmental funds reported a 
combined (major and non-major) ending fund balance of $8.65 million. 
  

Revenue Expenses

7.71 7.00

Business-Type Activities

Revenue Expenses
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CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital assets 
 
At the end of fiscal year 2020, the City of Darien had total capital assets (net of accumulated 
depreciation) of $13.33 million, invested in a broad range of capital assets including police and 
public works equipment, buildings, water facilities, roads, streets, and sewer lines.   
 
(For more detail see Note 4 of the Audit Report)  
 
Debt Administration 
 
The debt administration discussion covers two types of debt reported by the City’s financial 
statements. The City’s governmental activities include the general obligation bond issuance for 
the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities. Overall, the City’s governmental 
activities report a total debt of $27.36 million. The City began the fiscal year with a balance of 
$26.80 million in debt. 
 
In the City’s business-type activities a total debt of $5.58 million is reported.  The City began the 
fiscal year with a balance of $6.42 million in debt. The business activity debt is paid primarily by 
revenues generated by the Water Department’s sale of water fee for service.  The general 
obligation bonds of the business-type activity are obligations of the business-type activity only 
and are used for infrastructure and building improvements to the system.  (More detailed 
information about the City’s long-term liabilities is presented in Note 6 of the financial 
statements.) 
   
FACTORS BEARING ON THE CITY’S FUTURE 
 
In March 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak was classified by the World Health Organization as a 
pandemic. The impact of this pandemic on the U.S. economy is expected to be broad based and 
to negatively impact national, state, and local economies. Although the pandemic has 
significantly affected the financial markets and the City is likely to suffer a reduction in both 
investment income as well as tax revenue income, with the passage of the CARES Act, the City 
will be reimbursed for eligible COVID related expenses. The City will continue to monitor the 
rapidly changing economic conditions to determine appropriate action necessary to maintain the 
City’s sound financial condition, operations, and services.  
 
The City’s expenditures are comprised mostly of salaries, benefits and capital projects. This 
year, many of the capital projects were put on hold in order to assess the financial impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Other factors bearing on the City’s future include increases in water rates 
charged by DuPage Water Commission and the City of Chicago, and the general state of the 
economy. The uncertainty and financial problems with the State of Illinois is a concern for all 
Illinois municipalities.  All of the local economic factors, revenue projections, and analysis of the 
City’s expenditures are factored in the future fiscal budget plans. 
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REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 
This financial report is designed to provide the City’s citizens, taxpayers, and creditors with a 
general overview of the City’s finances; as well as, to demonstrate the City’s accountability for 
the money it receives.  If you have questions about this report, or need additional financial 
information, contact City Hall: 
 

 
Bryon Vana 

City Administrator 
1702 Plainfield Road 
Darien, Illinois  60561 

 
 

Michael J. Coren 
City Treasurer 

1702 Plainfield Road 
Darien, Illinois  60561
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Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS  
Cash and cash equivalents 7,958,602$       5,898,518$       13,857,120$     
Receivables (net, where applicable,
  of allowances for uncollectibles)  

Property taxes 2,447,115         -                    2,447,115         
Accounts -                    1,402,659         1,402,659         
Intergovernmental 1,529,716         -                    1,529,716         
Other  1,789,442         375,792            2,165,234         

Inventories 32,488              -                    32,488              
Capital assets not being depreciated 819,529            100,000            919,529            
Capital assets being depreciated 6,380,947         6,029,628         12,410,575       

Total assets 20,957,839       13,806,597       34,764,436       

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unamortized loss on refunding -                    121,900            121,900            
Pension items - police 3,087,969         -                    3,087,969         
Pension items - IMRF 517,111            128,367            645,478            
Pension items - OPEB 111,038            16,739              127,777            

Total deferred outflows of resources 3,716,118         267,006            3,983,124         

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 24,673,957       14,073,603       38,747,560       

LIABILITIES  
Accounts payable 1,449,715         408,372            1,858,087         
Accrued payroll 194,751            14,178              208,929            
Accrued interest payable 4,455                52,975              57,430              
Deposits payable 92,657              -                    92,657              
Unearned revenue 20,340              -                    20,340              
Noncurrent liabilities

Due within one year 409,402            556,442            965,844            
Due in more than one year 26,946,359       5,020,288         31,966,647       

Total liabilities 29,117,679       6,052,255         35,169,934       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred property taxes 2,447,115         -                    2,447,115         
Pension items - police 841,380            -                    841,380            
Pension items - IMRF 727,247            192,495            919,742            

Total deferred inflows of resources 4,015,742         192,495            4,208,237         

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 33,133,421       6,244,750         39,378,171       

NET POSITION  
Net investment in capital assets 6,540,476         2,590,908         9,131,384         
Restricted for  

Special service area 19,797              -                    19,797              
Storm sewer 80,559              -                    80,559              
Public safety 425,473            -                    425,473            
Highways and streets 558,970            -                    558,970            

Unrestricted (deficit) (16,084,739)      5,237,945         (10,846,794)      

TOTAL NET POSITION (DEFICIT) (8,459,464)$      7,828,853$       (630,611)$         

April 30, 2020

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

Primary Government

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Operating Capital
Charges Grants and Grants and

FUNCTIONS/PROGRAMS Expenses for Services Contributions Contributions
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

Governmental Activities
General government 2,169,230$       1,079,671$       -$                 -$                 
Highways and streets 9,617,925         499,865            815,010            59,234              
Public safety 8,525,232         201,320            203,057            -                   
Interest and fiscal charges on
  long-term debt 16,333              -                   -                   -                   

Total governmental activities 20,328,720       1,780,856         1,018,067         59,234              

Business-Type Activities
Water operations 6,995,623         7,632,534         -                   -                   

Total business-type activities 6,995,623         7,632,534         -                   -                   

TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT 27,324,343$     9,413,390$       1,018,067$       59,234$            

Program Revenues

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

 STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020
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Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

(1,089,559)$        -$                    (1,089,559)$        
(8,243,816)          -                      (8,243,816)          
(8,120,855)          -                      (8,120,855)          

(16,333)               -                      (16,333)               

(17,470,563)        -                      (17,470,563)        

-                      636,911               636,911               

-                      636,911               636,911               

(17,470,563)        636,911               (16,833,652)        

General Revenues
Taxes

Property 2,446,786            -                      2,446,786            
Replacement 8,468                   -                      8,468                   
Telecommunications 417,249               -                      417,249               
Utility 978,940               -                      978,940               
Amusement 93,915                 -                      93,915                 
Hotel/motel 67,593                 -                      67,593                 
Road and bridge 219,532               -                      219,532               
Video gaming 218,914               -                      218,914               
Local gas 291,234               -                      291,234               
Food and beverage 577,109               -                      577,109               

Intergovernmental
Income tax 2,393,776            -                      2,393,776            
Sales 5,547,921            -                      5,547,921            
Local use 718,742               -                      718,742               

Investment income 156,132               50,992                 207,124               
Miscellaneous 333,584               84,865                 418,449               

Transfers in (out) 51,788                 (51,788)               -                      

Total 14,521,683          84,069                 14,605,752          

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (2,948,880)          720,980               (2,227,900)          
 

NET POSITION (DEFICIT), MAY 1 (5,510,584)          7,107,873            1,597,289            

NET POSITION (DEFICIT), APRIL 30 (8,459,464)$        7,828,853$          (630,611)$           

Net (Expense) Revenue and Change in Net Position
Primary Government

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Capital
General Improvements Nonmajor Total

Cash and cash equivalents 3,104,168$       3,868,661$       985,773$          7,958,602$       
Receivables (net, where applicable,
  of allowances for uncollectibles)

Property taxes 2,253,339         193,776            -                    2,447,115         
Intergovernmental 1,464,212         -                    65,504              1,529,716         
Other 1,560,840         228,602            -                    1,789,442         

Inventory 32,488              -                    -                    32,488              

TOTAL ASSETS 8,415,047$       4,291,039$       1,051,277$       13,757,363$     

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 612,649$          826,134$          10,932$            1,449,715$       
Accrued payroll 194,751            -                    -                    194,751            
Deposits payable 92,657              -                    -                    92,657              
Unearned revenue 20,340              -                    -                    20,340              

Total liabilities 920,397            826,134            10,932              1,757,463         

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable property taxes 2,253,339         193,776            -                    2,447,115         
Other unavailable revenue 675,775            228,602            -                    904,377            

Total deferred inflows of resources 2,929,114         422,378            -                    3,351,492         

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 3,849,511         1,248,512         10,932              5,108,955         

FUND BALANCES 
Nonspendable

Inventory 32,488              -                    -                    32,488              
Restricted

Special service area -                    -                    19,797              19,797              
Storm sewer -                    -                    80,559              80,559              
Public safety 44,454              -                    381,019            425,473            
Highways and streets -                    -                    558,970            558,970            

Unrestricted
Assigned

Capital Improvements -                    3,042,527         -                    3,042,527         
Unassigned

General Fund 4,488,594         -                    -                    4,488,594         

Total fund balances 4,565,536         3,042,527         1,040,345         8,648,408         

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS
  OF RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES 8,415,047$       4,291,039$       1,051,277$       13,757,363$     

OF RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

April 30, 2020

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS 

ASSETS 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 8,648,408$         

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net
  position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
  resources and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds 7,200,476           

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period 
  and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds

Bonds payable (660,000)             
Compensated absences payable (663,605)             

Other long-term receivables are not available to pay for current period
  expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the governmental funds 904,377              
  
Net pension liability for the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund is
  shown as an liability on the statement of net position (1,013,340)          

Differences between expected and actual experiences, assumption
  changes, net differences between projected and actual earnings, 
  and contributions subsequent to the measurement date for the
  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund are recognized as deferred
  outflows and inflows of resources on the statement of net position (210,136)             

Net pension liability for the Police Pension Fund is shown as a liability
  on the statement of net position (23,379,318)        

Differences between expected and actual experiences, assumption
  changes, and net differences between projected and actual earnings 
  for the Police Pension Fund are recognized as deferred outflows
  and inflows of resources on the statement of net position 2,246,589           

Total other postemployment benefit plan liability is shown as a 
  liability on the statement of net position (1,639,498)          

Differences between expected and actual experiences and assumption
  changes for the other postemployment benefit plan are recognized as
  deferred outflows and inflows of resources on the statement of
  net position 111,038              

Accrued interest payable is not recorded in governmental funds but is
  recorded on the statement of net position (4,455)                 

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES (8,459,464)$        

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

RECONCILIATION OF FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES IN THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Capital
General Improvements Nonmajor Total

REVENUES
Taxes 5,124,955$       193,750$              5,073$              5,323,778$       
Licenses and permits 1,161,119         -                        -                    1,161,119         
Intergovernmental 8,664,022         50,000                  1,014,484         9,728,506         
Charges for services 624,425            -                        -                    624,425            
Investment income 93,125              50,531                  12,476              156,132            
Miscellaneous 148,637            -                        -                    148,637            

 
Total revenues 15,816,283       294,281                1,032,033         17,142,597       

 
EXPENDITURES 

Current
General government 1,981,287         -                        -                    1,981,287         
Highways and streets 2,447,807         61,649                  566,886            3,076,342         
Public safety 7,687,690         -                        27,510              7,715,200         

Capital outlay -                    6,035,070             44,481              6,079,551         
Debt service

Principal -                    175,000                -                    175,000            
Interest and fiscal charges -                    17,290                  -                    17,290              

   
Total expenditures 12,116,784       6,289,009             638,877            19,044,670       

   
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES 
  OVER EXPENDITURES 3,699,499         (5,994,728)            393,156            (1,902,073)       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 51,788              3,800,000             -                    3,851,788         
Transfers (out) (3,800,000)       -                        -                    (3,800,000)       

Total other financing sources (uses) (3,748,212)       3,800,000             -                    51,788              
   

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (48,713)            (2,194,728)            393,156            (1,850,285)       

FUND BALANCES, MAY 1 4,614,249         5,237,255             647,189            10,498,693       

FUND BALANCES, APRIL 30 4,565,536$       3,042,527$           1,040,345$       8,648,408$       

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES -
  TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (1,850,285)$     

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
  different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures; however, they are
  capitalized and depreciated in the statement of activities 451,599            

Contributions of capital assets are only reported in the statement of activities 59,234              

Some expenses in the statement of activities (e.g., depreciation) do not require 
  the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as
  expenditures in governmental funds (771,734)          

Revenues in the statement of activities that are not available in governmental
  funds are not reported as revenue in governmental funds until received 354,823            

The repayment of the principal portion long-term debt is reported as an
  expenditure when due in governmental funds but as a reduction of 
  principal outstanding in the statement of activities 175,000            

The change in accrued interest payable on long-term debt is reported as an
  expense on the statement of activities 957                   

The change in compensated absences payable is shown as an expense on the 
  statement of activities 67,337              

The change in the net pension liability for the Illinois Municipal Retirement 
  Fund is reported only in the statement of activities 1,820,976         

The change in deferred outflows and inflows of resources for the Illinois 
  Municipal Retirement Fund is reported only in the statement of activities (2,172,395)       

The change in the net pension liability for the Police Pension Fund is reported
 only in the statement of activities (2,193,835)       

The change in deferred outflows and inflows of resources for the Police Pension
  Fund is reported only in the statement of activities 1,075,443         

The change in the total other postemployment benefit liability is reported only 
 in the statement of activities (6,399)              

The change in deferred outflows and inflows of resources for the other 
  postemployment benefit plan is reported only in the statement of activities 40,399              

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES (2,948,880)$     

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF REVENUES,

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES IN THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES TO THE

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Business-Type 
Activities

Water
Operations

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 5,898,518$         
Receivables (net, where applicable, of allowances for uncollectibles)

Water - unbilled 1,402,659           
Other 375,792              

Total current assets 7,676,969           

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Capital assets

Assets not being depreciated 100,000              
Assets being depreciated

Cost 17,527,580         
Accumulated depreciation (11,497,952)        

Net capital assets being depreciated 6,029,628           

Total noncurrent assets 6,129,628           

Total assets 13,806,597         

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unamortized loss on refunding 121,900              
Pension items - IMRF 128,367              
Pension items - OPEB 16,739                

Total deferred outflows of resources 267,006              

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 14,073,603         

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 408,372              
Accrued payroll 14,178                
Accrued interest payable 52,975                
Bonds payable 530,000              
Compensated absences payable 6,866                  
Total OPEB liability 19,576                

 
Total current liabilities 1,031,967           

 
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Bonds payable 4,497,383           
Compensated absences payable 38,910                
Net pension liability 256,419              
Total OPEB liability 227,576              

Total long-term liabilities 5,020,288           

Total liabilities 6,052,255           

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension items - IMRF 192,495              

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources  6,244,750           

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 2,590,908           
Unrestricted 5,237,945           

 
TOTAL NET POSITION 7,828,853$         

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

April 30, 2020

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

Business-Type
Activities

Water
Operations

OPERATING REVENUES
Water sales 7,608,884$         
Inspections/tap on/permits 18,203                
Sale of meters 5,375                  
Other water sales 72                       

Total operating revenues 7,632,534           

OPERATING EXPENSES
  EXCLUDING DEPRECIATION

Personnel services 842,883              
Materials and supplies 727,801              
Contractual services 4,521,813           
Capital related - uncapitalized 372,346              

Total operating expenses excluding
  depreciation 6,464,843           

OPERATING INCOME BEFORE
  DEPRECIATION 1,167,691           

Depreciation 341,455              

OPERATING INCOME 826,236              

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income 50,992                
Miscellaneous income 84,865                
Interest expense (189,325)             

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (53,468)               

INCOME BEFORE TRANSFERS 772,768              

TRANSFERS
Transfers (out) (51,788)               

Total transfers (51,788)               

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 720,980              

NET POSITION, MAY 1 7,107,873           

NET POSITION, APRIL 30 7,828,853$         

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

Business-Type
Activities

Water
Operations

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers and users 8,819,008$         
Payments to suppliers (5,667,454)          
Payments to employees (763,768)             

Net cash from operating activities 2,387,786           

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Transfers to/from other funds (51,788)               

Net cash from noncapital financing activities (51,788)               

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND 
  RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Principal payments (450,000)             
Interest and fiscal charges (237,278)             

Net cash from capital and related financing activities (687,278)             

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 50,992                

Net cash from investing activities 50,992                

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND 
  CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,699,712           

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, MAY 1 4,198,806           

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, APRIL 30 5,898,518$         

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME
  TO NET CASH FLOWS FROM
  OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income 826,236$            
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
  to net cash from operating activities

Depreciation 341,455              
Miscellaneous income 84,865                
Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable 1,101,609           
Accounts payable (45,494)               
Accrued payroll 390                     
Compensated absences payable (9,566)                
Net pension liability - IMRF 93,416                
Net pension liability - OPEB (5,125)                

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2,387,786$         

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Pension
Trust Fund

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 986,169$          
Investments

U.S. Treasury obligations 1,082,305         
U.S. agency obligations 5,800,892         
Municipal bonds 870,061            
Corporate bonds 4,278,552         
Equity mutual funds 14,796,488       
Common stock 1,236,224         

Prepaids 530                   
Receivables

Accrued interest 96,672              

Total assets 29,147,893       
 

LIABILITIES
Benefits payable 7,531                

Total liabilities 7,531                

NET POSITION RESTRICTED
  FOR PENSION BENEFITS 29,140,362$     

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

 April 30, 2020

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
POLICE PENSION FUND

                           
ADDITIONS

Contributions  
Employer 1,728,465$       

 Employee 329,449            
                           

Total contributions 2,057,914         
                           

Investment income
Net appreciation (Depreciation) in
  fair value of investments (544,329)           
Interest 999,474            

Total investment income 455,145            

Less investment expense (85,751)             

Net investment income 369,394            

Total additions           2,427,308 

DEDUCTIONS
Pension benefits 2,265,113         
Contractual services 26,161              
Administrative expenses 18,502              

                           
Total deductions 2,309,776         

                           
NET INCREASE 117,532            

NET POSITION RESTRICTED                            
  FOR PENSION BENEFITS

May 1 29,022,830       

April 30 29,140,362$     

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

April 30, 2020 
 
 
 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 The financial statements of the City of Darien, Illinois (the City) have been prepared in 

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
as applied to government units (hereinafter referred to as generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP)). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the 
accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial 
reporting principles. The more significant of the City’s accounting policies are described 
below. 

 
 a. Reporting Entity 
 
  The City is a municipal corporation governed by a seven-member council consisting 

of seven aldermen and the mayor. As required by GAAP, these financial statements 
present the City and its component units, entities for which the government is 
considered to be financially accountable. Blended component units, although legally 
separate entities, are, in substance, part of the City’s operations and so data from 
these units are combined with data of the primary government. 

 
  The City’s financial statements include one fiduciary component unit. 
 
  Police Pension Employees Retirement System 
 
  The City’s police employees participate in the Police Pension Employees Retirement 

System (PPERS). PPERS functions for the benefit of these employees and is 
governed by a five-member pension board. Two members appointed by the City’s 
Mayor, one elected pension beneficiary, and two elected police employees constitute 
the pension board. The City and PPERS participants are obligated to fund all PPERS 
costs based upon actuarial valuations. The State of Illinois is authorized to establish 
benefit levels and the City is authorized to approve the actuarial assumptions used in 
the determination of contribution levels. Accordingly, the PPERS is fiscally 
dependent on the City. Separate financial statements are not available for the PPERS. 
PPERS is reported as a pension trust fund. 

 
 b. Fund Accounting 
 
  The City uses funds to report on its financial position and the changes in its financial 

position. Fund accounting is designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid 
financial management by segregating transactions related to certain city functions or 
activities. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 b. Fund Accounting (Continued) 
 
  A fund is a separate accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. 
 
  Funds are classified into the following categories: governmental, proprietary, and 

fiduciary.  
 
  Governmental funds are used to account for all or most of the City’s general 

activities. Special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of 
specific revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditure for specified 
purposes other than debt service or capital projects. Capital projects funds are used to 
account for and report financial resources that are restricted, committed, or assigned 
to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or construction of capital 
facilities and other capital assets. Debt service funds are used to account for and 
report financial resources that are restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditure 
for principal and interest. The General Fund is used to account for all activities of the 
general government not accounted for in some other fund. 

 
  Proprietary funds are used to account for activities similar to those found in the 

private sector, where the determination of net income is necessary or useful to sound 
financial administration. Goods or services from such activities can be provided 
either to outside parties (enterprise funds) or to other departments or agencies 
primarily within the City (internal service funds).  

 
  Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held on behalf of outside parties, 

including other governments. The City utilizes pension trust funds which are 
generally used to account for assets that the City holds in fiduciary capacity or on 
behalf of others as their agent. 

 
 c. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 
  The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statements of net position and 

the statement of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of 
the City. The effect of material interfund activity has been eliminated from these 
financial statements. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes 
and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type 
activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 

 
  The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a 

given function, segment, or program are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses 
are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program 
revenues include (1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or 
directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 c. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
  segment and (2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the 

operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and 
other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as 
general revenues. 

 
  Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary 

funds, and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the 
government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental funds and 
major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund 
financial statements. 

 
  The City reports the following major governmental funds: 
 
   The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all 

financial resources of the general government, except those accounted for in 
another fund. 

 
   The Capital Improvements Fund is used to account for all restricted, 

committed, or assigned resources used for the acquisition of general capital 
assets including infrastructure capital assets. 

 
  The City reports the following major proprietary fund: 
 
   The Water Operations Fund accounts for the provision of water and sewer 

services to the residents of the City. All activities necessary to provide such 
services are accounted for in this fund including, but not limited to, 
administration, operations, financing and related debt service, and billing and 
collections. 

 
  The City reports the following fiduciary funds:  
 

   The Police Pension Fund accounts for the activities of the accumulation of 
resources to pay pension costs. Resources are contributed by members at rates 
fixed by state statutes and by the City which uses the annual property tax levy 
to fund the employer contribution. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 d. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Basis of Presentation 
 

  The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund 
and pension trust fund financial statements. Revenues and additions are recorded 
when earned and expenses and deductions are recorded when a liability is incurred. 
Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied (i.e., 
intended to finance). Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as 
all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. Operating 
revenues and expenses are directly attributable to the operation of the proprietary 
funds. Non-operating revenue/expenses are incidental to the operations of these 
funds.  

 
  Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial 

resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under 
the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible 
to accrual (i.e., when they become both measurable and available). “Measurable” 
means the amount of the transaction can be determined and “available” means 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay 
liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be 
available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period, 
except for sales taxes, and telecommunications taxes which use a 90-day period. The 
City recognizes property taxes when they become both measurable and available in 
the year intended to finance. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund 
liability is incurred. Principal and interest on general long-term debt are recorded as 
expenditures when due. 

 
  Sales taxes owed to the state at year end; franchise taxes, licenses, charges for 

services, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be 
susceptible to accrual and are recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. 
Income and motor fuel taxes and fines collected and held by the state or county at 
year end on behalf of the City are also recognized as revenue. Fines and permits 
revenues are not susceptible to accrual because generally they are not measurable 
until received in cash. 

 
  In applying the susceptible to accrual concept to intergovernmental revenues (i.e., 

federal and state grants), the legal and contractual requirements of the numerous 
individual programs are used as guidelines. Monies that are virtually unrestricted as 
to purpose of expenditure, which are usually revocable only for failure to comply 
with prescribed compliance requirements, are reflected as revenues at the time of 
receipt or earlier if the susceptible to accrual criteria are met. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 d. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Basis of Presentation (Continued) 

 
  The City reports unearned and unavailable/deferred revenue on its financial 

statements. Unavailable/deferred revenues arise when potential revenue does not 
meet both the measurable and available or period intended to finance criteria for 
recognition in the current period. Unearned revenues arise when resources are 
received by the government before it has legal claim to them as when grant monies 
are received prior to the incurrence of qualifying expenditures. In subsequent 
periods, when both revenue recognition criteria are met, or when the government has 
a legal claim to the resources, the liability for unearned revenue and the deferred 
inflows of resources for unavailable/deferred revenue is removed from the financial 
statements and revenue is recognized. 

 
 e. Cash and Investments 
 
  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
  For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City’s proprietary funds consider all 

highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when 
purchased to be cash equivalents. 

 
  Investments 
 
  City investments with a maturity of one year or less when purchased are stated at 

cost or amortized cost. City investments with a maturity greater than one year when 
purchased and all pension fund investments are stated at fair value. Fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

 
 f. Interfund Receivables/Payables 
 
  Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements 

outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from other 
funds” (i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other funds” 
(i.e., the noncurrent portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding balances 
between funds are reported as “due to/from other funds.”  

 
 g. Inventories 
 
  Inventories are valued at cost, which approximates market, using the first-in/first-out 

(FIFO) method. The costs of governmental fund inventories, if any, are recorded as 
expenditures when purchased. 

- 22 -



CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
 

- 22 - 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 h. Prepaid Items/Expenses 
 
  Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond the date of 

this report, if any, are recorded as prepaid items/expenses and are recognized on the 
consumption method. 

 
 i. Capital Assets 
 
  Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets 

(e.g., roads, bridges, and storm sewers), are reported in the applicable governmental 
or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. 
Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more 
than $50,000 for machinery, equipment, and vehicles, $100,000 for building 
improvements, $100,000 for buildings, $200,000 for infrastructure and an estimated 
useful life in excess of one year, and any amount for land. Such assets are recorded 
at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated 
capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of donation. 

 
  The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset 

or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized. Improvements are capitalized and 
depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets, as 
applicable. 

 
  Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are 

constructed. Property, plant, and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line 
method over the following estimated useful lives: 

 
Assets  Years 

   
Buildings  25-50 
Building improvements  8-25 
Land improvements  15-35 
Machinery, vehicles, and equipment  5-20 
Infrastructure - streets  25-50 
Waterworks and sewage system  25 

 
 j. Compensated Absences 
 
  It is the City’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation 

and sick pay benefits. Vacations must be taken in the year following the one in 
which it was earned. Unused vacation time is not allowed to be carried over to the 
subsequent year without approval. Sick leave may be accumulated for future use.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 j. Compensated Absences (Continued) 
 
  City employees may accrue up to 120 or 150 hours depending on the employment 

classification. The City’s policy allows for a bonus to be paid for those employees 
who have not used sick days in the given year. Accumulated amounts are paid out at 
retirement at a rate of 50% of the employee’s current hourly salary rate. 

 
  Vested or accumulated vacation leave are reported as an expenditure and a fund 

liability of the governmental fund that will pay it once retirement or separation has 
occurred. Vested or accumulated vacation and sick leave of proprietary funds and 
governmental activities are recorded as an expense and liability of those funds as the 
benefits accrue to employees. 

 
 k. Long-Term Obligations 
 
  In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary funds in the fund 

financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 
liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or 
proprietary fund financial statements. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and 
amortized over the life of the bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable 
bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are recognized as expense during the 
current period. 

 
  In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and 

discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount 
of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt 
issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances 
are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the 
actual debt proceeds received, are reported as expenditures. 

 
 l. Fund Balances/Net Position 
 

 In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report nonspendable fund 
balance for amounts that are either not in spendable form or legally or contractually 
required to be maintained intact. Restrictions of fund balance are reported for 
amounts constrained by legal restrictions from outside parties for use for a specific 
purpose, or externally imposed by outside entities. Committed fund balance is 
constrained by formal actions of the City Council, which is considered the City’s 
highest level of decision-making authority. Formal actions include ordinances 
approved by the City Council. Assigned fund balance represents amounts 
constrained by the City’s intent to use them for a specific purpose. The authority to 
assign fund balance has been delegated to the City Administrator. Any residual fund 
balance of the General Fund or any deficit fund balance in other governmental funds 
are reported as unassigned. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 l. Fund Balances/Net Position (Continued) 
 

 The City has not adopted a flow of funds policy and, therefore, applies the flow of 
funds from GASB Statement No. 54, which prescribes that the funds with the highest 
level of constraint are expended first. If restricted or unrestricted funds are available 
for spending, the restricted funds are spent first. Additionally, if different levels of 
unrestricted funds are available for spending the City considers committed funds to 
be expended first followed by assigned and then unassigned funds. For net position, 
restricted funds are spent first then unrestricted funds.  

 
 In the government-wide financial statements, restricted net position is legally 

restricted by outside parties for a specific purpose. Net investment in capital assets 
represents the City’s investment in the book value of capital assets, less any 
outstanding debt that was issued to construct or acquire the capital asset. 

 
None of the restricted net position or restricted fund balance results from enabling 
legislation adopted by the City. 

 
 m. Interfund Transactions 
 
  Interfund services are accounted for as revenues, expenditures, or expenses. 

Transactions that constitute reimbursements to a fund for expenditures/expenses 
initially made from it that are properly applicable to another fund are recorded as 
expenditures/expenses in the reimbursing fund and as reductions of 
expenditures/expenses in the fund that is reimbursed. 

 
  All other interfund transactions, except interfund services and reimbursements, are 

reported as transfers. 
 
 n. Accounting Estimates 
 
  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 

 
 o. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement 
element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net assets that 
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

 o. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources (Continued) 
 

(expense/expenditure) until then. In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial 
position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. 
This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents 
an acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be 
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  

 
2. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
 The City and pension fund categorize the fair value measurements within the fair value 

hierarchy established by GAAP. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to 
measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs 
are significant unobservable inputs. 

 
 The City has the following recurring fair value measurements as of April 30, 2020. The 

IMET 1 to 3-Year Fund, a mutual fund, is measured based on the net asset value of the 
shares in IMET, which is based on the fair value of the underlying investments in the 
mutual fund (Level 3 input). 

 
 The City maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all funds, except 

the pension trust funds. Each fund’s portion of this pool is displayed on the financial 
statements as “cash and investments.” In addition, cash and investments are separately held 
by several of the City’s funds. The deposits and investments of the pension trust funds are 
held separately from those of other funds. 

 
a. City Deposits and Investments 
 

The City’s investment policy authorizes the City to invest in all investments allowed 
by Illinois Compiled Statutes (ILCS). These include deposits/investments in insured 
commercial banks, savings and loan institutions, obligations of the U.S. Treasury 
and U.S. agencies, insured credit union shares, money market mutual funds with 
portfolios of securities issued or guaranteed by the United States Government or 
agreements to repurchase these same obligations, repurchase agreements, short-term 
commercial paper rated within the three highest classifications by at least two 
standard rating services, The Illinois Funds (created by the Illinois State Legislature 
under the control of the State Treasurer that maintains a $1 per share value which is 
equal to the participants fair value), and the Illinois Metropolitan Investment Fund 
(IMET), a not-for-profit investment trust formed pursuant to the Illinois Municipal 
Code and managed by a Board of Trustees elected from the participating members.  
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2. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 

a. City Deposits and Investments (Continued)  
 
IMET is not registered with the SEC as an investment company. Investments in 
IMET are valued at IMET’s share price, the price for which the investment could be 
sold. The City’s investment policy does limit its deposits to financial institutions that 
are members of the FDIC system and are capable of posting collateral for amounts in 
excess of FDIC insurance. 

 
  The Illinois Public Treasurers' Investment Pool, known as The Illinois Funds, 

operates as a qualified external investment pool in accordance with the criteria 
established in GASB Statement No. 79, Certain External Investment Pools and Pool 

Participants, and thus, reports all investments at amortized cost rather than fair 
value. The investment in The Illinois Funds by participants is also reported at 
amortized cost. The Illinois Funds does not have any limitations or restrictions on 
participant withdrawals. The Illinois Treasurer's Office issues a separate financial 
report for The Illinois Funds which may be obtained by contacting the 
Administrative Office at Illinois Business Center, 400 West Monroe Street, Suite 
401, Springfield, Illinois 62704. 

 
  It is the policy of the City to invest its funds in a manner which will provide the 

highest investment return with the maximum security while meeting the daily cash 
flow demands of the City and conforming to all state and local statutes governing the 
investment of public funds, using the “prudent person” standard for managing the 
overall portfolio. The primary objectives of the policy are, in order of priority, safety 
of principal, liquidity, and yield. 

 
  Deposits with Financial Institutions 
 
  Custodial credit risk for deposits with financial institutions is the risk that in the 

event of bank failure, the City’s deposits may not be returned to it. The City’s 
investment policy requires pledging of collateral for all bank balances in excess of 
federal depository insurance. The investment policy does not address how collateral 
is held. The City’s deposits are insured through a letter of credit in the City’s name. 

 
  Investments 
 
  Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 

value of an investment. In accordance with its investment policy, the City limits its 
exposure to interest rate risk by structuring the portfolio to provide liquidity for short 
and long-term cash flow needs while providing a reasonable rate of return based on 
the current market. Unless matched to a specific cash flow, the City does not directly 
invest in securities maturing more than five years from the date of purchase. 
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2. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 

a. City Deposits and Investments (Continued) 
 
  Investments (Continued) 
 
  The following table presents the investments and maturities of the City’s investments 

that are subject to interest rate risk as of April 30, 2020: 
 

  Investment Maturities (in Years) 
Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1-5 6-10 Greater than 10 

      
IMET 1 to 3-Year Fund $ 17,100 $ - $ 17,100 $ - $ - 
      
TOTAL $ 17,100 $ - $ 17,100 $ - $ - 

 
  Credit risk is the risk that the issuer of a debt security will not pay its par value upon 

maturity. The City limits its exposure to credit risk by limiting investments to the 
types of securities listed above; pre-qualifying the financial institutions, 
broker/dealers, intermediaries, and advisers with which the City will do business in 
accordance with the City’s investment policy; diversifying the investment portfolio 
so that the impact of potential losses from any one type of security or from any one 
individual issuer will be minimized.  

 
  Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the 

counterparty to the investment, the City will not be able to recover the value of its 
investments that are in possession of an outside party. To limit its exposure, the 
City’s investment policy requires all security transactions that are exposed to 
custodial credit risk to be processed on a delivery versus payment (DVP) basis with 
the underlying investments held by an independent third-party custodian and 
evidenced by safekeeping receipts.  

 
  Concentration of credit risk is the risk that the City has a high percentage of its 

investments invested in one type of investment. The City’s investment policy 
requires diversification of investments to avoid unreasonable risk. The investments 
shall be diversified by: 

 
• Limiting investments to avoid over concentration in securities from a specific 

issuer or business sector (excluding U.S. Treasury securities); 
• Limiting investment in securities that have higher credit risks; 
• Investing in securities with varying maturities; and 
• Continuously investing a portion of the portfolio in readily available funds 

such as local government investment pools (LGIPs), money market funds, or 
overnight repurchase agreements to ensure that appropriate liquidity is 
maintained in order to meet ongoing obligations.  
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3. RECEIVABLES 
 
 a. Property Taxes 
 
  Property taxes for 2019 attached as an enforceable lien on January 1, 2019, on 

property values assessed as of the same date. Taxes are levied by December of the 
subsequent fiscal year (by passage of a Tax Levy Ordinance). Tax bills are prepared 
by the County and issued on or about May 1, 2020, and are payable in two 
installments, on or about June 1, 2020 and September 1, 2020. The County collects 
such taxes and remits them periodically. The allowance for uncollectible taxes has 
been stated at 1% of the tax levy, to reflect actual collection experience. As the 2019 
tax levy is intended to fund expenditures for the 2020-2021 fiscal year, these taxes 
are unavailable/deferred as of April 30, 2020. 

 
  The 2020 tax levy, which attached as an enforceable lien on property as of January 1, 

2020, has not been recorded as a receivable as of April 30, 2020 as the tax has not 
yet been levied by the City and will not be levied until December 2020 and, 
therefore, the levy is not measurable at April 30, 2020.  

 
 b. Due from Other Governments and Other Receivables 
 

  
General 

Capital 
Improvements 

Nonmajor 
Governmental 

 
Total 

     
GOVERNMENTAL  
  ACTIVITIES 

    

 Intergovernmental     
  Sales tax $ 1,236,436 $ - $ - $ 1,236,436 
  Local use tax   126,632   -   -   126,632 
  Motor fuel tax   -   -   65,504   65,504 
  Telecommunications tax   91,174   -   -   91,174 
  Video gaming tax   9,970   -   -   9,970 
     
   Total intergovernmental   1,464,212   -   65,504   1,529,716 
     
 Other receivables     
  Franchise fees   4,589   -   -   4,589 
  Hotel/motel tax   3,616   -   -   3,616 
  Amusement tax   5,304   -   -   5,304 
  Utility tax   72,483   -   -   72,483 
  Food/beverage tax   34,719   -   -   34,719 
  Local gas tax   13,405   -   -   13,405 
  Rent receivable   92,160   -   -   92,160 
  IRMA   583,615   -   -   583,615 
  IPBC   649,936   -   -   649,936 
  Accounts   95,963   228,602   -   324,565 
  Other   5,050   -   -   5,050 
     
   Total other receivables   1,560,840   228,602   -   1,789,442 
     
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL  
  ACTIVITIES 

 
$ 3,025,052 

 
$ 228,602 

 
$ 65,504 

 
$ 3,319,158 
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
 Capital asset activity for the year ended April 30, 2020 was as follows: 
 

 Balances 
May 1 

 
Increases 

 
Decreases 

Balances 
April 30 

     
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES     
 Capital assets not being depreciated     
  Land  $ 819,529 $ - $ - $ 819,529 
     
   Total capital assets not being depreciated   819,529   -   -   819,529 
     
 Capital assets being depreciated     
  Buildings and improvements   5,700,539   -   -   5,700,539 
  Machinery, vehicles, and equipment   4,022,643   510,833   329,998   4,203,478 
  Infrastructure   12,768,226   -   -   12,768,226 
     
   Total capital assets being depreciated   22,491,408   510,833   329,998   22,672,243 
     
 Less accumulated depreciation for     
  Buildings and improvements   3,225,642   130,347   -   3,355,989 
  Machinery, vehicles, and equipment   1,870,640   292,924   329,998   1,833,566 
  Infrastructure   10,753,278   348,463   -   11,101,741 
     
   Total accumulated depreciation   15,849,560   771,734   329,998   16,291,296 
     
   Total capital assets being depreciated, net   6,641,848   (260,901)   -   6,380,947 
     
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES      
  CAPITAL ASSETS, NET $ 7,461,377 $ (260,901) $ - $ 7,200,476 

 
 Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the governmental activities as 

follows: 
 

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES  
 General government $ 55,653 
 Public safety   153,868 
 Highways and streets   562,213 
  
TOTAL DEPRECIATION EXPENSE - 
  GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

 
$ 771,734 
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 

 Balances 
May 1 

 
Increases 

 
Decreases 

Balances 
April 30 

     
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES     
 Capital assets not being depreciated     
  Land $ 100,000 $ - $ - $ 100,000 
     
    Total capital assets not being depreciated   100,000   -   -   100,000 
     
 Capital assets being depreciated     
  Buildings and improvements   6,989,234   -   -   6,989,234 
  Machinery and equipment   952,556   -   -   952,556 
  Infrastructure   9,585,790   -   -   9,585,790 
     
    Total capital assets being depreciated   17,527,580   -   -   17,527,580 
     
 Less accumulated depreciation for     
  Buildings and improvements   4,116,242   161,256   -   4,277,498 
  Machinery and equipment   880,092   12,493   -   892,585 
  Infrastructure   6,160,163   167,706   -   6,327,869 
     
    Total accumulated depreciation   11,156,497   341,455   -   11,497,952 
     
    Total capital assets being depreciated, net   6,371,083   (341,455)   -   6,029,628 
     
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES      
  CAPITAL ASSETS, NET $ 6,471,083 $ (341,455) $ - $ 6,129,628 

 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
 The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 

destruction of assets; errors and omissions; employee health; natural disasters; illnesses of 
employees; and injuries to the City’s employees.  

 
 Intergovernmental Risk Management Agency  
 
 The City participates in the Intergovernmental Risk Management Agency (IRMA). IRMA 

is an organization of municipalities and special districts in northeastern Illinois that have 
formed an association under the Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperations Statute to pool 
their risk management needs. IRMA administers a mix of self-insurance and commercial 
insurance coverages; property/casualty and workers’ compensation claim administration/ 
litigation management services; unemployment claim administration; extension risk 
management/loss control consulting and training programs; and a risk information system 
and financial reporting service for its members. 
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
 Intergovernmental Risk Management Agency (Continued) 
 
 The City’s payments to IRMA are displayed on the financial statements as 

expenditures/expenses in appropriate funds. Each member assumes the first $2,500 of each 
occurrence, and IRMA has a mix of self-insurance and commercial insurance at various 
amounts above that level. 

 
 Each member appoints one delegate, along with an alternate delegate, to represent the 

member on the Board of Directors. The City does not exercise any control over the 
activities of IRMA beyond its representation on the Board of Directors. 

 
 Initial contributions are determined each year based on the individual member’s eligible 

revenue as defined in the by-laws of IRMA and experience modification factors based on 
past member loss experience. Members have a contractual obligation to fund any deficit of 
IRMA attributable to a membership year during which they were a member. Supplemental 
contributions may be required to fund these deficits. The City is aware of no additional 
contributions due to IRMA as of April 30, 2020. 

 
 Intergovernmental Personnel Benefit Cooperative  
 
 The City participates in the Intergovernmental Personnel Benefit Cooperative (IPBC). 

IPBC is a public entity risk pool established by certain units of local government in Illinois 
to administer some or all of the personnel benefit programs (primarily medical, dental, and 
life insurance coverage) offered by these members to their officers and employees and to 
the officers and employees of certain governmental, quasi governmental, and nonprofit 
public service entities.  

 
 The IPBC receives, processes, and pays such claims as may come within the benefit 

program of each member. Management consists of a Board of Directors comprised of one 
appointed representative from each member. In addition, there are two officers; a Benefit 
Administrator and a Treasurer. The City does not exercise any control over the activities of 
the IPBC beyond its representation on the Board of Directors. 

 
6. LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
 a. General Obligation Bonds 
 

 The City issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and 
construction of major capital facilities. General obligation bonds have been issued 
for general government activities. In addition, general obligation bonds have been 
issued to refund general obligation bonds. General obligation bonds are direct 
obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the City. 
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 
 
 a. General Obligation Bonds (Continued) 
 

A summary of changes in long-term debt reported in the governmental activities of 
the City for the year ended April 30, 2020 is as follows: 

 
  Governmental Activities  
 

 
 

Issue 

Fund 
Debt 

Retired by 

 
Balances 

May 1 

 
 

Issuances 

 
 

Retirements 

 
Balances 
April 30 

 
Due Within 
One Year 

       
       
$1,360,000 General Obligation 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2015 
are due in annual installments 
(beginning January 1, 2017) 
ranging from $110,000 to 
$185,000 with interest from 
1.25% to 2.20%. The last 
payment due is January 1, 2024. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Capital 
Improvement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ 835,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ -      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 $ 175,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ 660,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ 180,000 

       
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL  
  BONDED DEBT 

  
$ 835,000 

 
$ - 

 
$ 175,000 

 
$ 660,000 

 
$ 180,000 

 
  Business-Type Activities 
 

 
 

Issue 

Fund 
Debt 

Retired by 

 
Balances 

May 1 

 
 

Issuances 

 
 

Retirements 

 
Balances 
April 30 

 
Due Within 
One Year 

       
$2,810,000 General Obligation 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2012 are 
due in annual installments 
(beginning December 15, 2012) 
ranging from $20,000 to 
$290,000 with interest from 
2.00% to 3.50%. The last 
payment is due on December 15, 
2025. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Water 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ 1,860,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ 240,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ 1,620,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ 245,000 

       
$3,500,000 General Obligation 
Bonds, Series 2018 are due in 
annual installments (beginning 
January 1, 2020) ranging from 
$210,000 to $375,000 with 
interest of 3%. The last payment 
is due on January 1, 2030. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Water 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  3,500,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  210,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  3,290,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  285,000 

       
TOTAL BUSINESS-TYPE  
  BONDED DEBT 

  
$ 5,360,000 

 
$ - 

 
$ 450,000 

 
$ 4,910,000 

 
$ 530,000 
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 
 
 b. Debt Service Requirements to Maturity 
 
  Annual debt service requirements to maturity are as follows: 
 

 Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities 
Fiscal General Obligation Bonds General Obligation Bonds 
Year Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total 

       
2021 $ 180,000 $ 13,440 $ 193,440 $ 530,000 $ 152,875 $ 682,875 
2022   185,000   10,560   195,560   555,000   136,975   691,975 
2023   185,000   6,490   191,490   570,000   120,325   690,325 
2024   110,000   2,420   112,420   590,000   101,900   691,900 
2025   -   -   -   610,000   82,825   692,825 
2026   -   -   -   620,000    63,100   683,100 
2027   -   -   -   340,000   43,050   383,050 
2028   -   -   -   355,000   32,850   387,850 
2029   -   -   -   365,000   22,200   387,200 
2030   -   -    -   375,000   11,250   386,250 

       
TOTAL  $ 660,000 $ 32,910 $ 692,910 $ 4,910,000 $ 767,350 $ 5,677,350 

 
 c. Changes in Long-Term Liabilities 
 
  The following is a summary of changes in long-term liabilities during fiscal year 

2020:  
 

 Balances 
May 1, 

 
Additions 

 
Reductions 

Balances 
April 30 

Due Within 
One Year 

      
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES       
 General obligation bonds $ 835,000 $ - $ 175,000 $ 660,000 $ 180,000 
 Compensated absences payable*   730,942   42,304   109,641   663,605   99,541 
 Total OPEB liability*   1,633,099   6,399   -   1,639,498   129,861 
 Net pension liability*   23,598,013   2,193,835   1,399,190   24,392,658   - 
      
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL       
  ACTIVITIES $ 26,797,054 $ 2,242,538 $ 1,683,831 $ 27,355,761 $ 409,402 

 
 Balances 

May 1, 
Restated 

 
 

Additions 

 
 

Reductions 

 
Balances 
April 30 

 
Due Within 
One Year 

      
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES       
 General obligation bonds $ 5,360,000 $ - $ 450,000 $ 4,910,000 $ 530,000 
 Unamortized bond premium   134,480   -   17,097   117,383   - 
 Compensated absences payable   55,342   -   9,566   45,776   6,866 
 Total OPEB liability   246,187   965   -   247,152   19,576 
 Net pension liability   628,355   -   371,936   256,419   - 
      
TOTAL BUSINESS-TYPE       
  ACTIVITIES $ 6,424,364 $ 965 $ 848,599 $ 5,576,730 $ 556,442 

 
 *The General Fund has typically been used to liquidate the compensated absences payable, 

the net pension liability, and the total OPEB liability. 
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7. INDIVIDUAL FUND DISCLOSURES 
 
 Transfers between funds at April 30, 2020 consist of the following: 
 

 
Fund 

 Transfers  
In 

Transfers  
Out 

    
General   $ 51,788 $ 3,800,000 
Capital Improvements    3,800,000   - 
Water Fund    -   51,788 
    
TOTAL  $ 3,851,788 $ 3,851,788 

 
 The purpose of significant transfers in/out is as follows: 

 
• $3,800,000 transferred from the General Fund to the Capital Improvements Fund for 

capital projects. This transfer will not be repaid. 
 
8. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
 a. Litigation 
 
  The City is not aware of any pending or threatening litigation. 
 
 b. DuPage Water Commission 
 

 The City’s water supply agreement with the DuPage Water Commission (the 
Commission) provides that each customer is liable for its proportionate share of any 
costs arising from defaults in payment obligations by other customers. 

 
9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS 
 
 The City contributes to two defined benefit pension plans, the Illinois Municipal 

Retirement Fund (IMRF), an agent multiple-employer public employee retirement system; 
and the Police Pension Plan, which is a single-employer pension plan. The benefits, benefit 
levels, employee contributions, and employer contributions for both plans are governed by 
ILCS and can only be amended by the Illinois General Assembly. IMRF issues a publicly 
available report that includes financial statements and supplementary information for the 
plan as a whole, but not for individual employers. That report can be obtained from IMRF, 
2211 York Road, Suite 500, Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 or at IMRF.org. The Police Pension 
Plan does not issue a separate report.  
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

a. Plan Descriptions 
 
  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund  
 
  Plan Administration 

 
  All employees (other than those covered by the Police Pension Plan) hired in 

positions that meet or exceed the prescribed annual hourly standard must be enrolled 
in IMRF as participating members. 

 
  The plan is accounted for on the economic resources measurement focus and the 

accrual basis of accounting. Employer and employee contributions are recognized 
when earned in the year that the contributions are required, benefits and refunds are 
recognized as an expense and liability when due and payable. 
 

  Plan Membership 

 
  At December 31, 2019, IMRF membership consisted of: 

 
Inactive employees or their beneficiaries  
  currently receiving benefits   56 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet 
  receiving benefits 

  
  66 

Active employees   35 
  
TOTAL   157 

 
  Benefits Provided 

 
All employees (other than those covered by the Police Pension Plan) hired in 
positions that meet or exceed the prescribed annual hourly standard must be enrolled 
in IMRF as participating members. IMRF provides two tiers of pension benefits. 
Employees hired prior to January 1, 2011, are eligible for Tier 1 benefits. For Tier 1 
employees, pension benefits vest after eight years of service. Participating members 
who retire at age 55 (reduced benefits) or after age 60 (full benefits) with eight years 
of credited service are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for 
life, in an amount equal to 1 2/3% of their final rate of earnings, for each year of 
credited service up to 15 years, and 2% for each year thereafter. 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 
 

  Benefits Provided (Continued) 
 

Employees hired on or after January 1, 2011, are eligible for Tier 2 benefits. For 
Tier 2 employees, pension benefits vest after ten years of service. Participating 
members who retire at age 62 (reduced benefits) or after age 67 (full benefits) with 
ten years of credited service are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable 
monthly for life, in an amount equal to 1 2/3% of their final rate of earnings, for each 
year of credited service up to 15 years, and 2% for each year thereafter. 

 

IMRF also provides death and disability benefits. These benefit provisions are 
established by state statute.  
 
Contributions 

 

Participating members are required to contribute 4.50% of their annual salary to 
IMRF. The City is required to contribute the remaining amounts necessary to fund 
IMRF as specified by statute. The employer contribution for the fiscal year ended 
April 30, 2020 was 10.32% of covered payroll.  

 

  Actuarial Assumptions 

 
  The City’s net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2019 and the total 

pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation performed as of the same date using the following actuarial 
methods and assumptions.  

 
Actuarial valuation date December 31, 2019 
  
Actuarial cost method  Entry-age normal 
  
Assumptions  
  
 Inflation 2.50% 
  
 Salary increases 3.35% to 14.25% 
  
 Investment rate of return 7.25% 
  
Asset valuation method  Fair value 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 
 

  Actuarial Assumptions (Continued) 
 

For nondisabled retirees, an IMRF specific mortality table was used with fully 
generational projection scale MP-2017 (base year 2015). IMRF specific rates were 
developed from the RP-2014 Blue Collar Health Annuitant Mortality Table with 
adjustments to match current IMRF experience. For disabled retirees, an IMRF 
specific mortality table was used with fully generational projection scale MP-2017 
(base year 2015). IMRF specific rates were developed from the RP-2014 Disabled 
Retirees Mortality Table applying the same adjustment that were applied for 
nondisabled lives. For active members, an IMRF specific mortality table was used 
with fully generational projection scale MP-2017 (base year 2015). IMRF specific 
rates were developed from the RP-2014 Employee Mortality Table with adjustments 
to match current IMRF experience. 

 

  Discount Rate 

 
  The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25% at 

December 31, 2019. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate 
assumed that member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and 
that the City contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between 
actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on those 
assumptions, the IMRF’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make 
all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-
term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods 
of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 

 
Changes in the Net Pension Liability 

 
 (a) 

Total  
Pension 

(b) 
Plan 

Fiduciary 

(a) - (b) 
Net  

Pension 
 Liability Net Position Liability 
    
BALANCES AT  
  JANUARY 1, 2019 

 
$ 21,644,983 

 
$ 18,604,098 

 
$ 3,040,885 

    
Changes for the period    
 Service cost   252,736   -   252,736 
 Interest   1,542,957   -   1,542,957 
 Difference between expected   522,376   -   522,376 
   and actual experience    -   -   - 
 Changes in assumptions   -   -   - 
 Employer contributions   -   229,398   (229,398) 
 Employee contributions   -   114,445   (114,445) 
 Net investment income   -   3,478,060   (3,478,060) 
 Benefit payments and refunds   (978,377)   (978,377)   - 
 Other (net transfer)   -   267,292   (267,292) 
    
  Net changes   1,339,692   3,110,818   (1,771,126) 
    
BALANCES AT  
  DECEMBER 31, 2019 

 
$ 22,984,675 

 
$ 21,714,916 

 
$ 1,269,759 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 
 

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of  

  Resources  

 
For the year ended April 30, 2020, the City recognized pension expense of $703,191.  
 
At April 30, 2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to IMRF from the following sources: 

 
 Deferred 

Outflows of 
Deferred 

Inflows of 
 Resources Resources 
   
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 446,246 $ - 
Changes in assumption   88,060   - 
Contributions made after measurement date   111,172   - 
Net difference between projected and actual 
  earnings on pension plan investments 

 
  - 

 
  919,742 

   
TOTAL $ 645,478 $ 919,742 
 
$111,172 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting 
from contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a 
reduction of the net pension liability in the reporting year ending April 30, 2021. 
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 
Fiscal Year 

Ending 
  

April 30,   
   
2021  $ 171,182 
2022    (187,510) 
2023    59,407 
2024    (428,515) 
2025    - 
Thereafter    - 
   
TOTAL  $ (385,436) 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 
 
  Discount Rate Sensitivity 

 
  The following is a sensitivity analysis of the net pension liability (asset) to changes 

in the discount rate. The table below presents the net pension liability (asset) of the 
City calculated using the discount rate of 7.25% as well as what the City’s net 
pension liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 
percentage point lower (6.25%) or 1 percentage point higher (8.25%) than the 
current rate:  

 
  

1% Decrease 
Current  

Discount Rate 
 

1% Increase 
 (6.25%) (7.25%) (8.25%) 
    
Net pension liability  $ 4,144,895 $ 1,269,759 $ (1,071,257) 

 
Police Pension Plan 

 
  Plan Administration 

 
  Police sworn personnel are covered by the Police Pension Plan. Although this is a 

single-employer pension plan, the defined benefits and employee and employer 
contribution levels are governed by Illinois Compiled Statutes (40 ILCS 5/3-1) and 
may be amended only by the Illinois legislature. The City accounts for the plan as a 
pension trust fund. 

 
  The plan is governed by a five-member Board of Trustees. Two members of the 

Board of Trustees are appointed by the City’s Mayor, one member is elected by 
pension beneficiaries, and two members are elected by active police employees. 

 
  The plan is accounted for on the economic resources measurement focus and the 

accrual basis of accounting. Employer and employee contributions are recognized 
when earned in the year that the contributions are required, benefits and refunds are 
recognized as an expense and liability when due and payable.  
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
Police Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
Plan Membership 

 
  At April 30, 2020, membership consisted of: 

 
Inactive plan members currently receiving benefits   27 
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet  
  receiving benefits   14 
Active plan members   33 
  
TOTAL   74 
 

  Benefits Provided 
 

The Police Pension Plan provides retirement benefits through two tiers of benefits as 
well as death and disability benefits. Tier 1 employees (those hired prior to 
January 1, 2011) attaining the age of 50 or older with 20 or more years of creditable 
service are entitled to receive an annual retirement benefit equal to one-half of the 
salary attached to the rank held on the last day of service, or for one year prior to the 
last day, whichever is greater. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.50% of 
such salary for each additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years to a 
maximum of 75% of such salary. Employees with at least eight years but less than 20 
years of credited service may retire at or after age 60 and receive a reduced benefit. 
The monthly benefit of a police officer who retired with 20 or more years of service 
after January 1, 1977 shall be increased annually, following the first anniversary date 
of retirement and be paid upon reaching the age of at least 55 years, by 3% of the 
original pension and 3% compounded annually thereafter.  

 
  Tier 2 employees (those hired on or after January 1, 2011) attaining the age of 55 or 

older with ten or more years of creditable service are entitled to receive an annual 
retirement benefit equal to the average monthly salary obtained by dividing the total 
salary of the police officer during the 48 consecutive months of service within the 
last 60 months of service in which the total salary was the highest by the number of 
months of service in that period. Police officers’ salary for pension purposes is 
capped at $106,800, plus the lesser of ½ of the annual change in the Consumer Price 
Index or 3% compounded. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.50% of such 
salary for each additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years to a maximum 
of 75% of such salary. Employees with at least ten years may retire at or after age 50 
and receive a reduced benefit (i.e., ½% for each month under 55). The monthly 
benefit of a Tier 2 police officer shall be increased annually at age 60 on the  
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
Police Pension Plan (Continued) 
 

  Benefits Provided (Continued) 
 
January 1st after the police officer retires, or the first anniversary of the pension 
starting date, whichever is later. Noncompounding increases occur annually, each 
January thereafter. The increase is the lesser of 3% or ½ of the change in the 
Consumer Price Index for the proceeding calendar year. 

 
Contributions 

 
  Employees are required by ILCS to contribute 9.91% of their base salary to the 

Police Pension Plan. If an employee leaves covered employment with less than 20 
years of service, accumulated employee contributions may be refunded without 
accumulated interest. The City is required to contribute the remaining amounts 
necessary to finance the plan, including the costs of administering the plan, as 
actuarially determined by an enrolled actuary. Effective January 1, 2011, the City has 
until the year 2040 to fund 90% of the past service cost for the Police Pension Plan. 
However, the City has decided to fund 100% of the past service cost by 2040. For 
the year ended April 30, 2020, the City’s contribution was 50.73% of covered 
payroll. 

 
  Investment Policy  
 

ILCS limits the Police Pension Fund’s (the Fund) investments to those allowable by 
ILCS and require the Fund’s Board of Trustees to adopt an investment policy which 
can be amended by a majority vote of the Board of Trustees. The Fund’s investment 
policy authorizes the Fund to invest in all investments allowed by ILCS. These 
include deposits/investments in insured commercial banks, savings and loan 
institutions, interest-bearing obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies, 
interest-bearing bonds of the State of Illinois or any county, township, or municipal 
corporation of the State of Illinois, money market mutual funds whose investments 
consist of obligations of the U.S. Treasury or U.S. agencies, separate accounts 
managed by life insurance companies, mutual funds, corporate bonds, common and 
preferred stock, The Illinois Funds (created by the Illinois State Legislature under the 
control of the State Treasurer that maintains a $1 per share value which is equal to 
the participants fair value), and IMET, a not-for-profit investment trust formed 
pursuant to the Illinois Municipal Code and managed by a Board of Trustees elected 
from the participating members. IMET is not registered with the SEC as an 
investment company. Investments in IMET are valued at IMET’s share price, the 
price for which the investment could be sold.  

 
 The investment policy was not updated during the year ended April 30, 2020. 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
Police Pension Plan (Continued) 

 
  Investment Policy (Continued) 
 
  It is the policy of the Fund to invest its funds in a manner which will provide the 

highest investment return with the maximum security while meeting the cash flow 
demands of the Fund and conforming to all state and local statutes governing the 
investment of public funds, using the “prudent person” standard for managing the 
overall portfolio. The primary objectives of the policy are, in order of priority, safety 
of principal, rate of return, public trust, and liquidity. 

 
  The Fund’s investment policy, in accordance with ILCS, establishes the following 

target allocation across asset classes:  
 

 
 

Asset Class 

 
 

Target 

Long-Term 
Expected Real 
Rate of Return 

   
Large Cap Domestic Equity 35.75% 6.30% 
   
Mid Cap Domestic Equity 5.50% 7.20% 
   
Small Cap Domestic Equity 5.50% 8.10% 
   
International Equity 8.25% 6.80% 
   
Fixed Income 45.00% 1.30% 

 
  The long-term expected real rates of return are calculated on a geometric mean basis 

and are net of a 2.50% factor for inflation and investment expense. ILCS limits the 
Fund’s investments in equities, mutual funds, and variable annuities to 65%. 
Securities in any one company should not exceed 5% of the total fund.  

 
  Investment Rate of Return 
 
  For the year ended April 30, 2020, the annual money-weighted rate of return on 

pension plan investments, net of pension plan investment expense, was 1.26%. The 
money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment 
expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
  Deposits with Financial Institutions  
 
  Custodial credit risk for deposits with financial institutions is the risk that in the 

event of bank failure, the Fund’s deposits may not be returned to it. The Fund’s 
investment policy does not require pledging of collateral for all bank balances in 
excess of federal depository insurance, since flow-through FDIC insurance is 
available for the police pension funds deposits with financial institutions. 

 
  Fair Value Measurements 
 
  All investments in the plan are stated at fair value and are recorded as of the trade 

date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date. 

 
  The Fund has the following recurring fair value measurements as of April 30, 2019. 

The U.S. Treasury notes, equity mutual funds, and common stock are valued using 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1 inputs). The U.S. agency 
obligation, municipal bonds, and corporate bonds are valued using quoted matrix 
pricing models (Level 2 inputs). 

 
  Interest Rate Risk 
 
  The following table presents the investments and maturities of the Fund’s debt 

securities as of April 30, 2020:  
  

  Investment Maturities (in Years) 
Investment Type Fair Value Less Than 1 1-5 6-10 Greater than 10 

      
U.S. Treasury notes $ 1,082,305 $ 300,551 $ 482,125 $ 299,629 $ - 
U.S. agency obligations   5,800,892   720,992   2,978,854   2,094,554   6,492 
Municipal bonds   870,061   201,316   522,050   52,774   93,921 
Corporate bonds   4,278,552   437,878   3,278,265   536,609   25,800 
      
TOTAL $ 12,031,810 $ 1,660,737 $ 7,261,294 $ 2,983,566 $ 126,213 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
  Interest Rate Risk (Continued) 
 
  Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 

value of an investment. In accordance with its investment policy, the Fund limits its 
exposure to interest rate risk by structuring the portfolio to provide liquidity for all 
reasonably anticipated operating requirements while providing a reasonable rate of 
return based on the current market. 

 
  Credit Risk  

 
  In accordance with its investment policy, the Fund limits its exposure to credit risk, 

the risk that the issuer of a debt security will not pay its par value upon maturity, by 
requiring investments primarily in U.S. Treasury obligation, U.S. agency obligations, 
and corporate bonds. The corporate bonds are required to be investment grade rated 
at or above BBB- by Standard and Poor’s or Baa3 by Moody’s. The municipal bonds 
are required to be rated A or better by Moody’s. The U.S. agency securities are rated 
AA+. Municipal bonds are rated ranging from AA- to AA+. The corporate bonds 
have ratings ranging from BBB+ to AAA. 

 
  Custodial Credit Risk  

 
  Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the 

counterparty to the investment, the Fund will not be able to recover the value of its 
investments that are in possession of an outside party. To limit its exposure, the 
Fund’s investment policy requires all security transactions that are exposed to 
custodial credit risk to be processed on a delivery versus payment (DVP) basis with 
the underlying investments held by a third-party custodian and evidenced by 
safekeeping receipts. The money market and equity mutual funds are not subject to 
custodial credit risk. 

 
  Concentration of Credit Risk 

 
  Concentration of credit risk is the risk that the Fund has a high percentage of its 

investments invested in one type of investment. The Fund’s investment policy 
requires diversification of investments to avoid unreasonable risk. 

 
  There are no significant investments (other than United States Government 

guaranteed obligations) in any one organization that represent 5% or more of the 
Fund’s investments. 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued)  
 

  Changes in the Net Pension Liability 

 
 (a) 

Total  
Pension 

(b) 
Plan 

Fiduciary 

(a) - (b) 
Net  

Pension 
 Liability Net Position Liability 
    
BALANCES AT  
  MAY 1, 2019 

 
$ 50,208,313 

 
$ 29,022,830 

 
$ 21,185,483 

    
Changes for the period    
 Service cost   730,885   -   730,885 
 Interest   3,486,465   -   3,486,465 
 Difference between expected   245,106   -   245,106 
   and actual experience    -   -   - 
 Changes in assumptions   -   -   - 
 Changes in benefit terms   114,024   -   114,024 
 Employer contributions   -   1,728,465   (1,728,465) 
 Employee contributions   -   329,449   (329,449) 
 Net investment income   -   369,394   (369,394) 
 Benefit payments and refunds   (2,265,113)   (2,265,113)   - 
 Administrative expense   -   (44,663)   44,663 
    
  Net changes   2,311,367   117,532   2,193,835 
    
BALANCES AT  
  APRIL 30, 2020 

 
$ 52,519,680 

 
$ 29,140,362 

 
$ 23,379,318 

 
  There were changes in benefits in 2020 as required by PA-101-0610 (SB 1300). 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued)  
 
  Actuarial Assumptions 

 
  The total pension liability above was determined by an actuarial valuation using the 

following actuarial methods and assumptions.  
 

Actuarial valuation date April 30, 2020 
  
Actuarial cost method  Entry-age normal 
  
Assumptions  
  
 Inflation 2.50% 
  
 Salary increases Service-based 
  
 Interest rate 7.00% 
  
Asset valuation method  Fair value 

 
Mortality rates were based on PubS-2010 Employee mortality, projected five years 
past the valuation date with Scale MP-2018. 10% of active deaths are assumed to be 
in the line of duty for active lives. PubS-2010 Healthy Retiree mortality, projected 
five years past the valuation date with Scale MP-2018 for inactive lives. PubS-2010 
Survivor mortality, projected five years past the valuation date with Scale MP-2018 
for beneficiaries. PubS-2010 Disabled mortality, projected five years past the 
valuation date with Scale MP-2018 for disabled lives. 

 
Discount Rate 

 
  The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7%. The projection 

of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that member contributions 
will be made at the current contribution rate and that the City contributions will be 
made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution 
rates and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the Fund’s fiduciary net 
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments 
of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension 
plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to 
determine the total pension liability. 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued)  
 
  Discount Rate Sensitivity 

 
  The following is a sensitivity analysis of the net pension liability to changes in the 

discount rate. The table below presents the net pension liability of the City calculated 
using the discount rate of 7% as well as what the City’s net pension liability would 
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (6%) or 
1 percentage point higher (8%) than the current rate:  

 
  

1% Decrease 
Current  

Discount Rate 
 

1% Increase 
 (6%) (7%) (8%) 
    
Net pension liability $ 30,845,350 $ 23,379,318 $ 17,266,728 

 
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of  

  Resources 

 
For the year ended April 30, 2020, the City recognized police pension expense of 
$2,846,857. At April 30, 2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to the police pension from the following 
sources: 

 
 Deferred 

Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

   
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 382,048 $ 553,131 
Changes in assumption   1,326,287   288,249 
Net difference between projected and actual 
  earnings on pension plan investments 

 
  1,379,634 

 
  - 

   
TOTAL $ 3,087,969 $ 841,380 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued)  
 

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of  

  Resources (Continued) 
 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to the police pension will be recognized in pension expense as 
follows: 

 
Fiscal Year 

Ending 
  

April 30,   
   
2021  $ 477,855 
2022    573,967 
2023    569,660 
2024    584,256 
2025    40,851 
Thereafter    - 
   
TOTAL  $ 2,246,589 

 
10. TAX ABATEMENTS 
 
 The City rebates sales taxes to recruit, retain, or improve local business facilities or their 

supporting public infrastructure under certain circumstances. The terms of these rebate 
arrangements are specified within written agreements with the businesses concerned. 
These agreements are authorized through formal approval by the City Council. There are 
no recapture provisions in the agreements.  

 
 The City entered into an agreement in April 2012 with a local business wherein the City 

will rebate up to a net present value of $4,000,000 of incremental sales tax revenue, 
discounted at 8.15%. As of and for the year ended April 30, 2020, a liability of $286,547 
has been accrued and cumulative payments of $1,035,331 have been made under this 
agreement.  

 
 The City entered into an agreement in February 2013 with a local business wherein the 

City will rebate up to $750,000 of sales tax revenue over 11 years. As of and for the year 
ended April 30, 2020, a liability of $68,000 has been accrued and cumulative payments of 
$340,000 have been made under this agreement. 

- 50 -



CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
 

- 50 - 

10. TAX ABATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 The City entered into an agreement in September 2019 with a local business wherein the 

City has a greed to support capital improvements up to $366,000. Upon completion of the 
projects of the local business, the City will record a lien against the subject property in the 
amount of $366,000. The loan is to be repaid through annual installments based on 
increased project revenues with any remaining balance, if any, to be paid in full at the end 
of ten years.  Enhanced project revenues are defined as 50% of the gross revenue generated 
by the virtual golf facility being installed as part of the project improvements, sales tax, 
amusement tax, food and beverage tax and video gaming tax generated by the local 
business. As of and for the year ended April 30, 2020, the projects of the local business 
have not been completed, the City has paid $228,602 related to the agreement and has 
recorded a receivable and deferred inflow for this amount. 

 
11. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 
 a. Plan Description 
 

 In addition to providing the pension benefits described, the City provides 
postemployment health care benefits (OPEB) for retired employees through a 
single-employer defined benefit plan (the Plan). The benefits, benefit levels, 
employee contributions and employer contributions are governed by the City and can 
be amended by the City through its personnel manual and union contracts. No assets 
are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 
No. 75. The Plan does not issue a separate report. The activity of the Plan is reported 
in the City’s governmental and business-type activities. 

 
 b. Benefits Provided 
 

 The City provides the opportunity for retirees, their spouses and dependents 
(enrolled at time of employee’s retirement) to participate in the City’s health 
insurance plan for pre and post-Medicare postretirement health insurance. To be 
eligible for benefits, the employee must qualify for retirement under one of the 
City’s three retirement plans. An implicit benefit is provided due to the retirees 
paying 100% of the actuarially determined premium to the plan. Pursuant to the 
Illinois Public Safety Employee Benefits Act, the City provides health insurance to 
any sworn police employee (their spouses and dependents) who suffers a 
catastrophic injury or is killed in the line of duty. The City is responsible for paying 
the entire actuarially determined contribution to the plan. Upon a retiree becoming 
eligible for Medicare, the amount payable under the City’s health plan will be 
reduced by the amount payable under Medicare for those expenses that are covered 
under both. 
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11. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
 c. Membership 
 
  At April 30, 2020, membership consisted of: 

 
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefit  
  payments 

  13 

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefit payments    - 
Active employees   65 
  
TOTAL   78 

 
 d.  Total OPEB Liability 
 
  The City’s total OPEB liability of $1,886,650 was measured as of April 30, 2020 and 

was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 
 
 e. Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs 
 
  The total OPEB liability at April 30, 2020, as determined by an actuarial valuation as 

of May 1, 2018 actuarial valuation, was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, 
unless otherwise specified. The total OPEB liability was rolled forward by the 
actuary using updating procedures to April 30, 2020, including updating the discount 
rate at April 30, 2020, as noted below. 

 
Actuarial cost method  Entry-age normal 
  
Actuarial value of assets N/A 
  
Inflation 3.00% 
  
Salary Increases 4.00% 
  
Discount rate 2.85% 
  
Healthcare cost trend rates  6.37% Initial to 

4.50% Ultimate 
 
  The discount rate was based the S&P Municipal Bond 20-Year High-Grade Rate 

Index as of April 30, 2020. 
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11. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
 f. Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 
 

 
Total OPEB 

Liability 
  
BALANCES AT MAY 1, 2019 $ 1,879,286 
  
Changes for the period  
 Service cost   34,033 
 Interest   57,927 
 Changes of assumption   64,557 
 Benefit payments   (149,437) 
 Other changes   284 
  
  Net changes   7,364 
  
BALANCES AT APRIL 30, 2020 $ 1,886,650 

   
  Changes in assumptions related to the discount rate were made in 2020. 
 
 g. Rate Sensitivity 
 
  The following is a sensitivity analysis of the total OPEB liability to changes in the 

discount rate and the healthcare cost trend rate. The table below presents the total 
OPEB liability of the City calculated using the discount rate of 2.85% as well as 
what the City total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate 
that is 1 percentage point lower (1.85%) or 1 percentage point higher (3.85%) than 
the current rate:  

 

 
 

1% Decrease 
Current 

Discount Rate 
 

1% Increase 
 (1.85%) (2.85%) (3.85%) 
    
Total OPEB liability $ 2,049,522 $ 1,886,650 $ 1,743,849 

 
 The table below presents the total OPEB liability of the City calculated using the 

healthcare rate of 6.37% to 4.50% as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability 
would be if it were calculated using a healthcare rate that is 1 percentage point lower 
(5.37% to 3.50%) or 1 percentage point higher (7.37% to 5.50%) than the current 
rate: 

 
  

1% Decrease 
Current  

Healthcare Rate 
 

1% Increase 
 (5.37% to 3.50%) (6.37% to 4.50%) (7.37% to 5.50%) 
    
Total OPEB liability $ 1,727,133 $ 1,886,650 $ 2,071,714 
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11. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
 h. OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 

  Resources Related to OPEB 
 
  For the year ended April 30, 2020, the City recognized OPEB expense of $39,125. 

At April 30, 2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 

 

 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

   
Changes in assumptions $ 127,777 $ - 
   
TOTAL $ 127,777 $ - 

 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

Year Ending 
April 30   

   
2021  $ 18,352 
2022    18,352 
2023    18,352 
2024    18,352 
2025    18,352 
Thereafter    36,017 
   
TOTAL  $ 127,777 
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 



Variance
Original and Over
Final Budget Actual (Under)

REVENUES 
Taxes 5,155,795$       5,124,955$      (30,840)$           
Licenses, permits, and fees 943,397            1,161,119        217,722            
Intergovernmental 8,355,115         8,664,022        308,907            
Charges for services 432,853            624,425           191,572            
Investment income 40,000              93,125             53,125              
Miscellaneous 55,000              148,637           93,637              

Total revenues 14,982,160       15,816,283      834,123            

EXPENDITURES
Current

General government 2,160,034         1,981,287        (178,747)           
Highways and streets 2,693,876         2,447,807        (246,069)           
Public safety 7,877,005         7,687,690        (189,315)           

Total expenditures 12,730,915       12,116,784      (614,131)           
  

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES 
  OVER EXPENDITURES 2,251,245         3,699,499        1,448,254         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in -                   51,788             51,788              
Transfers (out) -                   (3,800,000)      (3,800,000)        

Total other financing sources (uses) -                   (3,748,212)      (3,748,212)        

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 2,251,245$       (48,713)           (2,299,958)$      

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 4,614,249        

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 4,565,536$      

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND

(See independent auditor's report.)
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FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Actuarially determined contribution 263,481$       278,630$       403,827$       329,704$       335,289$       

Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
  determined contribution 263,481         278,630         403,827         329,704         335,289         

CONTRIBUTION DEFICIENCY (Excess) -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               

Covered payroll 2,553,725$    2,411,693$    2,594,734$    2,517,936$    2,525,245$    

Contributions as a percentage of  
  covered payroll 10.32% 11.55% 15.56% 13.09% 13.28%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUND

Last Five Fiscal Years

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information can be
compiled, information will be presented for as many years as is available.

The information presented was determined as part of the actuarial valuations as of January 1 of the prior calendar year. Additional
information as of the latest actuarial valuation presented is as follows: the actuarial cost method was entry-age normal; the
amortization method was level percent of pay, closed and the amortization period was 24 years; the asset valuation method was
five-year smoothed market; and the significant actuarial assumptions were an investment rate of return at 7.50% annually,
projected salary increases assumption of 3.35% to 14.25% compounded annually, and inflation of 2.50%.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Actuarially determined contribution 1,714,350$    1,618,878$    1,456,052$    1,412,529$    1,200,005$    1,196,027$    

Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
  determined contribution 1,728,465      1,634,019      1,468,691      1,421,243      1,209,939      1,205,560      

CONTRIBUTION DEFICIENCY (Excess) (14,115)$       (15,141)$       (12,639)$       (8,714)$         (9,934)$          (9,533)$          

Covered payroll 3,407,217$    3,319,478$    3,163,883$    3,159,697$    3,054,195$    2,916,963$    

Contributions as a percentage of  
  covered payroll 50.73% 49.23% 46.42% 44.98% 39.62% 41.33%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
POLICE PENSION FUND

Last Six Fiscal Years

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information can be compiled,
information will be presented for as many years as is available.

The information presented was determined as part of the actuarial valuations as of May 1 of the prior fiscal year. Additional information from
the actuarial valuation used to determine the current year contributions is as follows: the actuarial cost method was entry age normal; the
amortization method was level percent of pay, 100% closed basis and the amortization period was 22 years; the asset valuation method was
five-year smoothed market value; and the significant actuarial assumptions were an investment rate of return at 7.00% annually, projected
salary increases assumption of 3.50% compounded annually, and postretirement benefit increases of 3.00% compounded annually (Tier 1) and
an annual increase equal to the lesser of 3.00% per year or 1/2 the annual unadjusted percentage increase in the CPI-U.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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MEASUREMENT DATE DECEMBER 31, 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY 
Service cost 252,736$          245,279$          263,857$          278,904$          286,420$          
Interest 1,542,957         1,425,656         1,428,582         1,382,894         1,327,546         
Changes of benefit terms -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Differences between expected and actual experience 522,376            931,248            (372,485)          (320,532)          (169,723)           
Changes of assumptions -                   597,080            (543,970)          (48,542)            24,074              
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (978,377)          (880,787)          (730,617)          (720,046)          (681,770)           

Net change in total pension liability 1,339,692         2,318,476         45,367              572,678            786,547            

Total pension liability - beginning 21,644,983       19,326,507       19,281,140       18,708,462       17,921,915       

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - ENDING 22,984,675$     21,644,983$     19,326,507$     19,281,140$     18,708,462$     

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
Contributions - employer 229,398$          397,939$          314,655$          353,272$          335,354$          
Contributions - member 114,445            112,439            111,740            115,595            114,576            
Net investment income 3,478,060         (978,275)          2,968,029         1,126,831         80,704              
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (978,377)          (880,787)          (730,617)          (720,046)          (681,770)           
Other 267,292            566,121            (360,471)          84,073              18,009              

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 3,110,818         (782,563)          2,303,336 959,725 (133,127)

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 18,604,098       19,386,661       17,083,325       16,123,600       16,256,727       

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - ENDING 21,714,916$     18,604,098$     19,386,661$     17,083,325$     16,123,600$     

EMPLOYER'S NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET) 1,269,759$       3,040,885$       (60,154)$          2,197,815$       2,584,862$       

Plan fiduciary net position
  as a percentage of the total pension liability 94.48% 85.95% 100.31% 88.60% 86.18%

Covered payroll 2,543,208$       2,498,644$       2,483,111$       2,568,770$       2,525,245$       

Employer's net pension liability
  as a percentage of covered payroll 49.93% 121.70% (2.42%) 85.56% 102.36%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

Changes in assumptions related to price inflation, salary increases, retirement age, and mortality rates were made in 2017.

Changes in assumptions related to the discount rate were made in 2018.

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information can be compiled, information will be
presented for as many years as is available.

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE EMPLOYER'S NET
PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUND

Last Five Calendar Years

Changes in assumptions for the discount rate were made in 2015 and 2016.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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MEASUREMENT DATE  APRIL 30, 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY 
Service cost 730,885$          685,980$          730,502$          797,055$          754,785$          688,515$          
Interest 3,486,465         3,270,691         3,168,022         2,970,623         2,938,342         2,599,067         
Changes of benefit terms 114,024            -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
Differences between expected and actual experience 245,106            (473,570)           274,605            202,447            (1,424,513)        (388,710)           
Changes of assumptions -                    1,749,927         (576,498)           798,335            -                    2,888,856         
Contributions - buy back -                    -                    -                    106,677            -                    -                    

(2,265,113)        (2,125,790)        (2,045,013)        (1,932,191)        (1,767,269)        (1,624,179)        

Net change in total pension liability 2,311,367         3,107,238         1,551,618         2,942,946         501,345            4,163,549         

Total pension liability - beginning 50,208,313       47,101,075       45,549,457       42,606,511       42,105,166       37,941,617       

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - ENDING 52,519,680$     50,208,313$     47,101,075$     45,549,457$     42,606,511$     42,105,166$     

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
Contributions - employer 1,728,465$       1,634,019$       1,468,691$       1,421,243$       1,209,939$       1,205,560$       
Contributions - member 329,449            319,775            295,483            313,126            308,852            302,058            
Contributions - buy back -                    -                    -                    106,677            -                    -                    
Net investment income 369,394            1,738,762         1,789,255         1,982,144         (21,989)             1,604,934         

(2,265,113)        (2,125,790)        (2,045,013)        (1,932,191)        (1,767,269)        (1,624,179)        
Administrative expense (44,663)             (41,538)             (39,377)             (41,720)             (34,650)             (39,881)             

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 117,532            1,525,228         1,469,039 1,849,279 (305,117) 1,448,492

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 29,022,830       27,497,602       26,028,563       24,179,284       24,484,401       23,035,909       

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - ENDING 29,140,362$     29,022,830$     27,497,602$     26,028,563$     24,179,284$     24,484,401$     

EMPLOYER'S NET PENSION LIABILITY 23,379,318$     21,185,483$     19,603,473$     19,520,894$     18,427,227$     17,620,765$     

Plan fiduciary net position
  as a percentage of the total pension liability 55.48% 57.80% 58.38% 57.14% 56.75% 58.15%

Covered payroll 3,407,217$       3,319,478$       3,163,883$       3,159,697$       3,054,195$       2,916,963$       

Employer's net pension liability
  as a percentage of covered payroll 686.17% 638.22% 619.60% 617.81% 603.34% 604.08%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

Benefit payments, including refunds of member
  contributions

Benefit payments, including refunds of member
  contributions

Last Six Fiscal Years

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE EMPLOYER'S 

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

POLICE PENSION FUND
NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information can be compiled, information will be presented
for as many years as is available.

There was a change to actuarial assumptions in 2015 to reflect revised expectations with respect to mortality rates, disability rates, turnover rates, and retirement
rates.

There was a change to actuarial assumptions in 2017 to reflect updated mortality assumptions to include a projection to the valuation date using Scale BB and the
salary scale assumption was updated from a flat 5.50% to a service-graded schedule.

There were changes in assumptions in 2019 to update the mortality rates to reflect the PubS-2010 tables.

There were changes in benefits in 2020 as required by PA-101-0610 (SB 1300).

There were changes in assumptions in 2018 for retirement, termination, and disability rate tables, salary increase rates, percentage of disabilities and deaths
assumed to be in the line of duty.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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MEASUREMENT DATE APRIL 30, 2020 2019

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY 
Service cost 34,033$              31,356$              
Interest 57,927                64,349                
Changes of benefit terms -                     -                     
Differences between expected and actual experience -                     -                     
Changes of assumptions 64,557                91,892                
Benefit payments (149,437)            (162,002)            
Other changes 284                     -                     

Net change in total OPEB liability 7,364                  25,595                

Total OPEB liability - beginning 1,879,286           1,853,691           

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY  - ENDING 1,886,650$         1,879,286$         

Covered payroll 4,910,475$         5,460,822$         

Employer's total OPEB liability
  as a percentage of covered payroll 38.42% 34.41%

Changes in assumptions related to the discount rate were made in 2019 and 2020.

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE EMPLOYER'S

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

Last Two Fiscal Years

OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN
TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years
of information can be compiled, information will be presented for as many years as is available.

No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No.
75.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Annual money-weighted rate of return,
  net of investment expense 1.26% 6.41% 6.99% 8.30% (0.09%) 6.90%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS
POLICE PENSION FUND

Last Six Fiscal Years

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information can be compiled,
information will be presented for as many years as is available.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS 
 

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

April 30, 2020 
 
 
 
BUDGETS 
 
Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with GAAP for all governmental funds except 
as noted below. Budget amounts are as originally adopted by the City Council. All annual 
appropriations lapse at fiscal year end. As the City does not budget for its Storm Sewer or 
Federal Equitable Sharing Funds (it is not legally required to do so), budget to actual schedules 
are not presented.  
 
Prior to April 30, the City Administrator submits to the City Council a proposed operating 
budget for the fiscal year commencing May 1. The operating budget includes proposed 
expenditures and the means of financing them. Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer 
comments. Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the 
year of the General Fund and budgeted Special Revenue Funds. 
 
The City is authorized to change budgeted amounts within any fund; however, revision must be 
approved by two-thirds of the members of the City Council. No revisions can be made increasing 
the budget unless funding is available for the purpose of the revision. The legal level of 
budgetary control (i.e., the level at which expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations) is 
the fund level. 
 
The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, function, and department. The City Administrator 
is authorized to transfer budget amounts between departments within any fund; however, the 
City Council must approve revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund. 
 
Expenditures exceeded budget in the Motor Fuel Tax Fund by $7,142 and the Capital 
Improvement Fund by $164,728 for the period ending April 30, 2020. 
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COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES 

 



MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 
 
General Fund - The General Fund was established to account for all revenues and expenditures 
which are not accounted for in other funds. This is the largest fund of the City, providing for the 
majority of the City’s revenues, expenditures, and services. The General Fund is supported 
predominately with taxes, licenses, and fees. It funds the operations of the City’s Police Department, 
Community Development Department, Mayor/City Council, Street Department, and Administration. 
 
Capital Improvements Fund - The Capital Improvement Fund was established to account for the 
proceeds of the Taxable General Obligation Bonds, Series 2007A and the expenditures for the 
related capital projects. 



Variance
Original and Over 2019
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

TAXES
Property taxes - current 2,229,295$         2,247,964$        18,669$             2,230,641$         
Road and bridge tax 205,000              219,532             14,532               210,370              
Municipal utility tax 1,015,000           978,940             (36,060)              1,073,098           
Telecommunication tax 520,000              417,249             (102,751)            526,582              
Amusement tax 82,000                93,915               11,915               86,383                
Hotel/motel tax 68,000                67,593               (407)                   69,528                
Local gas tax 310,000              291,234             (18,766)              321,616              
Food and beverage tax 580,000              577,109             (2,891)                606,667              
Replacement tax 6,500                  8,468                 1,968                 6,433                  
Auto rental tax -                      423                    423                    2,014                  
Cannabis use tax -                      3,614                 3,614                 -                      
Video gaming tax 140,000              218,914             78,914               192,596              

Total taxes 5,155,795           5,124,955          (30,840)              5,325,928           

LICENSES, PERMITS, AND FEES
Business licenses 38,000                30,593               (7,407)                40,132                
Liquor licenses 67,000                71,325               4,325                 70,700                
Contractors licenses 18,000                18,030               30                      21,000                
Court fines 100,000              131,690             31,690               127,454              
Ordinance fines 20,000                48,645               28,645               51,389                
Building permits and fees 35,000                160,577             125,577             220,407              
Cable TV franchise fees 452,800              433,978             (18,822)              453,525              
PEG fees AT&T -                      9,644                 9,644                 10,610                
NICOR franchise fees 25,000                31,108               6,108                 29,664                
Public hearing fees 3,000                  2,510                 (490)                   2,580                  
Elevator inspections 4,500                  3,580                 (920)                   4,600                  
Legal fee reimbursements -                      -                     -                     13,833                
NSF check fee -                      70                      70                      140                      
Engineering fee reimbursements 74,000                77,483               3,483                 76,743                
DUI technology fines 6,500                  16,249               9,749                 11,861                
Police special service 99,597                121,330             21,733               115,043              
Developer contribution/impact -                      -                     -                     -                      
Stormwater management fees -                      4,307                 4,307                 400                      

Total licenses, permits, and fees 943,397              1,161,119          217,722             1,250,081           

INTERGOVERNMENTAL
State income taxes 2,053,998           2,393,776          339,778             2,144,307           
Local use tax 574,236              718,742             144,506             684,045              
Sales tax 5,726,881           5,547,921          (178,960)            5,667,938           
Drug forfeiture receipts -                      1,621                 1,621                 19,465                
Grants -                      1,962                 1,962                 4,842                  

Total intergovernmental 8,355,115           8,664,022          308,907             8,520,597           

2020

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020
(With Prior Year Actual)

(This schedule is continued on the following page.)
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Variance
Original and Over 2019
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

CHARGES FOR SERVICES
Towing fees 55,000$              56,000$             1,000$               72,500$              
E-Citation fees -                      1,714                 1,714                 6,537                  
Police report/prints 5,000                  6,028                 1,028                 5,741                  
Rents 324,853              353,303             28,450               343,155              
Other reimbursements 45,000                89,773               44,773               131,680              
Residential concrete reimbursement -                      27,045               27,045               51,511                
Reimbursement - rear yard drain -                      82,015               82,015               (4,610)                 
Mail box reimbursement -                      4,617                 4,617                 2,805                  
Sales of wood chips 3,000                  3,930                 930                    3,470                  

Total charges for services 432,853              624,425             191,572             612,789              

INVESTMENT INCOME
Investment income 40,000                93,125               53,125               76,040                

Total investment income 40,000                93,125               53,125               76,040                

MISCELLANEOUS
Reimbursement - workers' compensation -                      861                    861                    -                      
Impact fees -                      375                    375                    1,125                  
Miscellaneous 55,000                147,401             92,401               114,410              

Total miscellaneous 55,000                148,637             93,637               115,535              

TOTAL REVENUES 14,982,160$       15,816,283$      834,123$           15,900,970$       

2020

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)
GENERAL FUND 

(With Prior Year Actual)
For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Variance
Original and Over 2019
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

GENERAL GOVERNMENT
Administration

Personnel services
Salaries 318,742$           327,314$           8,572$               301,154$           
Overtime -                    2,602                 2,602                 530                    
Social Security 21,913               18,920               (2,993)               17,578               
Medicare 4,622                 4,425                 (197)                  4,111                 
IMRF 28,751               33,011               4,260                 33,477               
Medical/life insurance 69,080               68,500               (580)                  77,170               
Supplemental pensions 4,800                 4,800                 -                    3,646                 

Total personnel services 447,908             459,572             11,664               437,666             

Materials and supplies
Dues and subscriptions 1,490                 539                    (951)                  387                    
Liability insurance 280,000             270,345             (9,655)               271,949             
Legal notices 2,000                 2,133                 133                    1,246                 
Maintenance - equipment 8,100                 7,460                 (640)                  6,944                 
Maintenance - equipment -                    170                    170                    -                    
Postage/mailings 3,350                 2,684                 (666)                  1,970                 
Printing and forms 4,200                 5,850                 1,650                 3,015                 
Public relations 39,171               56,285               17,114               25,823               
Rent - equipment 2,019                 1,500                 (519)                  119                    
Supplies - office 8,000                 7,154                 (846)                  6,277                 
Supplies - other 500                    385                    (115)                  39                      
Training and education 1,500                 -                    (1,500)               -                    
Travel/meetings 550                    111                    (439)                  99                      
Telephone 48,200               34,824               (13,376)             35,666               
Utilities 2,500                 2,470                 (30)                    1,800                 
Gas and oil 650                    872                    222                    272                    
Other -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total materials and supplies 402,230             392,782             (9,448)               355,606             

Contractual services
Audit 13,200               15,537               2,337                 13,200               
Consulting/professional 541,575             316,153             (225,422)           288,193             
Contingency 10,000               11,137               1,137                 -                    
Janitorial services 20,500               18,558               (1,942)               17,318               

Total contractual services 585,275             361,385             (223,890)           318,711             

Capital outlay
Equipment 5,000                 261                    (4,739)               33,580               

Total capital outlay 5,000                 261                    (4,739)               33,580               

Total administration 1,440,413          1,214,000          (226,413)           1,145,563          

City Council
Personnel services

Salaries 42,750               42,750               -                    42,750               
Social Security 2,651                 2,651                 -                    2,651                 
Medicare 620                    620                    -                    620                    

Total personnel services 46,021               46,021               -                    46,021               

2020

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020
(With Prior Year Actual)
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Variance
Original and Over 2019
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

GENERAL GOVERNMENT (Continued)
City Council (Continued)

Materials and supplies
Board and commissions 2,500$               866$                  (1,634)$             698$                  
Cable operations 6,000                 3,825                 (2,175)               2,150                 
Dues and subscriptions 2,850                 13,134               10,284               2,829                 
Public relations 10,500               10,500               -                    2                        
Training and education 1,000                 250                    (750)                  155                    
Travel/meetings 50                      -                    (50)                    -                    

Total materials and supplies 22,900               28,575               5,675                 5,834                 

Contractual services
Consulting/professional 5,000                 5,855                 855                    3,640                 
Tolley contracts 600                    233                    (367)                  251                    

Total contractual services 5,600                 6,088                 488                    3,891                 

Total city council 74,521               80,684               6,163                 55,746               

Community development
Personnel services

Salaries 309,192             296,690             (12,502)             296,434             
Overtime 500                    2,630                 2,130                 -                    
Social Security 19,277               17,072               (2,205)               16,417               
Medicare 4,483                 4,174                 (309)                  4,107                 
IMRF 36,931               30,094               (6,837)               33,346               
Medical/life insurance 49,362               29,052               (20,310)             49,556               
Supplemental pensions 2,400                 2,354                 (46)                    1,708                 

Total personnel services 422,145             382,066             (40,079)             401,568             

Materials and supplies
Boards and commissions 1,200                 1,770                 570                    1,530                 
Dues and subscriptions 500                    533                    33                      175                    
Liabilities insurance 23,000               33,669               10,669               30,832               
Maintenance - vehicles 500                    -                    (500)                  326                    
Miscellaneous expenditures -                    150                    150                    -                    
Printing and forms 1,565                 1,880                 315                    470                    
Supplies - office 900                    798                    (102)                  673                    
Training and educational 300                    -                    (300)                  514                    
Travel/meetings -                    -                    -                    148                    
Gas and oil 1,350                 1,282                 (68)                    1,204                 

Total materials and supplies 29,315               40,082               10,767               35,872               

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

2020

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)
GENERAL FUND 

(With Prior Year Actual)

(This schedule is continued on the following pages.)
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Variance
Original and Over 2019
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

2020

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)
GENERAL FUND 

(With Prior Year Actual)

GENERAL GOVERNMENT (Continued)
Community development (Continued)

Contractual services
Economic development 338,000$           354,547$           16,547$             351,494$           
Consulting/professional 37,640               60,267               22,627               58,999               
Consulting/professional reimbursable 68,000               99,641               31,641               85,823               

Total contractual services 443,640             514,455             70,815               496,316             

Capital outlay
None -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total capital outlay -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total community development 895,100             936,603             41,503               933,756             

Subtotal general government 2,410,034          2,231,287          (178,747)           2,135,065          

Less reimbursements from Water Fund (250,000)           (250,000)           -                    (250,000)           

Total general government 2,160,034          1,981,287          (178,747)           1,885,065          

HIGHWAYS AND STREETS
Public works

Personnel services
Salaries 660,415             708,292             47,877               645,492             
Overtime 78,000               54,138               (23,862)             56,938               
Social Security 47,018               44,172               (2,846)               41,259               
Medicare 8,932                 10,337               1,405                 9,650                 
IMRF 88,059               65,400               (22,659)             72,152               
Medical/life insurance 125,161             122,038             (3,123)               118,992             
Supplemental pensions 2,400                 2,400                 -                    1,385                 

Total personnel services 1,009,985          1,006,777          (3,208)               945,868             

Materials and supplies
Liability insurance 23,029               21,499               (1,530)               23,414               
Maintenance - building 246,197             166,457             (79,740)             298,607             
Maintenance - equipment 46,250               37,717               (8,533)               27,000               
Maintenance - vehicles 60,000               68,477               8,477                 106,452             
Postage/mailings 1,000                 427                    (573)                  343                    
Rent - equipment 23,700               15,055               (8,645)               8,605                 
Supplies - office 4,903                 5,913                 1,010                 2,389                 
Supplies - other 100,165             74,870               (25,295)             96,949               
Small tools and equipment 25,300               12,443               (12,857)             60,800               
Telephone -                    113                    113                    -                    
Training and education 3,600                 1,799                 (1,801)               2,750                 
Uniforms 6,446                 4,076                 (2,370)               6,277                 
Utilities 6,400                 7,570                 1,170                 4,372                 
Gas and oil 60,300               56,295               (4,005)               53,452               

Total materials and supplies 607,290             472,711             (134,579)           691,410             

(This schedule is continued on the following pages.)
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Variance
Original and Over 2019
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

2020

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)
GENERAL FUND 

(With Prior Year Actual)

HIGHWAYS AND STREETS (Continued)
Public works (Continued)

Contractual services
Consulting/professional 10,750$             7,789$               (2,961)$             13,864$             
Forestry 72,711               59,489               (13,222)             43,794               
Street light operation and maintenance 43,000               11,521               (31,479)             63,142               
Tree trim - removal 221,715             114,181             (107,534)           257,683             
Residential concrete program -                    25,795               25,795               52,787               
Street sweeping 37,975               31,298               (6,677)               35,098               
Mosquito abatement 41,700               40,887               (813)                  40,887               
Drainage projects 107,000             172,446             65,446               101,264             

Total contractual services 534,851             463,406             (71,445)             608,519             

Capital outlay
Equipment 541,750             504,913             (36,837)             510,157             

Total capital outlay 541,750             504,913             (36,837)             510,157             

Total public works 2,693,876          2,447,807          (246,069)           2,755,954          

Total highways and streets 2,693,876          2,447,807          (246,069)           2,755,954          

PUBLIC SAFETY
Police department

Personnel services
Salaries 436,846             431,502             (5,344)               403,410             
Salaries - officers 3,736,296          3,661,947          (74,349)             3,504,249          
Overtime 519,883             475,037             (44,846)             568,222             
Social Security 27,084               27,274               190                    26,154               
Medicare 68,046               60,797               (7,249)               58,424               
IMRF 35,964               41,645               5,681                 40,377               
Medical/life insurance 425,681             400,043             (25,638)             443,810             
Police pension 1,714,350          1,728,465          14,115               1,634,019          
Supplemental pensions 44,400               43,431               (969)                  34,462               

Total personnel services 7,008,550          6,870,141          (138,409)           6,713,127          

Materials and supplies
Animal control 1,500                 735                    (765)                  1,570                 
Auxiliary police 4,000                 248                    (3,752)               2,856                 
Boards and commissions 12,300               17,144               4,844                 11,631               
Dues and subscriptions 3,150                 1,872                 (1,278)               2,098                 
Investigation and equipment 42,980               29,631               (13,349)             148,437             
Liability insurance 65,520               54,837               (10,683)             41,745               
Maintenance - buildings -                    412                    412                    -                    
Maintenance - equipment 17,205               16,349               (856)                  11,406               
Maintenance - vehicles 29,600               31,945               2,345                 38,046               
Postage/mailings 4,300                 3,163                 (1,137)               1,465                 
Printing and forms 1,500                 5,345                 3,845                 553                    
Public relations 3,500                 2,961                 (539)                  2,858                 
Rent - equipment 5,500                 1,500                 (4,000)               1,600                 
Supplies - office 6,500                 6,872                 372                    6,534                 

(This schedule is continued on the following page.)
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Variance
Original and Over 2019
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

2020

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)
GENERAL FUND 

(With Prior Year Actual)

PUBLIC SAFETY (Continued)
Police department (Continued)

Materials and supplies (Continued)
Training and education 32,850$             16,456$             (16,394)$           13,859$             
Travel/meetings 13,250               3,400                 (9,850)               5,995                 
Telephone 14,000               12,844               (1,156)               11,106               
Uniforms 55,100               51,853               (3,247)               52,617               
Utilities 7,500                 7,764                 264                    7,718                 
Gas and oil 75,000               69,753               (5,247)               89,490               

Total materials and supplies 395,255             335,084             (60,171)             451,584             

Contractual services
Bad debt expense -                    14,837               14,837               -                    
Consulting/professional 448,500             442,448             (6,052)               433,953             
Dumeg/fiat/child center 24,700               25,180               480                    3,500                 

Total contractual services 473,200             482,465             9,265                 437,453             

Capital outlay
Equipment -                    -                    -                    562,959             

Total capital outlay -                    -                    -                    562,959             

Total police department 7,877,005          7,687,690          (189,315)           8,165,123          

Total public safety 7,877,005          7,687,690          (189,315)           8,165,123          

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 12,730,915$      12,116,784$      (614,131)$         12,806,142$      

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Variance
Original and Over 2019
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

REVENUES 
Taxes 191,240$          193,750$          2,510$              192,472$          
Intergovernmental -                   50,000              50,000              -                   
Investment income 25,000              50,531              25,531              77,718              

Total revenues 216,240            294,281            78,041              270,190            

EXPENDITURES
Current

Highways and streets
Contractual services 51,500              61,649              10,149              27,871              

Capital outlay 5,878,354         6,035,070         156,716            3,932,932         
Debt service

Principal payments 175,000            175,000            -                   175,000            
Interest and fiscal charges 19,427              17,290              (2,137)              19,178              

Total expenditures 6,124,281         6,289,009         164,728            4,154,981         

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
  OVER EXPENDITURES (5,908,041)        (5,994,728)        (86,687)            (3,884,791)        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 3,000,000         3,800,000         800,000            3,000,000         

Total other financing sources (uses) 3,000,000         3,800,000         800,000            3,000,000         

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (2,908,041)$      (2,194,728)        713,313$          (884,791)           

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 5,237,255         6,122,046         

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 3,042,527$       5,237,255$       

2020

(With Prior Year Actual) 
For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND

(See independent auditor's report.)
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NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 
 

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 
 
Motor Fuel Tax Fund - The Motor Fuel Tax Fund is used to account for state-shared motor fuel 
tax revenues that are legally restricted to maintenance and construction of streets, sidewalks, 
alleys, and signals. 
 
Special Service Area Fund - A Special Service Area (SSA) is created to fund improvements 
which benefit an identifiable segment of the City, with a special property tax levied on and 
restricted to the benefited properties. SSA #1 was created to handle maintenance of the wetlands 
in the Tara Hill development.  
 
Storm Sewer Fund - The Storm Sewer Fund is used to account for storm water management fees 
that are restricted for storm sewer improvements.  
 
Federal Equitable Sharing Fund - The Federal Equitable Sharing Fund is used to account for the 
revenues and expenditures of restricted forfeited money provided through the Federal Equitable 
Sharing program. 



Federal
Motor Special Storm Equitable

Fuel Tax Service Area Sewer Sharing Total

Cash and cash equivalents 502,573$      19,797$        80,559$        382,844$      985,773$      
Receivables

Intergovernmental 65,504          -                -                -                65,504          

TOTAL ASSETS 568,077$      19,797$        80,559$        382,844$      1,051,277$   

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 9,107$          -$              -$              1,825$          10,932$        

Total liabilities 9,107            -                -                1,825            10,932          

FUND BALANCES
Restricted

Special service area -                19,797          -                -                19,797          
Storm sewer -                -                80,559          -                80,559          
Public safety -                -                -                381,019        381,019        
Highways and streets 558,970        -                -                -                558,970        

Total fund balances 558,970        19,797          80,559          381,019        1,040,345     

TOTAL LIABILITIES
  AND FUND BALANCES 568,077$      19,797$        80,559$        382,844$      1,051,277$   

AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES 

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

April 30, 2020

ASSETS

Special Revenue

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Federal
Motor Special Storm Equitable

Fuel Tax Service Area Sewer Sharing Total

REVENUES
Taxes -$               5,073$           -$              -$              5,073$           
Intergovernmental 815,010         -                -                199,474         1,014,484      
Investment income 6,986             194                866                4,430             12,476           

  
Total revenues 821,996         5,267             866                203,904         1,032,033      

   
EXPENDITURES 

Current
Highways and streets 566,886         -                -                -                566,886         
Public safety -                 -                -                27,510           27,510           

Capital outlay 44,481           -                -                -                44,481           
  

Total expenditures 611,367         -                -                27,510           638,877         

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 210,629         5,267             866                176,394         393,156         

FUND BALANCES, MAY 1 348,341         14,530           79,693           204,625         647,189         

FUND BALANCES, APRIL 30 558,970$       19,797$         80,559$         381,019$       1,040,345$    

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Special Revenue

(See independent auditor's report.)
- 72 -



Variance
Original and Over 2019
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

REVENUES 
Intergovernmental

Motor fuel tax allotment 552,150$          815,010$          262,860$          560,644$          
Investment income 4,000                6,986                2,986                7,106                

Total revenues 556,150            821,996            265,846            567,750            

EXPENDITURES
Current

Highways and streets
Commodities 267,260            253,832            (13,428)            294,306            
Wages 296,965            308,054            11,089              308,404            

Capital outlay 35,000              44,481              9,481                -                    
Contractual services 5,000                5,000                -                    6,138                

Total expenditures 604,225            611,367            7,142                608,848            
  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (48,075)$          210,629            258,704$          (41,098)            

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 348,341            389,439            

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 558,970$          348,341$          

2020

(With Prior Year Actual)
For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

MOTOR FUEL TAX FUND

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Variance
Original and Over 2019
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

REVENUES 
Taxes 5,100$              5,073$              (27)$                  5,061$              
Investment income -                    194                   194                   199                   

Total revenues 5,100                5,267                167                   5,260                

EXPENDITURES
Current

Contractual services 8,000                -                    (8,000)               5,000                

Total expenditures 8,000                -                    (8,000)               5,000                
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (2,900)$             5,267                8,167$              260                   

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 14,530              14,270              

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 19,797$            14,530$            

2020

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

SPECIAL SERVICE AREA FUND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

(With Prior Year Actual)

(See independent auditor's report.)
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MAJOR ENTERPRISE FUND 
 
 
Water Operations Fund - to account for the financing of self-supporting municipal activities which 
render services generally on a user charge basis to the general public. The significant characteristic 
of an enterprise fund is that the accounting system makes it possible to determine whether that 
particular service area is operated at a profit or a loss in accordance with the GAAPs followed by 
private business concerns.  
 

 



CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

WATER OPERATIONS FUND

Variance
Original and Over 2019
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services

Water sales 7,865,395$       7,608,884$       (256,511)$        7,794,496$       
Inspections/tap on/permits 10,000              18,203              8,203                21,916              
Sale of meters 1,000                5,375                4,375                7,755                
Other water sales 3,500                72                     (3,428)              21,043              

Total operating revenues 7,879,895         7,632,534         (247,361)          7,845,210         

OPERATING EXPENSES
  EXCLUDING DEPRECIATION

Personnel services
Salaries 473,210            459,101            (14,109)            469,672            
Overtime 90,000              92,659              2,659                90,056              
Social Security 38,771              32,602              (6,169)              31,845              
Medicare 9,067                7,673                (1,394)              7,448                
IMRF 64,586              66,304              1,718                67,469              
Medical/life insurance 107,404            93,853              (13,551)            103,833            
Supplemental pensions 2,400                2,400                -                   2,400                

Total personnel services 785,438            754,592            (30,846)            772,723            

Materials and supplies
Liability insurance 204,520            169,641            (34,879)            164,890            
Maintenance - building 45,591              53,666              8,075                68,994              
Maintenance - equipment 16,650              18,280              1,630                25,079              
Maintenance - water system 208,950            149,776            (59,174)            148,856            
Postage/mailings 1,400                70                     (1,330)              50                     
Quality controls 10,850              8,494                (2,356)              13,297              
Service charge 250,000            250,000            -                   250,000            
Supplies - operation 3,000                5,472                2,472                2,528                
Training and education 2,900                1,552                (1,348)              2,118                
Telephone 11,000              6,953                (4,047)              8,109                
Uniforms 3,825                3,620                (205)                 3,624                
Utilities 51,500              43,842              (7,658)              47,039              
Vehicle (gas and oil) 15,975              16,435              460                   14,894              

Total materials and supplies 826,161            727,801            (98,360)            749,478            

Contractual
Audit 11,513              11,513              -                   6,966                
Consulting/professional 14,950              5,006                (9,944)              5,599                
Leak detection 21,600              12,844              (8,756)              25,636              
Data processing 152,500            133,333            (19,167)            161,730            
DuPage Water Commission 4,682,480         4,359,117         (323,363)          4,480,123         

Total contractual 4,883,043         4,521,813         (361,230)          4,680,054         

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

2020

(With Prior Year Actual)

(This schedule is continued on the following page.)
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CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)

WATER OPERATIONS FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2020

Variance
Original and Over 2019
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

OPERATING EXPENSES
  EXCLUDING DEPRECIATION (Continued)

Capital outlay
Equipment 83,250$            66,793$            (16,457)$          67,548$            
Water meters 27,000              47,936              20,936              33,651              
Infrastructure 1,440,000         257,617            (1,182,383)       1,601,099         

Total capital outlay 1,550,250         372,346            (1,177,904)       1,702,298         

Total operating expenses excluding
  depreciation 8,044,892         6,376,552         (1,668,340)       7,904,553         

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (164,997)          1,255,982         1,420,979         (59,343)            

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income 40,000              50,992              10,992              59,439              
Miscellaneous income -                   84,865              84,865              43,682              
Debt service

Principal repayment (450,000)          (450,000)          -                   (230,000)          
Interest expense (238,375)          (186,105)          52,270              (153,715)          

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (648,375)          (500,248)          148,127            (280,594)          

NET INCOME BEFORE TRANSFERS (813,372)          755,734            1,569,106         (339,937)          

TRANSFERS
Transfers (out) -                   (51,788)            (51,788)            -                   

Total transfers -                   (51,788)            (51,788)            -                   

NET INCOME (LOSS) BUDGETARY BASIS (813,372)$        703,946            1,517,318$       (339,937)          

ADJUSTMENTS TO GAAP BASIS 
Capital outlay capitalized -                   1,601,099         
Principal repayment 450,000            230,000            
Bond amortization (3,220)              (3,220)              
Pension/OPEB expense (88,291)            58,914              
Depreciation (341,455)          (329,570)          

Total adjustments to GAAP basis 17,034              1,557,223         

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 720,980            1,217,286         

NET POSITION, MAY 1 7,107,873         6,133,421         

Change in accounting principle -                   (242,834)          

NET POSITION, MAY 1, RESTATED 7,107,873         5,890,587         

NET POSITION, APRIL 30 7,828,853$       7,107,873$       

2020

(With Prior Year Actual)

(See independent auditor's report.)
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SUPPLEMENTAL DATA 
 



Date of Issue July 12, 2012
Date of Maturity December 15, 2025
Authorized Issue $2,810,000
Interest Rates 2.00% to 3.50%
Interest Dates June 15 and December 15
Principal Maturity Date December 15
Payable at Bank of New York Mellon

Fiscal
Year Principal Interest Total June 15 Amount December 15 Amount

2021 245,000$      54,175$       299,175$      2020 27,088$      2020 27,087$      
2022 260,000        46,825         306,825        2021 23,413        2021 23,412        
2023 265,000        39,025         304,025        2022 19,513        2022 19,512        
2024 275,000        29,750         304,750        2023 14,875        2023 14,875        
2025 285,000        20,125         305,125        2024 10,063        2024 10,062        
2026 290,000        10,150         300,150        2025 5,075          2025 5,075          

1,620,000$   200,050$     1,820,050$   100,027$    100,023$    

Interest Due on

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

LONG-TERM DEBT REQUIREMENTS
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2012

April 30, 2020

FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Tax Levy

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Date of Issue December 21, 2015
Date of Maturity January 1, 2024
Authorized Issue $1,360,000
Interest Rates 1.25% to 2.20%
Interest Dates January 1 and July 1
Principal Maturity Date January 1
Payable at Bank of New York Mellon

Fiscal
Year Principal Interest Total July 1 Amount January 1 Amount

2021 180,000$      13,440$        193,440$      2020 6,720$        2021 6,720$        
2022 185,000        10,560          195,560        2021 5,280          2022 5,280          
2023 185,000        6,490            191,490        2022 3,245          2023 3,245          
2024 110,000        2,420            112,420        2023 1,210          2024 1,210          

660,000$      32,910$        692,910$      16,455$      16,455$      

FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Interest Due on

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

LONG-TERM DEBT REQUIREMENTS
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2015

April 30, 2020

Tax Levy

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Date of Issue April 16, 2018
Date of Maturity January 1, 2030
Authorized Issue $3,500,000
Interest Rates 3%
Interest Dates January 1 and July 1
Principal Maturity Date January 1
Payable at Amalgamated Bank of Chicago

Fiscal
Year Principal Interest Total July 1 Amount January 1 Amount

2021 285,000$      98,700$       383,700$      2020 49,350$      2021 49,350$      
2022 295,000        90,150         385,150        2021 45,075        2022 45,075        
2023 305,000        81,300         386,300        2022 40,650        2023 40,650        
2024 315,000        72,150         387,150        2023 36,075        2024 36,075        
2025 325,000        62,700         387,700        2024 31,350        2025 31,350        
2026 330,000        52,950         382,950        2025 26,475        2026 26,475        
2027 340,000        43,050         383,050        2026 21,525        2027 21,525        
2028 355,000        32,850         387,850        2027 16,425        2028 16,425        
2029 365,000        22,200         387,200        2028 11,100        2029 11,100        
2030 375,000        11,250         386,250        2029 5,625          2030 5,625          

3,290,000$   567,300$     3,857,300$   283,650$    283,650$    

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

LONG-TERM DEBT REQUIREMENTS
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2018

April 30, 2020

FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Tax Levy Interest Due on

(See independent auditor's report.)
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1415 West Diehl Road, Suite 400 

Naperville, IL 60563 

630.566.8400 

 

 
 
August 13, 2020 
 
 
The Honorable Mayor 
Members of the City Council 
City of Darien 
1702 Plainfield Road 
Darien, Illinois 60561 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
As part of our audit process we are required to have certain communications with those charged with 
governance at the beginning of our audit process and at the conclusion of the audit. Those 
communications include information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit, as well as 
other information required by auditing standards. Our communication at the beginning of our audit 
process along with our questionnaire regarding consideration of fraud in a financial statement audit 
was sent to you April 9, 2020.  
 
In addition, auditing standards require the communication of internal control related matters to those 
charged with governance. Our communication of these matters is enclosed within this document.  
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the Mayor, City Council and management of the 
City of Darien and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 
 

  Sincerely, 
 

   
 
  Sikich LLP 
  By: James R. Savio, CPA, MAS 
  Partner 

- 1 -



 

 

1415 West Diehl Road, Suite 400 

Naperville, IL 60563 

630.566.8400 

 

August 13, 2020 
 
 
The Honorable Mayor  
Members of the City Council 
City of Darien, Illinois  
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, 
each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Darien, Illinois (the 
City) for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2020 and the related notes to financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon 
dated August 13, 2020. Professional standards require that we provide you with information 
about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. 
We have communicated such information in our letter to you dated March 4, 2020. Professional 
standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In 
accordance with the terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management about the 
appropriateness of accounting policies and their application. The significant accounting policies 
used by the City are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. No new accounting policies 
were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during the year ended 
April 30, 2020, we noted no transactions entered into by the City during the year for which there 
is lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management 
and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and 
assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because 
of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events 
affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. We noted no particularly sensitive 
estimates made by management during our audit of the financial statements except for the 
actuarial valuation and assumptions for the pension and OPEB plans.  
 
Management’s estimate of the City’s net pension liabilities, and total other postemployment 
benefit liability are based on various actuarially determined amounts, including estimated 
investment returns, dates of employee retirement, discount rates, healthcare trend rates, and 
mortality rates. We evaluated key factors and assumptions used to develop the management’s 
estimates of the City’s net pension liabilities and total other postemployment benefit liability in 
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear.  
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Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and 
completing our audit. 
 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 
during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the 
appropriate level of management. The attached schedule summarizes uncorrected misstatements 
of the financial statements. Management has determined that their effects are immaterial, both 
individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole. In addition, none 
of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by management were 
material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole 
except for adjusting journal entries #1, #2, #3, #4, #5, #6 , #7, #8, and #9. 
 
Disagreements with Management 

 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, 
or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the 
financial statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements 
arose during the course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 

 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the 
management representation letter dated August 13, 2020. 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a 
consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the City’s financial statements or 
a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those financial 
statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to 
determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such 
consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 

 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City’s auditors. 
However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and 
our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
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Other Matters 
 
We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information as listed in the 
table of contents, which is required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic 
financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 
 
We were engaged to report on the combining and individual fund financial statements and 
schedules and supplemental data as listed in the table of contents, which accompany the basic 
financial statements but are not RSI. With respect to this supplementary information, we made 
certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the 
information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the 
prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the basic 
financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the 
underlying accounting records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves. 
 
We were not engaged to report on the introductory section as listed in the table of contents, 
which accompany the basic financial statements but are not RSI. We did not audit or perform 
other procedures on this other information and we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on it. 
 
Restriction in Use 

 
This information is intended solely for the use of the Mayor, City Council and management of 
the City of Darien, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 
 
We appreciate the courtesies extended to us by the City. If you have any questions regarding the 
purpose of this letter or the requirement mentioned, please contact us. 
 
 Sincerely, 
 

  
 
 Sikich LLP 
 By: James R. Savio, CPA, MAS 
 Partner 
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PASSED ADJUSTMENTS
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

         (CLIENT) (OPINION UNIT)

For the Year Ended 4/30/2020

Assets/ (Liabilities)/ (Net Change in Net
Workpaper Deferred (Deferred Position/Fund Position/Fund

Description Reference Outflows Inflows) Balance) Balance

Current Effect of Prior Period Passed AJE's that
  have carried forward to Current Period $ -                   $ -                   $ -                  $ -                   

Record allowance for receivables older than one year 3212 (10,987)            -                   9,265               1,722                

Current effect of prior period overstatement of
  compensated absences -                   -                   (62,195)            62,195              

Totals $ (10,987)            $ -                   $ (52,930)            $ 63,917              

City of Darien

                   All entries posted as Debit (Credit)
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City of Darien
Year End: April 30, 2020
Adjusting Journal Entries
Date:  5/1/2019  To  4/30/2020
Account No:  AJE#01  To  AJE#09

Number Date Name Account No Amount

AJE#01 4/30/2020 Investments in IRMA 02-1175 02-WF 43,682.43

AJE#01 4/30/2020 Fund Balance - Current 02-2190 02-WF (43,682.43)

To record PY adjustment to IRMA (PBC-04).

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Deferred Outflow - OPEB 02-1180 02-WF (6,090.21)

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Deferred Outflow - OPEB 02-1180 02-WF 6,090.00

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Total OPEB Liability 02-2008 02-WF 964.69

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Total OPEB Liability 02-2008 02-WF (965.00)

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Fund Balance - Current 02-2190 02-WF (3,353.00)

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Deferred Outflow - OPEB 98-1180 98-G (40,398.79)

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Deferred Outflow - OPEB 98-1180 98-G 40,399.00

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Total OPEB Liability 98-2008 98-G 6,399.31

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Total OPEB Liability 98-2008 98-G (6,399.00)

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Fund Balance - Current 98-2190 98-G (22,242.00)

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Pension Exp - Change in OPEB 02-50-4117 02-WF 8,478.52

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Pension Exp - Change in OPEB 02-50-4117 02-WF (5,125.00)

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Change in OPEB - GG 98-50-5604 98-G 10,225.19

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Change in OPEB - GG 98-50-5604 98-G (6,182.00)

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Change in OPEB - PW 98-50-5605 98-G 10,225.19

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Change in OPEB - PW 98-50-5605 98-G (21,636.00)

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Change in OPEB - PS 98-50-5606 98-G 35,791.10

AJE#02 4/30/2020 Change in OPEB - PS 98-50-5606 98-G (6,182.00)

To correctly record GASB-75 OPEB

activity as of 4/30/2020.

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Deferred Outflow - Contrib 02-1177 02-WF (15,929.04)

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Deferred Outflow - IMRF 02-1178 02-WF (312,841.00)

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Deferred Outflow - IMRF 02-1178 02-WF 15,929.04

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Deferred Outflow - IMRF 02-1178 02-WF (0.04)

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Net Pension Liability 02-2003 02-WF 371,936.00

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Net Pension Liability 02-2003 02-WF 0.04

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Deferred inflow - IMRF 02-2005 02-WF (152,511.00)

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Deferred inflow - IMRF 02-2005 02-WF 0.29

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Deferred Outflow - Contrib 98-1177 98-G (61,159.28)

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Deferred Outflow - IMRF 98-1178 98-G 61,159.28

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Deferred Outflow - IMRF 98-1178 98-G (1,176,879.00)
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Number Date Name Account No Amount

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Deferred Outflow - IMRF 98-1178 98-G (0.28)

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Net Pension Liabilities - IMRF 98-2004 98-G 1,399,190.00

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Net Pension Liabilities - IMRF 98-2004 98-G (0.04)

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Deferred inflow - IMRF 98-2005 98-G (573,730.00)

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Deferred inflow - IMRF 98-2005 98-G (0.29)

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Pension Expense - Change in IMRF Pension Items 02-50-411X 02-WF 93,416.00

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Pension Expense - Change in IMRF Pension Items 02-50-411X 02-WF (0.29)

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Pension Expense - GG 98-50-6506 98-G 133,451.00

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Pension Expense - HS 98-50-6507 98-G 151,244.00

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Pension Expense - PS 98-50-6508 98-G 66,724.00

AJE#03 4/30/2020 Pension Expense - PS 98-50-6508 98-G 0.61

To record IMRF GASB68 items at 4/30/2020.

AJE#04 4/30/2020 Sales Tax Receivable 01-1207 01-GF 421,896.98

AJE#04 4/30/2020 Sales Taxes 01-00-3430 01-GF (421,896.98)

Entry to record additional sales

tax revenue and receivable.

AJE#05 4/30/2020 Accounts Receivable Customers 25-1200 25-CI 145,461.52

AJE#05 4/30/2020 Deferred Revenue- Carriage Greens 25-2182 25-CI (145,461.52)

Entry to record Accounts Receivable and 

Deferred Revenue for Carriage Greens Agreement.

AJE#06 4/30/2020 Accounts Receivable Customers 25-1200 25-CI 55,337.95

AJE#06 4/30/2020 Accounts Receivable Customers 25-1200 25-CI 27,802.31

AJE#06 4/30/2020 Accounts Payable 25-2150 25-CI (55,337.95)

AJE#06 4/30/2020 Accounts Payable 25-2150 25-CI (27,802.31)

AJE#06 4/30/2020 Deferred Revenue- Carriage Greens 25-2182 25-CI (55,337.95)

AJE#06 4/30/2020 Deferred Revenue- Carriage Greens 25-2182 25-CI (27,802.31)

AJE#06 4/30/2020 Economic Incentive 25-35-4400 25-CI 55,337.95

AJE#06 4/30/2020 Economic Incentive 25-35-4400 25-CI 27,802.31

To record additional AP for 

services performed in FY20.

AJE#07 4/30/2020 Accounts Payable 25-2150 25-CI (295,589.50)

AJE#07 4/30/2020 Economic Incentive 25-35-4400 25-CI 295,589.50

To record F&B tax rebate accrual.
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Number Date Name Account No Amount

AJE#08 4/30/2020 Investments in IRMA 01-1175 01-GF 172,301.22

AJE#08 4/30/2020 IRMA Excess Surplus 01-2999 01-GF (172,301.22)

AJE#08 4/30/2020 Investments in IRMA 02-1175 02-WF 84,864.78

AJE#08 4/30/2020 Miscellaneous Revenue 02-00-3580 02-WF (84,864.78)

To adjust IRMA Excess Surplus Reserve

to the proper balance at 4/30/2020.

AJE#09 4/30/2020 Deferred Outflow - Police Pen 98-1179 98-G 663,013.00

AJE#09 4/30/2020 Net Pension Liab - Police Pen 98-2006 98-G (2,193,835.00)

AJE#09 4/30/2020 Deferred Inflow - Police Pen 98-2007 98-G 412,430.00

AJE#09 4/30/2020 Change in Pension Expense - Police Pension 98-50-6510 98-G 1,118,392.00

To Record PP Gasb 67/68 Activity.
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PASSED ADJUSTMENTS
GENERAL

         (CLIENT) (OPINION UNIT)

For the Year Ended 4/30/2020

Assets/ (Liabilities)/ (Net Change in Net
Workpaper Deferred (Deferred Position/Fund Position/Fund

Description Reference Outflows Inflows) Balance) Balance

Current Effect of Prior Period Passed AJE's that
  have carried forward to Current Period $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   

Record allowance for receivables older than one year 3212 (10,987)            -                   9,265               1,722               

Totals $ (10,987)            $ -                   $ 9,265               $ 1,722               

City of Darien

                   All entries posted as Debit (Credit)

- 9 -



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS 

 
COMMUNICATION OF DEFICIENCIES 

IN INTERNAL CONTROL AND  
OTHER COMMENTS TO MANAGEMENT 

 
April 30, 2020 

 

- 10 -

dtaylor
Rectangle



 

 

1415 West Diehl Road, Suite 400 

Naperville, IL 60563 

630.566.8400 

 

 
 
 
The Honorable Mayor 
Members of Management 
City of Darien, Illinois 
 
As part of the annual audit, we are required to communicate internal control matters that we classify 
as significant deficiencies and material weaknesses to those charged with governance. A deficiency 
in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and 
correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the City’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those 
charged with governance.  
 
During our audit, we also identify certain matters which we communicate only to management. 
While many of these matters are operational in nature, they may include internal control deficiencies 
that do not meet the definition of a significant deficiency or material weakness. We have chosen to 
communicate these matters in this communication. As discussed on the following pages, we 
identified certain deficiencies in internal control. In addition, we reviewed the status of the 
deficiencies from April 30, 2019. The status of these is included in Appendix A. 
 
This memorandum is intended solely for the information and use of management and the City 
Council and is not intended and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
I encourage you to contact me at (630) 566-8516 should you have any questions.  
 

 
 
Naperville, Illinois 
August 13, 2020 
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OTHER INFORMATION 

 
Future Accounting Pronouncements 

 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has issued a number of pronouncements that 
may impact the City in the future. 
 
GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the 
foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset and aims 
to enhance comparability of financial statements among governments. This statement also 
requires additional notes to the financial statements related to the timing, significance, and 
purpose of a government’s leasing arrangements. The requirements of this statement are 
effective for the fiscal year ending April 30, 2021.  
 
GASB Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations, was issued in May 2019. The primary 
objectives of this Statement are to provide a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations 
by issuers and eliminate diversity in practice associated with (1) commitments extended by 
issuers, (2) arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations, and (3) related note 
disclosures. This Statement achieves those objectives by clarifying the existing definition of a 
conduit debt obligation; establishing that a conduit debt obligation is not a liability of the issuer; 
establishing standards for accounting and financial reporting of additional commitments and 
voluntary commitments extended by issuers and arrangements associated with conduit debt 
obligations; and improved required note disclosures. This statement is effective for fiscal year 
ending April 30, 2021. 
 
GASB Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020, addresses a variety of topics including: The effective 
date of Statement No. 87 for interim financial reports; reporting of intra-entity transfers of assets 
between a primary government employer and a component unit defined benefit pension plan or 
defined benefit other postemployment benefit (OPEB) plan; the applicability of Statements 
No. 73 to Certain Provisions of GASB Statement Nos. 67 and 68, as amended, and No. 74, as 
amended, to reporting assets accumulated for postemployment benefits; the applicability of 
certain requirements of Statement No. 84, to postemployment benefit arrangements; 
measurement of liabilities (and assets, if any) related to asset retirement obligations (AROs) in a 
government acquisition; reporting by public entity risk pools for amounts that are recoverable 
from reinsurers or excess insurers; reference to nonrecurring fair value measurements of assets or 
liabilities in authoritative literature and terminology used to refer to derivative instruments. The 
requirements of this Statement are effective for the fiscal years ending April 30, 2022 and 
thereafter, except for the requirements related to the effective date of Statement 87 and 
Implementation Guide 2019-3, reinsurance recoveries, and terminology used to refer to 
derivative instruments are effective upon issuance.  
 
GASB Statement No. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates, was issued to address the 
financial reporting implications that result from the replacement of an Interbank Offered Rate 
(IBOR). The statement clarifies the existing guidance under Statement No. 53, Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments, as amended and Statement No. 87, Leases. The 
statement preserves the consistency and comparability of reporting hedging derivative 
instruments and leases after governments amend or replace agreements to replace an IBOR. This 
statement is effective for the fiscal year ending April 30, 2022. 
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OTHER INFORMATION (Continued)  
 
Future Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)  

 
GASB Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability 
Payment Arrangements was issued to address tissues related to accounting and reporting for 
public-private and public-public partnership arrangements (PPPs). A PPP a PPP is an 
arrangement in which a government (the transferor) contracts with an operator (a governmental 
or nongovernmental entity) to provide public services by conveying control of the right to 
operate or use a nonfinancial asset, such as infrastructure or other capital asset (the underlying 
PPP asset), for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like transaction. Some PPPs meet 
the definition of a service concession arrangement (SCA), which is defined in this Statement as a 
PPP in which (1) the operator collects and is compensated by fees from third parties; (2) the 
transferor determines or has the ability to modify or approve which services the operator is 
required to provide, to whom the operator is required to provide the services, and the prices or 
rates that can be charged for the services; and (3) the transferor is entitled to significant residual 
interest in the service utility of the underlying PPP asset at the end of the arrangement. This 
Statement also provides guidance for accounting and financial reporting for availability payment 
arrangements (APAs). As defined in this Statement, an APA is an arrangement in which a 
government compensates an operator for services that may include designing, constructing, 
financing, maintaining, or operating an underlying nonfinancial asset for a period of time in an 
exchange or exchange-like transaction. This Statement is effective for fiscal year ending 
April 30, 2024. 

 

GASB Statement No. 95, Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain Authoritative 
Guidance, was issued to provide temporary relief to governments and other stakeholders due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 

The effective dates of certain provisions contained in the following pronouncements are 
postponed by one year:  

 
• Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations 
• Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities 
• Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and 

Direct Placements 
• Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction 

Period 
• Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests 
• Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations 
• Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020 
• Statement No. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates 
• Implementation Guide No. 2017-3, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 

Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (and Certain Issues Related to OPEB 
Plan Reporting) 

• Implementation Guide No. 2018-1, Implementation Guidance Update—2018 
• Implementation Guide No. 2019-1, Implementation Guidance Update—2019 
• Implementation Guide No. 2019-2, Fiduciary Activities. 
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OTHER INFORMATION (Continued)  
 
Future Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)  
 

The effective dates of the following pronouncements are postponed by 18 months: 
 
• Statement No. 87, Leases 
• Implementation Guide No. 2019-3, Leases. 
 

Earlier application of the provisions addressed in this Statement is encouraged and is permitted 
to the extent specified in each pronouncement as originally issued. 
 

GASB Statement No. 96, Solution-Based Information Technology Arrangements, provides 
guidance on the accounting and financial reporting for subscription-based information 
technology arrangements (SBITAs) for government end users. A SBITA is defined as a contract 
that conveys control of the right to use another party’s (a SBITA vendor’s) information 
technology (IT) software, alone or in combination with tangible capital assets (the underlying IT 
assets), as specified in the contract for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like 
transaction. This Statement establishes that a SBITA results in a right-to-use subscription 
asset—an intangible asset—and a corresponding subscription liability, provides the capitalization 
criteria for outlays other than subscription payments, including implementation costs of a 
SBITA; and requires note disclosures regarding a SBITA. To the extent relevant, the standards 
for SBITAs are based on the standards established in Statement No. 87, Leases, as amended. 
This Statement is effective for fiscal year ending April 30, 2024. Earlier application is 
encouraged. 
 
We will advise the City of any progress made by GASB in developing this and other future 
pronouncements that may have an impact on the financial position and results of operation of the 
City.  
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APPENDIX A 
STATUS OF COMMENTS FROM APRIL 30, 2019 

 
DEFICIENCIES 

 
We consider the following to be deficiencies in the City’s internal controls. 
 

1. Proposed Audit Adjustments 

 
 During our audit, we proposed several audit adjustments. Such audit adjustments were 

reviewed, approved, and recorded by management and included material adjustments to 
accounts receivable in the Water Operations Fund and capital assets of the City’s 
governmental activities. Other proposed adjustments were immaterial individually but 
material in the aggregate which included adjustments to unearned revenues, prepaid 
expenses, and contribution revenues. We believe that year-end closing could be improved 
by performing a final review of adjusted trial balances to determine that all transactions 
have been recorded and posted. Management could review the transactions for 
completeness by scanning the ending balances and the transactions posted to each general 
ledger account to detect unusual entries or unexpected ending balances 

 
Status - Comment still applicable as of April 30, 2020. Audit adjustments in prior years 
were proposed to record revenue in the proper period, to record expenditures in the proper 
period, to adjust capital asset and to long-term debt accounts to proper balances. Audit 
adjustments as of April 30, 2020 were proposed to adjust certain accrual balances and to 
record pension activity at year end. 

 

2. Segregation of Duties 

 
During our review of internal controls, we noted that journal entries can be entered into 
the general ledger without being approved by a separate individual. We recommend that 
all general journal entries be reviewed and approved by someone other than the person 
entering and/or creating the journal entry to maintain an audit trail that documents both 
the preparer and reviewer of the original entry. 
 
If a secondary review of the general journal entries is not practical, the City Council 
serves as a compensating control for the lack of segregation of duties in this area. 
Accordingly, it is important for the City Council to continue to review and approve 
monthly budget versus actual statements by fund. Additionally, the Council should 
continue to review and approve all significant financial transactions including purchases, 
payments to vendors/employees, and investments and to document the dollar amount of 
those approvals in the minutes. 
 

Status - Comment still applicable as of April 30, 2020.  
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DEFICIENCIES (Continued) 

 

3. Rental Income 

 
During our review of rental income, we noted the City was not collecting the correct 
revenue based on a lease amendment from prior periods. As a result, a prior period 
adjustment was proposed to record a receivable and revenue of approximately $219,000. 
We recommend the City maintain, in a central file, a copy of all contracts and leases. The 
file should contain a current index that includes the following information for each 
contract: type, terms, renewal options, and important provisions. We further recommend 
that all contracts that may have a financial statement impact be forwarded to the finance 
department. Finally, important contract dates that require timely attention, such as 
renewal clauses, rate changes, option dates, and expiration dates should be flagged for 
management's attention. 
 

Status - Comment considered implemented as of April 30, 2020.  
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ORGANIZATION
Sikich LLP, a leading professional services firm specializing in accounting, 
technology, investment banking* and advisory services**, has 1,000+ 
professionals throughout the country. Founded in 1982, Sikich now ranks 
within the country’s top 30 largest Certified Public Accounting firms and 
is among the top one percent of all enterprise resource planning solution 
partners in the world. From corporations and not-for-profits to state and 
local governments, Sikich clients can use a broad spectrum of services and 
products that help them reach long-term, strategic goals.

INDUSTRIES 
Sikich provides services and solutions to a wide range of industries. We have 
devoted substantial resources to develop a significant base of expertise and 
experience in: 

©2020 Sikich LLP. All Rights Reserved. SIKICH.COM877.279.1900 | info@sikich.com

 SIKICH TOTAL REVENUE

FIRM  
PROFILE

AGRICULTURE CONSTRUCTION  
& REAL ESTATEAUTOMOTIVE

DISTRIBUTION & SUPPLY 
CHAIN HIGH-TECHGOVERNMENT

LIFE SCIENCES NOT-FOR-PROFITMANUFACTURING

PRIVATE EQUITY PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

SERVICES
ACCOUNTING, TAX & ASSURANCE

TECHNOLOGY
• Business Application
• Cloud & Infrastructure
• Consulting & Implementation
• Security and Compliance
• Digital Transformation Consulting

ADVISORY
•  Business Succession Planning
• Insurance Services
•  Forensic and Valuation Services
•  Human Capital Management & Payroll Consulting
• Investment Banking
• Marketing & Design
• Public Relations
•  Retirement Plan Services
• Supply Chain 
• Transaction Advisory Services
• Wealth Management

STATISTICS 
2019 Revenue  ......................................................................................................$167.4M 
Total Partners  ........................................................................................................... 100+
Total Personnel  .....................................................................................................1,000+
Personnel count as of January 1, 2020

*  Securities offered through Sikich Corporate Finance LLC, member FINRA/SIPC.

**  Investment advisory services offered through Sikich Financial, an SEC Registered 
Investment Advisor.

Alexandria, VA 
(703) 836-1350

Akron, OH 
(330) 864-6661 

Boston, MA 
(508) 485-5588

Chicago, IL 
(312) 648-6666 

Crofton, MD  
(410) 451-5150

Decatur, IL 
(217) 423-6000

Denver, CO 
(720) 200-0142

Indianapolis, IN 
(317) 842-4466

Los Angeles, CA  
(877) 279-1900

Milwaukee, WI 
(262) 754-9400

Minneapolis, MN 
(331) 229-5235

Naperville, IL 
(630) 566-8400

Springfield, IL 
(217) 793-3363

St. Louis, MO 
(314) 275-7277

http://www.sikich.com
mailto:info@sikich.com
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CERTIFICATIONS
All professional accounting staff with more than one year of 
experience have earned or are working toward earning the 
Certified Public Accountant designation. Sikich is a member of the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Governmental 
Audit Quality Center and the Employee Benefit Plan Audit Quality 

Center. We adhere to the strict requirements of membership 
which assure we meet the highest standards of audit quality. In 
2017 Sikich LLP received its 10th consecutive unmodified (“pass”) 
peer review report, the highest level of recognition conferred 
upon a public accounting firm for its quality control systems.

AWARDS

SIKICH IS PROUD TO BE PART OF:

PRIMEGLOBAL
PrimeGlobal is one of the top five largest associations of independent accounting firms in the world, 
providing a wide range of tools and resources to help member firms furnish superior accounting, 
auditing, and management services to clients around the globe.

2017 AWARDS
•  Bob Scott’s Top 100 (VARs) - ranked #7
•  Accounting Today Top 100 VARs -  

ranked #6 
• Vault Accounting Top Ranked
• When Work Works Award
•  WorldatWork Work-Life Seal of Distinction
•  Microsoft Dynamics Inner Circle and 

President’s Club

• Best Places to Work in Illinois
•  Milwaukee’s 101 Best and Brightest 

Companies to Work For®

•  Best Places to Work in Indiana
•  Chicago’s 101 Best and Brightest 

Companies to Work For®

•  Milwaukee Journal Sentinel Top Workplaces 
in Milwaukee

•  Chicago Tribune’s Top Workplaces
•  Crain’s List Chicago’s Largest Privately Held 

Companies - ranked #234
•  Boston’s 101 Best and Brightest 

Companies to Work For®

•  National Best and Brightest in Wellness
•  National Best and Brightest Companies to 

Work For

2018-2020 AWARDS
•  2020 & 2019 Oracle® NetSuite 5 Star 

Award

•  2019/2020 & 2018/2019 Inner Circle for 
Microsoft Dynamics   

•  Accounting Today Top 100 Firms - ranked 
top 30 nationally

• Best Places to Work in Illinois
•  Best Places to Work in Indiana
•  Milwaukee’s Best and Brightest 

Companies to Work For®

•  Chicago’s Best and Brightest Companies 
to Work For®

•  Boston’s Best and Brightest Companies 
to Work For®

•   Bob Scott’s Top 100 Value Added Reseller 
Stars (VARs) 2020 -ranked #5

http://www.sikich.com
mailto:info@sikich.com


1415 West Diehl Road, Suite 400 

Naperville, IL 60563 

630.566.8400 

The Honorable Mayor 
Members of the City Council 
City of Darien, Illinois  

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City 
of Darien, Illinois (the City) as of and for the year ended April 30, 2020, in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered the City’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding 
paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses. Given these limitations during our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that 
have not been identified. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the City’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis. 

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the Mayor, City Council and 
management and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 

Naperville, Illinois 
August 13, 2020 



Approval is hereby given to have the City Treasurer of Darien, Illinois pay to the 
officers, employees, independent contractors, vendors, and other providers of
goods and services in the indicated amounts as set forth.

A summary indicating the source of funds used to pay the above is as follows:

General Fund $48,238.92
Water Fund $12,852.55
Motor Fuel Tax Fund $8,539.68
Water Depreciation Fund
Special Service Area Tax Fund
E-Citation Fund
Capital Improvement Fund
State Drug Forfeiture Fund

Federal Equitable Sharing Fund $16,995.71

DUI Technology Fund

Subtotal: $86,626.86

General Fund Payroll 09/24/20 251,743.51$       
Water Fund Payroll 09/24/20 22,984.39$    

Subtotal: 274,727.90$       

Total to be Approved by City Council: 361,354.76$       

Approvals:

Joseph A. Marchese, Mayor

JoAnne E. Ragona, City Clerk

Michael J. Coren, Treasurer

Bryon D. Vana, City Administrator

FOR CITY COUNCIL MEETING ON
October 5, 2020

 WARRANT NUMBER:  20-21-11

CITY OF DARIEN
EXPENDITURE APPROVAL LIST



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Administration

From 9/22/2020 Through 10/5/2020

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

AIS SKWERES & TOPEL 
-WIRELESS CARDS

AP100520 4325 Consulting/Professional 53.92 

AIS BLOCK PURCHASE - 
OCT 2020

AP100520 4325 Consulting/Professional 5,130.26 

AIS MONTHLY BACK UP- 
OCT 2020

AP100520 4325 Consulting/Professional 1,300.00 

AIS CLOUD HOSTING- OCT 
2020

AP100520 4325 Consulting/Professional 20.00 

CALL ONE, INC. CITY TELEPHONE BILL AP100520 4267 Telephone 1,543.08 

CHRONICLE MEDIA LLC 2020 TREASURERS 
REPORT & VARIATION 
/338 JANET AVE

AP100520 4221 Legal Notices 775.00 

COMCAST BUSINESS CABLE SERVICE FOR 
CITY

AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 32.76 

DUPAGE COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS SEWER CHARGES- 
CITY HALL

AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 163.59 

GOVTEMPSUSA LLC VANA  (9-13-20) AP100520 4325 Consulting/Professional 3,415.38 

GOVTEMPSUSA LLC VANA   (9-20-20) AP100520 4325 Consulting/Professional 3,415.38 

IMPACT NETWORKING, LLC KONICA LEASE (9-18-20 
thru 10-17-20)

AP100520 4225 Maintenance - Equipment 150.00 

MUNICIPAL WEB SERVICES WEBSITE 
MAINTENANCE -AUG 
2020

AP100520 4325 Consulting/Professional 295.00 

NICOR GAS NICOR 82541110001  
1702  PLAINFIELD RD

AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 245.17 

NICOR GAS NICOR 82541110001  
1702  PLAINFIELD RD

AP100520-3 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) (245.17)

NICOR GAS REDO NICOR AMOUNT AP100520-4 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 122.80 

OFFICE DEPOT CALLENDARS & OFFICE 
SUPPLIES

AP100520 4253 Supplies - Office 56.56 

OFFICE DEPOT 2021 CALENDARS FOR 
CITY HALL

AP100520 4253 Supplies - Office 97.54 

OFFICE DEPOT MONTHLY PLANNER / 
LIFT DESK (RETURNED)

AP100520 4253 Supplies - Office 21.70 

Date: 10/1/20 08:57:10 AM Page: 1



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Administration

From 9/22/2020 Through 10/5/2020

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

OFFICE DEPOT SIT STAND LIFT DESK 
/JULIE

AP100520 4253 Supplies - Office 159.99 

OFFICE DEPOT SIT STAND LIFT DESK 
/JULIE - RETURN 
PICKED UP 9-23-20

AP100520 4253 Supplies - Office (159.99)

SIKICH PROFESSIONAL SERVICES PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES RENDERED

AP100520 4320 Audit 1,450.00 

SUNCOM TV CONNECT LAPTOP TO 
TRICASTER / ZOOM

AP092820 4815 Equipment 217.50 

SUNCOM TV CREDIT FOR VOIDED 
CK 055637

APCREDIT092... 4815 Equipment (217.50)

SUNCOM TV CONNECT LAPTOP TO 
TRICASTER / ZOOM

REV-AP092820 4815 Equipment (217.50)

SUNCOM TV CREDIT FOR VOIDED 
CK 055637

REV-APCREDI... 4815 Equipment 217.50 

Total Administration 18,042.97 

Date: 10/1/20 08:57:10 AM Page: 2



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Community Development

From 9/22/2020 Through 10/5/2020

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

ELEVATOR INSPECTION SERVICE CO ELEVATOR INSPECTION 
9-11-20 / 7214 CASS AVE

AP100520 4328 Conslt/Prof Reimbursable 32.00 

Total Community 
Development

32.00 

Date: 10/1/20 08:57:10 AM Page: 3



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Public Works, Streets

From 9/22/2020 Through 10/5/2020

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

A&W TRAILER LLC BREAKAWAY SWITCH AP100520 4225 Maintenance - Equipment 44.97 

A&W TRAILER LLC TRAILER PLUG AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 29.97 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS 12V BATTERY AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 334.23 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS CREDIT FOR RETURN 
ON INV 779645

AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles (334.23)

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS LUBE AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 22.36 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS LUBE AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 22.36 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS LUBE AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 22.36 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS LUBE AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 22.36 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS AIR FILTER FOR 120 AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 16.08 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS ROTOR AND BRAKE 
PADS FOR 120

AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 120.87 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS BRAKE PADS FOR 501 AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 74.08 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS WIRE TERMINAL FOR 
SHOP

AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 17.25 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS OIL FILTER FOR SHOP AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 35.92 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS CALIPER TOOL AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 24.94 

ALLIED GARAGE DOOR INC. PW SHOP DOOR REPAIR AP100520 4223 Maintenance - Building 430.86 

CENTRAL SOD FARMS BLUEGRASS #100 AP100520 4257 Supplies - Other 72.00 

CINTAS #769 POLICE DEPT MATT 
RENTAL

AP100520 4223 Maintenance - Building 49.70 

CINTAS #769 MATT RENTAL FOR CITY 
HALL

AP100520 4223 Maintenance - Building 44.83 

CINTAS #769 MATT RENTAL FOR 
PUBLIC WORKS

AP100520 4223 Maintenance - Building 50.87 

COM ED COM ED 0788310001  
1041 S FRONTAGE RD

AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 112.18 

COM ED COM ED 0788310001  
1041 S FRONTAGE RD

AP100520-2 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 56.09 

COM ED COM ED 0788310001  
1041 S FRONTAGE RD

APVOID100520-2 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) (112.18)

CONSTELLATION NEW ENERGY, INC. LITE RT/25 CONTRLR S 
FRONTAGE /CASS

AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 41.53 

CONSTELLATION NEW ENERGY, INC. 0 CASS AVE LITE RT/25 
N OF JAMES PETER CT

AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 21.10 

Date: 10/1/20 08:57:10 AM Page: 4



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Public Works, Streets

From 9/22/2020 Through 10/5/2020

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

JAKE BRUZAN JAKE BRUZAN- OUT OF 
POCKET CLOTHING 
ALLOWANCE 
(REIMBURSEMENT

AP100520 4269 Uniforms 255.97 

JAMAR TECHNOLOGIES POLE BRACKET AP100520 4257 Supplies - Other 54.99 

LAWSON PRODUCTS INCORPORATED MECHANICS SUPPLIES AP100520 4225 Maintenance - Equipment 211.52 

MARQUETTE MANOR BAPTIST CHURCH FILTERS FOR 193 AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 79.29 

MARQUETTE MANOR BAPTIST CHURCH FILTERS FOR 193 & 202 AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 79.29 

MARQUETTE MANOR BAPTIST CHURCH FILTERS FOR 193 APVOID100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles (79.29)

MARQUETTE MANOR BAPTIST CHURCH FILTERS FOR 193 & 202 APVOID100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles (79.29)

MARTIN IMPLEMENT SALES, INC. FILTERS FOR 193 & 202 AP100520-2 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 158.58 

NICOR GAS NICOR 90841110001 
1041 S FRONTAGE RD 
DARIEN

AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 64.39 

NORWALK TANK SEWER LID AP100520 4257 Supplies - Other 292.66 

OFFICE DEPOT HANDSOAP AP100520 4223 Maintenance - Building 7.68 

OFFICE DEPOT CALLENDARS & OFFICE 
SUPPLIES

AP100520 4253 Supplies - Office 66.32 

RAGS ELECTRIC REPLACE FUSES - 313 
PLAINFIELD RD LIGHT

AP100520 4359 Street Light Oper & Maint. 134.50 

RAGS ELECTRIC INSTALLED NEW POLE - 
7614 FARMNGDALE DR

AP100520 4359 Street Light Oper & Maint. 4,912.00 

RUSSO'S POWER FORESTRY TOOL AP100520 4375 Tree Trim/Removal 39.99 

SEASON COMFORT, CORP. AIR COND /CITY HALL AP100520 4223 Maintenance - Building 350.00 

SEASON COMFORT, CORP. AIR COND - CELL 
TOWER BUILDING AT 
1041 S FRONTAGE

AP100520 4223 Maintenance - Building 721.32 

SHREVE SERVICES INC LANDSCAPE 
RESTORATIONS

AP100520 4374 Drainage Projects 320.00 

STEVE PIPER & SONS, INC. TUB GRINDING -SEPT 
2020

AP100520 4243 Rent - Equipment 1,580.00 

UNIQUE PRODUCTS & SERVICE CORP JANITORIAL SUPPLIES AP100520 4223 Maintenance - Building 158.90 

VULCAN CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS STONE AP100520 4257 Supplies - Other 1,588.80 

WHOLESALE DIRECT, INC. HYDRAULIC MOTOR AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 247.26 

WHOLESALE DIRECT, INC. WIPER BLADES AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 399.10 

Date: 10/1/20 08:57:10 AM Page: 5



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Public Works, Streets

From 9/22/2020 Through 10/5/2020

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

WHOLESALE DIRECT, INC. LED LAMP KIT AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 336.16 

WILLCO GREEN LLC SPOILS FROM WATER 
REPAIRS

AP100520 4374 Drainage Projects 648.00 

XBE CHICAGO TRUCKING SPOILS 
9-18-20

AP100520 4374 Drainage Projects 997.50 

XBE CHICAGO TRUCKING SPOILS 
9-14-20

AP100520 4374 Drainage Projects 997.50 

Total Public Works, 
Streets

15,763.64 

Date: 10/1/20 08:57:10 AM Page: 6



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Police Department

From 9/22/2020 Through 10/5/2020

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS ROTOR BRAKE PAD 
FOR D1

AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 192.77 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS ROTORS & BRAKE 
PADS FOR D2

AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 320.14 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS BALL JOINT AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 132.78 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS ROTOR & BRAKE PAD 
FOR D11

AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 127.37 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS ROTORS & BRAKE 
PADS FOR D9

AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 192.77 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS ROTORS & BRAKE 
PADS FOR D9 & D11

AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 124.77 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS WIPER BLADES FOR 
POLICE DEPT

AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 152.68 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS OIL FILTERS FOR 
POLICE DEPT

AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 37.68 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS BALL JOINT FOR TAHOE AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 99.58 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS CREDIT FOR RETURN 
ON INV 779444

AP100520 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles (99.58)

ALTERNATIVE BUSINESS SUPPLIERS COPIER SERVICE 
RENEWAL- POLICE 
DEPT

AP100520 4225 Maintenance - Equipment 1,485.00 

CANNON SAFE KEY MADE FOR POLICE 
DEPT

AP100520 4253 Supplies - Office 20.00 

COLLEGE OF DU PAGE ACADEMY FEE- 
NELSON SERVIN

AP100520 4263 Training and Education 3,735.60 

COLLEGE OF DU PAGE FTO CLASS- DOLLINS & 
SKWERES

AP100520 4263 Training and Education 599.00 

COLLEGE OF DU PAGE FTO CLASS- SOMOGYE AP100520 4263 Training and Education 400.00 

DUPAGE COUNTY CLERK'S OFFICE LIZ POTERASKE- 
NOTARY CERTIFICATE

AP100520 4213 Dues and Subscriptions 10.00 

DUPAGE COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS SEWER CHARGES 
-POLICE DEPT (6-29-20 
thru 8-28-20)

AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 783.21 

INDUSTRIAL ORG SOLUTIONS EXAM- CANDIDATE 
OPLAWSKI

AP100520 4205 Boards and Commissions 485.00 

Date: 10/1/20 08:57:10 AM Page: 7



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Police Department

From 9/22/2020 Through 10/5/2020

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

MATTHEW RUNDELL REIMBURSEMENT- 
EXAM 9-16-20

AP100520 4219 Liability Insurance 244.00 

RAY ALLEN MANUFACTURING INC. LONG LINE LEASH FOR 
NIKO

AP100520 4217 Investigation and Equipment 54.99 

RAY O'HERRON CO. INC. TOPEL- GUN LIGHT AP100520 4217 Investigation and Equipment 255.98 

RAY O'HERRON CO. INC. CACHRO- UNIFORM AP100520 4269 Uniforms 129.99 

RAY O'HERRON CO. INC. CACHRO -UNIFORM AP100520 4269 Uniforms 91.97 

RAY O'HERRON CO. INC. CACHRO -START UP 
UNIFORM

AP100520 4269 Uniforms 843.92 

RAY O'HERRON CO. INC. SIMEK- BP VEST AP100520 4269 Uniforms 775.00 

RAY O'HERRON CO. INC. SERVIN- BP VEST AP100520 4269 Uniforms 775.00 

RAY O'HERRON CO. INC. SKWERES- BP VEST AP100520 4269 Uniforms 783.70 

RAY O'HERRON CO. INC. CACHRO- QUICK LOCK 
KIT

AP100520 4269 Uniforms 36.99 

RAY O'HERRON CO. INC. CACHRO- START UP 
UNIFORM

AP100520 4269 Uniforms 535.00 

RAY O'HERRON CO. INC. GREENABERG- BP VEST AP100520 4269 Uniforms 775.00 

VILLAGE OF LEMONT AUG 5TH AP100520 4243 Rent - Equipment 100.00 

VILLAGE OF LEMONT AUG 11TH AP100520 4243 Rent - Equipment 100.00 

VILLAGE OF LEMONT AUG 19TH AP100520 4243 Rent - Equipment 100.00 

Total Police 
Department

14,400.31 

Total General Fund 48,238.92 

Date: 10/1/20 08:57:10 AM Page: 8



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

Water Fund

Public Works, Water

From 9/22/2020 Through 10/5/2020

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS TRAILER CONNECTOR AP100520 4225 Maintenance - Equipment 22.76 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS ANTI-FREEZE AP100520 4225 Maintenance - Equipment 30.90 

COM ED COM ED 0269155053  
2101 W 75TH ST

AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 58.17 

COM ED COM ED3118112014  
2103 75TH ST PUMP

AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 559.43 

CONSTELLATION NEW ENERGY, INC. 0 LAKEVIEW & OAKLEY AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 24.53 

CONSTELLATION NEW ENERGY, INC. 1220 PLAINFIELD RD 
DARIEN

AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 2,106.76 

CONSTELLATION NEW ENERGY, INC. 9S720 LEMONT RD 
DARIEN

AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 79.06 

CONSTELLATION NEW ENERGY, INC. 18W736 MANNING AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 65.36 

CONSTELLATION NEW ENERGY, INC. 67TH RIDGE AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 41.48 

CORE & MAIN BRASS FITTINGS AP100520 4231 Maintenance - Water System 131.50 

FedEx SHIPPING FEE / DENNIS 
CABLE

AP100520 4233 Postage/Mailings 116.89 

NICOR GAS NICOR 05002110004  
1930 MANNING RD 
DARIEN

AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 48.47 

NICOR GAS NICOR 90841110001 
1041 S FRONTAGE RD 
DARIEN

AP100520 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 64.38 

ODYSSEY BARRICADE SERVICES TRAFFIC CONES AP100520 4219 Liability Insurance 834.00 

SEASON COMFORT, CORP. AIR COND - CELL 
TOWER BUILDING AT 
1041 S FRONTAGE

AP100520 4223 Maintenance - Building 721.32 

VULCAN CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS STONE AP100520 4231 Maintenance - Water System 1,588.79 

WILLCO GREEN LLC SPOILS FROM WATER 
REPAIRS

AP100520 4231 Maintenance - Water System 1,296.00 

XBE CHICAGO TRUCKING SPOILS 
9-18-20

AP100520 4231 Maintenance - Water System 1,995.00 

XBE CHICAGO TRUCKING SPOILS 
9-14-20

AP100520 4231 Maintenance - Water System 2,018.75 

ZIEBELL WATER SERVICE PRODUCTS WATER MAIN REPAIR 
SLEEVES

AP100520 4231 Maintenance - Water System 1,049.00 

Date: 10/1/20 08:57:10 AM Page: 9



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

Water Fund

Public Works, Water

From 9/22/2020 Through 10/5/2020

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

Total Public Works, 
Water

12,852.55 

Total Water Fund 12,852.55 

Date: 10/1/20 08:57:10 AM Page: 10



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

Motor Fuel Tax

MFT Expenses

From 9/22/2020 Through 10/5/2020

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

ORANGE CRUSH LLC HMA PRIVATE SURFACE AP100520 4245 Road Material 1,038.96 

ORANGE CRUSH LLC HMA PRIVATE SURFACE AP100520 4245 Road Material 1,244.88 

ORANGE CRUSH LLC HMA PRIVATE SURFACE 
&  DUMPING BROKEN 

ASPHALT

AP100520 4245 Road Material 333.56 

ORANGE CRUSH LLC HMA PRIVATE SURFACE 
& DUMPING BROKEN 

ASPHALT

AP100520 4245 Road Material 959.04 

ORANGE CRUSH LLC HMA PRIVATE SURFACE 
& DUMPING BROKEN 

ASPHALT

AP100520 4245 Road Material 938.24 

ORANGE CRUSH LLC HMA PRIVATE SURFACE AP100520 4245 Road Material 360.88 

VULCAN CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS STONE FOR REPAIRS AP100520 4245 Road Material 3,664.12 

Total MFT Expenses 8,539.68 

Total Motor Fuel Tax 8,539.68 

Date: 10/1/20 08:57:10 AM Page: 11



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

FESA - Justice - 1

Drug Forfeiture Expenditures

From 9/22/2020 Through 10/5/2020

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

MIDWEST OFFICE INTERIORS FURNITURE FOR 
DETECTIVES OFFICE

AP100520 4213 Dues and Subscriptions 16,995.71 

Total Drug Forfeiture 
Expenditures

16,995.71 

Total FESA - Justice 
- 1

16,995.71 

Report Total 86,626.86 

Date: 10/1/20 08:57:10 AM Page: 12



AGENDA MEMO 
 City Council 

October 5, 2020 

ISSUE STATEMENT 
A resolution authorizing the purchase of the deicing and anti-icing chemical product, ThermaPoint 
R, from Industrial Systems Ltd., in an amount not to exceed $32,000, (29,358 gallons x 
$1.09/gallon).  

RESOLUTION 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY 
Included within the FY20/21 Budget are supplies as it relates to the enhancement of de-icing 
roadways within the City. The de-icing program was initiated in 2018 and will be in its 3rd year 
of use. There are two distinct snow and ice control strategies that make use of chemical freezing-
point effective: de-icing and anti-icing. De-icing operations are performed to break the bond of 
already bonded snow and ice on the roadway and is commonly initiated only after (1 in) or more 
of snow has accumulated and bonded to the road.  Anti-icing operations are conducted to prevent 
the formation of bonded snow and ice for easy removal. The benefits of anti-icing are considerable. 
Pretreating surfaces with ice melter before a storm arrives can increase winter safety, make 
subsequent snow and ice removal easier and less costly, minimize salt usage, and reduce the 
potential for impact on properties and the environment. 

Increased safety 
Applying ice-melting chemicals before or at the start of freezing precipitation prevents formation 
of bonded ice on pavement, which can help ensure safe passage for pedestrians and motorists from 
the outset of a storm.  

Reduced deicer use 
The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) says effective pretreatments typically require 
up to 75% less ice melt material throughout the storm cycle compared to deicing after weather 
events, reducing costs as well as environmental impact. 

Labor and cost savings 
Pretreating pavement surfaces with ice melter can provide significant labor- and cost-saving 
benefits. Anti-icing treatment before a storm can often eliminate the need to remove light 
accumulations and can make removal of heavy snow and ice faster and easier. The residual ice-
melting effect of these treatments can reduce the need for subsequent deicing applications after 
plowing.  

Material selection 
Material selection depends on many factors, including available equipment, pavement 
temperatures, and current and expected weather conditions. Anti-icing is a proven way to provide 
safer conditions for motorists and pedestrians starting at the very outset of a winter storm event. 
It’s also a practical way to help minimize rock salt use, reduce labor and cost, and minimize the 
impact on properties and the environment before, during and after a storm. It’s an effective and 
practical strategy for municipalities whenever they have advance warning that a storm is on the 
way.   

Deicing and Anti-icing Product-Chemical Deicer ThermaPoint R is a ready to use deicing and anti-
icing liquid inhibitor. Staff secured the following two quotes for the product. Industrial Systems 



Deicing Anti-icing  
October 5, 2020 
Page 2  
 
Ltd., is the sole manufacturer of ThermaPoint R in our area and 3 bordering states. See 
Attachment A. 
 

VENDOR PRODUCT COST PER GALLON 
Industrial Systems Ltd ThermaPoint R                  *$1.09 

SNI Solutions Geomelt S7 $1.30 
 
The ThermaPoint R product would be utilized for the de-icing and anti-icing operations. Based on 
an average winter of 21-25 snow frequencies, it has been estimated the City would require 
approximately 29,358 gallons of the ThermaPoint R product. The benefits for the ThermaPoint R 
are: 

a. Dark Brown in Color with Mild Odor 
b. Freeze Point of -40 degrees 
c. Promotes a Sustainable and Environmentally Sensitive Enhancement 

 
The total cost would be an amount not to exceed $32,000, (29,358 gallons x $1.09/gallon) for 
ThermaPoint R from Industrial Systems Ltd.,*Quantity subject to change due to weather 
conditions. 
 
The FY20/21 Budget includes funding for the abovementioned items from the following accounts: 
 

ACCOUNT 
NUMBER 

ACCOUNT 
DESCRIPTION 

FY20/21 
BUDGET EXPENDITURE BALANCE 

01-30-4257 Operating Supplies $32,000 $32,000 $0 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends approval of this resolution accepting a proposal from Industrial Systems Ltd., 
for the purchase of ThermaPoint R. 
 
This item was not reviewed by the Municipal Services Committee due to timing constraints 
and will be placed on New Business for the October 5, 2020 City Council Meeting. 
 
ALTERNATE CONSIDERATION 
As directed by the City Council. 
 
DECISION MODE 
This item will be placed on the October 5, 2020, City Council agenda for formal consideration.  



ISL 

09-23-2020

To Whom it May Concern, 

I am writing to let you know that Industrial Systems Ltd. is the sole 

manufacturer of ThermaPoint R in the 3 state area comprising Illinois, 

Wisconsin and Iowa. We maintain ourselves as the sole manufacturer to 

your area. 

Sincerely, 

Greg Schams 

President 

Industrial Systems Ltd. 

112 West Route 120 

Tel: 815.344.5566 

Industrial Systems Ltd. 
Laketn.oor, IL 60051 

Fax: 815.344.5588 

    Attachment A



RESOLUTION NO.______________ 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASE OF THE DEICING AND ANTI-
ICING PRODUCT THERMAPOINT R AT THE UNIT PRICE OF $1.09 PER GALLON 

FROM INDUSTRIAL SYSTEMS LTD IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $32,000, 
(29,358 GALLONS x $1.09/GALLON) 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU 

PAGE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 

SECTION 1: The City Council of the City of Darien hereby authorizes the purchase of the 

deicing and anti-icing chemical product ThermaPoint R in an amount not to exceed $32,000, 

(29,358 gallons at $1.09/gallon) from Industrial Systems Ltd., a copy of which is attached hereto 

as “Exhibit A” and is by this reference expressly incorporated herein.            

SECTION 2: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage 

and approval as provided by law. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE 

COUNTY, ILLINOIS, this 5th day of October, 2020. 

AYES:  

NAYS: 

ABSENT:  

APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE COUNTY, 

ILLINOIS, this 5th day of October, 2020. 

JOSEPH A. MARCHESE, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 

JOANNE E. RAGONA, CITY CLERK 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

CITY ATTORNEY 



Industrial Systems Ltd. 
112 West Route 120 

Lakemoor, IL 60051 

Tel: 815-344-5566 ° Fax: 815-344-5588 

ISL 
Quote 

Date: Darien Public Works 
Attn: David Fell September 21, 2020 

Reference: 
Darien, IL. 

Liquid De-icer/ Anti-icer 

LOCAL* M f t anu ac ure d t ,, s ore IS rl ue ,n I d1cago an *LOCAL

Submitted B y FOB Delivery Terms 

Steve Adler Included Net 30 days from delivery 

Quantity 

4,500 gl 

4,500 gl 

4,500 gl 

4,500 gl 

4,500 gl 

Product Description 

READY-TO-GO PRODUC No Mixing! No mixing! 

ThermaPoint R- No mixing! Pre-wetting, anti-icing & de-icing (-40°F) 
FOR MILD OR SEVERE WEATHER I 90% less corrosion 

NON-CHLORIDE LIQUID DE-ICE Environmentally Friendlier 

Cryomelt NC - No mixing! Pre-wetting, anti-icing & de-icing (-20°F) 

BREWERS INGREDIENTS (request complete list) 

lnfernalMelt B/C - Blending Concentrate (mix Ingredient only ) 

Liquidow 32% Liquid Calcium Chloride (-17 F) 
add an addition $0.05 er allon for corrosion inhibitor 

JUST ADD BRIN 

I.M. Turbo Charging Additive/ no sodium brine added (Est. -30° F)

30% sodium brine added (estimated -20°F) 

40% sodium brine added (estimated -10° F) 

Defoamer- Biocides - Storage Tanks - Pre-Wet Dispensing System 

Important 

Prices in effect at time of delivery and subject to 
availability, unless such time is extended in writing. 

Quantities shown above are not guaranteed. 

Internal Use 

(TP-R) GPS 527.20 Steve Adler 

Price 

$1.09/gl 

$1.99/gl 

$1.57/gl 

$0.595/gal 

$1.34/gl 

2020-09-2 / (Daria11) Liquid De-leer.doc 

Exhibit A



AGENDA MEMO 
City Council 
October 5, 2020 

ISSUE STATEMENT 
A RESOLUTION PROVIDING CARES FUNDS FOR THE COVID BUSINESS 
ASSISTANCE PLAN FOR CERTAIN BUSINESSES GENERATING FOOD AND 
BEVERAGE TAXES FOR TAXES COLLECTED FROM MAY 2019 THROUGH OCTOBER 
2019 

RESOLUTION 

BACKGROUND HISTORY 
Mayor Marchese is asking the City Council to consider a business assistance plan providing 
CARES ACT funds to certain food and beverage businesses. The proposed businesses eligible 
for funding are those businesses that generate a local food/beverage tax and have set up special 
outdoor areas to maintain business through the COVID epidemic. Helping these businesses 
survive outdoor service through the fall season is of particular concern due to colder weather. 
Businesses that have outdoor service/seating as part of their normal business operations would 
not be eligible for the funds.  

As you recall, the City of Darien is eligible to receive CARES Act funds from DuPage County in 
the amount of $1,121,195.52. The City has already submitted for reimbursement in the amount 
of $913,780.07 and anticipate submitting another $240,000 by the December 31 deadline. 
Therefore, if the total estimated city reimbursement is approved, we will reach our maximum 
reimbursement of $1,121,195.52. If the County reduces our anticipated reimbursement request, 
we may receive a reimbursement for a portion of this business assistance within our maximum 
reimbursement amount. The business assistance expense meets the definition of approved 
categories to be eligible for CARES funding/reimbursement.  

The resolution authorizes the City to rebate 6 months of the local Food and Beverage tax 
recorded by the City between May of 2019 through October of 2019 in the total amount 
estimated at $106,000 to the following businesses:  Blueberry Hill Restaurant, Broosters of 
Darien, Chuck’s Southern Comforts Café, Jam N Jelly Pancake House, Mi Hacienda, Patio 
Restaurant of Darien, Q Bar, TGI Fridays, Café Smilga, Zazzo’s Pizza & Bar, and El Chile.  

The rebate will be returned at the same amount each business generated during the 6-month 
period. Mayor Marchese reached out to some of the businesses covered by the food and beverage 
tax and this rebate will assist with the necessary costs associated with outdoor service. The 
individual amounts to be rebated are not shown as that information is proprietary. 

STAFF/COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
Mayor Marchese and staff recommend approval of A RESOLUTION PROVIDING CARES 
FUNDS FOR THE COVID BUSINESS ASSISTANCE PLAN FOR CERTAIN BUSINESSES 
GENERATING FOOD AND BEVERAGE TAXES FOR TAXES COLLECTED FROM MAY 
2019 THROUGH OCTOBER 2019 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ALTERNATE CONSIDERATION 
As directed. 

DECISION MODE  

This will be on the October 5, 2020, City Council agenda for formal approval.  

 



RESOLUTION NO. 

1 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A BUSINESS ASSISTANCE REBATE UNDER THE 
CARES ACT FOR CERTAIN LOCAL BUSINESSES THAT EXPERIENCED 

ADDITIONAL EXPENSES TO CREATE OUTDOOR SERVICES  
DURING THE COVID PANDEMIC 

WHEREAS, the City of Darien is a home rule unit of local government pursuant to the 

provisions of Article VII, Section 6, of the Illinois Constitution of 1970; and 

WHEREAS, as a home rule unit of local government, the City may exercise any power 

and perform any function pertaining to its government except as limited by Article VII, Section 6; 

and  

WHEREAS, Commencing on May 1, 2016, a tax was imposed upon the retail purchase of 

alcoholic liquor, food or beverages at any "retail food facility" or "retail liquor facility"  within the 

City of Darien, at the rate of one and one-fourth percent (1.25%) of the purchase price; and  

WHEREAS, the tax was imposed for the purpose of supporting city operations and capital 

projects; and  

WHEREAS, certain local businesses experienced additional expenses to create outdoor 

services in order to maintain business during the COVID pandemic 

WHEREAS, local restaurants generate significant revenue to the City of Darien and 

provide fun and entertainment for residents; and  

WHEREAS, the City recognizes the unique impact the coronavirus pandemic is having 

on local restaurants, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, pursuant to its home-rule 

powers, as follows:  



RESOLUTION NO.     
 
 

2 
 

SECTION 1: Authorization.  The Mayor and City Administrator are hereby authorized 

to rebate 6 months of the local Food and Beverage tax recorded by the city between May of 2019 

through October of 2019 in the total amount estimated at $106,000. The rebate will be returned at 

the same amount each business generated during the 6-month period. The proposed businesses 

eligible for funding are those businesses that generate a local food/beverage tax and have set up 

special outdoor areas to maintain business through the COVID epidemic 

SECTION 2: Effective Date.   This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and 

after its passage and approval. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE 

COUNTY, ILLINOIS, this 5th day of October, 2020. 

AYES:              

NAYS:             

ABSENT:             

 APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE COUNTY, 

ILLINOIS, this 5th day of October, 2020. 

 

  
  JOSEPH A. MARCHESE, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
  
 JOANNE E. RAGONA, CITY CLERK 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
  
 CITY ATTORNEY 
 



AGENDA MEMO 
City Council 

October 5, 2020 

ISSUE STATEMENT 
Approval of an ordinance amending Title VII of the Darien City Code, “Health and Sanitation” for Hobby 
Beekeeping. 

Please note, Chicken Fostering is presented under a separate agenda memo. 

ORDINANCES 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY-AUGUST 17, 2020 
An increasing number of residents want to keep bees in urban environments as a hobby. Darien currently 
does not regulate the keeping of bees on residential property, but it is subject to general nuisance rules. 
Recent calls to the city, asking if bee keeping is permitted, prompted the City Council to consider an 
ordinance developed specifically to regulate bee keeping. Preliminary research shows public health and 
nuisance concerns related to bee keeping can be managed through proper regulations and education of 
owners. Residential bee keeping ordinances typically address such items as number of colonies allowed 
per property, permitting process, location and size of aviaries on property, registration and sanitary 
condition requirements. 

Attachment A is a compiled spreadsheet from various municipalities regarding regulations on 
beekeeping. The goal is to create a balanced City ordinance for each and would consist of the following: 

Definitions- Beekeeping-An apiary is a location where beehives of honey bees are kept. 
Apiaries come in many sizes and can be rural or urban depending on the 
honey production operation.  

Quantities- City Council to determine quantities 
Apiaries-Limit to 2 Units 

Additional regulations will be presented to the Committee for consideration and will include the 
following: 

Grandfathering of Existing/Amortization 
Permit through Registration-Right to Access Property 
Setbacks 
Structures 
Prohibited Uses - Home Based Business-Prohibited 
Sanitation 
Violations - Penalties/Fees 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY- SEPTEMBER 28, 2020 - UPDATE FOR COMMITTEE  
At the August 17, 2020, City Council Meeting, Staff was directed to present an ordinance in regards to bee 
keeping for the Municipal Services Committee.  

To date Staff has completed the following: 



City Council 
Bee Keeping Ordinance 
Page 2 

· Updated the matrix of various municipalities regarding the keeping of bees, attached and 
labeled as Attachment A, (2 pages).  

· Updated the correspondences received from residents and non-residents regarding bee 
fostering, attached and labeled as Attachment B, (21 pages).  

· Researched municipal ordinances for a City model ordinance.  
 
Attached and labeled as Attachment C, (2 pages) is a proposed model ordinance regarding the keeping of 
bees. Staff will present with the proposed ordinance for consideration or modification. In conjunction with 
the proposed ordinance a handout sheet will be implemented as part of the registration/permit process and 
is attached and labeled as Attachment D. (2 pages) 
 
Attached and labeled as Attachment E, is the pamphlet form of the Ordinance, pending any modifications. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff is recommending the following consideration from the Municipal Services Committee: 

1. Approval of the proposed ordinance-pending any modifications the item will be presented to 
the City Council for approval at the October 5, 2020 meeting. 
 
OR 
 

2. Prohibit the fostering of chickens and/or bees-Discussion-Compliance date  

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
The Municipal Services Committee recommended the approval of this bee keeping ordinance. 
 
ALTERNATE CONSIDERATION 
As directed by the City Council. 
 
DECISION MODE  
This item will be placed on the October 5, 2020 City Council Meeting, New Business for formal 
consideration. 
 



DRAFT
Bolingbrook Carol Stream Darien, WI Downers Grove DuPage County Minneapolis, MN Warrenville West Chicago Westmont Willowbrook Wood Dale Woodridge Darien

Allowed

yes no not specified not specified
only on 

agricultural land 
yes yes not specified yes not specified

no regulations prohibiting as 
long as it does not become a

nuisance. 
not specified YES

Permit/Licenses

not required
required-fee initial year-no fee annual 
renewal-if revoked/refused fee will be 

retained 
not required required required-one time permit & review fee

Applications
required $100 fee

Community Development/Municipal 
Services

Responsible Officer
no enforcement compliance with State regulation

State Registration
not specified yes

registered with 
state

compliance with State regulation

Inspections
as deemed necessary

colonies must be 
inspectable

initial inspection for compliance and  
inspect if deemed necessary

# Colonies

1/2 acre or smaller -2 colonies; larger than 1/2 
acre smaller than 3/4 acre-4 colonies; larger 

than 3/4 acres smaller than 1 acre-6 
colonies;1 acres but smaller than 5 acres-8 

colonies; larger than 5 acres-MACC 
determines as appropriate

no more than 4 for 1st 
20,000 sq. ft. - 2 colonies 

for each additional 10,000 
sq. ft.

no more than 2 
colonies per 1/3 
acre of property

2

Sale of honey

limited not specified
home occupation 

regulations
not specified

retail sales by home based 
businesses are premitted 

entirely by 
mail/telephone/internet or 

appointment only

prohibited

Enclosures

removable frames-painted-good condition-if 
less than 25' from property line flyway barrier 
maintain at least 6' high 10' either direction of 

hive

if landing boards face 
property line must maintain 

a flyway barrier

no closer than 
15ft from any lot 

line

yes; screened from habitable buildings on 
neighboring property; constructed of 

durable materials & compatible with your 
house & neighboring residential properties

Space for Hive see # colonies minimum 20,000 sq. ft. hive shall not be larger 5ft in height

Sanitation

removable combs kept in 
sound, usable sanitary 

condition

regularly cleaned 
& emptied water 
source should be 
located by hive

property must be kept clean well 
maintained -source of water available at all 

times on property during hive's active 
months (Mar-Nov) humane conditions to 

be maintained year round

Nuisance Clause

not specified
no regulations prohibiting as 
long as it does not become a

nuisance. 

prominent signage warning of the presence 
of bees shall be required on the property 

Lot Size

see # colonies minimum 20,000 sq. ft. see # of colonies
1st offense-warning; 2nd-$50; 3rd-12 

months revocation & $200 fine

Zoning

shall not occur on 
multi-family 

property
administrative

Location of Enclosures

see # colonies
10ft from all property line-
may not be located on side, 

corner or front yards

rear yard of 
residential; roof 
or rear yard of 

commercial 

rear yard 15 ft. away from residential 
neighbor-fence required

Penalties/Fines

Municipal Honey Bee Regulations Comparative Table

Attachment A



Attachment B

RESIDENT NON-RESIDENT UNKNOWN

12 1 1 no opinion on bee keeping 14

4 1 pro-beekeeping no specification 5

3 pro-beekeeping w/regulation 3

pro-beekeeping w/no regulation 0

8 1 opposed to beekeeping 9

4
  

w/regulations 4
35

PUBLIC COMMENTS - BEEKEEPING 



From: Lynnie Ley
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Chickens and bees
Date: Thursday, August 6, 2020 3:32:00 PM

I do not have chickens or bees, but it has been something I’ve been interested in for years! I
think it would be great if Darien allowed such hobbies.   And good for the Earth if honeybees
were allowed.  



From: mcam9905@
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Ordinance
Date: Thursday, August 6, 2020 5:21:09 PM

Hello
DuPage county has an ordinance about chickens.  Plus more chickens means more coyotes which can present all
sorts of problem.  Plus if not properly cared for chickens can carry all sorts of viruses. So yea everyone’s so worried
about covid yet they promote livestock in residential areas.  As far as bees,  I know in school the peanut allergy
people ran the show.  Well there are so many more people allergic to bees and again if not properly cared for can
cause all sorts of problems with residents living close by.  Also raw honey can cause botulism which can be fatal. 
Remember eggs are like $1.50 and honey is like 3 bucks.  Let’s not risk other people’s health for simple non
necessities. 
Thank you 

Sent from my iPhone



From: Luanne Spiros
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Darien Beekeeping
Date: Friday, August 7, 2020 5:39:02 PM

Hi Regina

My name is Luanne Spiros and i am a resident of Darien. The reason for my email is to
respond to the query regarding beekeeping in Darien.

I am recommending that bees be ALLOWED in Darien -- as they are in many
progressive communities (e.g., Wheaton, Naperville)-- with the appropriate
restrictions in place (e.g., max # hives). Just like chickens and dogs,  appropriate
code for the welfare and benefit of the community and the animals is required. 

Background: I am currently a beekeeper -- but my bees are not located in Darien-- and i am a
Master Beekeeper student with Cornell University. 
I am also a Forest Preserve of DuPage County volunteer
beekeeper/STEM/interpreter. My plan is to have bees in Darien but i have none now. 

Honeybees are critical to our ecosystem . 2/3 of all of our fruits and vegetables are the result
of pollinators and Honeybees pollinate 80% of these plants. Further they enrich our
communities by enhancing our gardens rich with blooms and providing food for our critical
creatures  (e.g., birds). When we expand native plantings (Darien Parks, Nantucket Basin)
honeybees are a critical and synergistic part to our community. 

As a beekeeper and Cornell University Master Beekeeper student i can help you (or Dan or
others) if you have any questions about beekeeping. I'd be happy to provide science-based
information to help you during this process. LMK.

Thank you for asking! Luanne Spiros



From: lgb110@
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Chickens and Bee Keeping Ordinance
Date: Saturday, August 8, 2020 3:03:34 PM

I do not want raising chickens and bees in backyards to be allowed in Darien.  No exceptions to this rule.  This
hobby should only be allowed in rural areas where there are large backyards or a distance between property lots.  I
am totally against allowing this.  We live in a townhome with very small backyards.  Please take into consideration
the large number of townhomes and condominiums in our community if this Ordinance is allowed.

Thank you,

Jim and Linda Banich
8517 Evergreen Lane



From: Tamara Fredriksen
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Chicken/Bee Ordinance
Date: Saturday, August 8, 2020 6:38:51 PM

Dear Ms. Kokkinis,

I understand that the city of Darien is considering a new ordinance regarding chickens and bees. My family and I
have been residents (67th & Western) since the fall of 2013.
We do not currently have chickens or bees, but have been considering them for the past several years. We have three
young children and I feel that raising chickens and possibly bees could be a wonderful learning experience for them,
in addition to additional food sources (fresh eggs & honey).
One of our neighbors (only 2 doors down) has several chickens and if my husband hadn’t been invited over to see
them, we would have no idea they are there (no noise, smells, disturbances of any kind).
 I believe that an ordinance could be helpful in that it can give residents clear information on what is/is not allowed
regarding animal keeping within our city.  That said, I believe it is important to ensure that the guidelines are not so
narrow that they make it difficult for most residents to keep these animals if they so wish.
As a side note, you may also want to reconsider our city’s stance on domestic animals as well. I know that currently
we are allowed up to three animals (dogs/cats), but I think it would be beneficial to allow up to four. We currently
have two cats (we got them at the same time as kittens) and when the time comes would like to get 2 more kittens
together so they have a playmate their own age.
Thank you for your time and consideration.

Sincerely,
Tamara Fredriksen

Sent from my iPhone



From: christopher Maka
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Honey bees
Date: Monday, August 10, 2020 10:31:43 AM

Good morning,

First and foremost I think this should clearly state HONEYBEES, not bees. Bees have a reputation to be pests.
Honey bees are endangered pollinators that we absolutely need in the world.  I think regulating is a great idea.
However, the fine people complaining should be required to read up and enlighten themselves a bit before having a
say on a matter they clearly don’t know very much about.
 I have honey bees on my property. Thank you.

Sent from my iPhone



From: Sue Schemmer
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Chickens and bees
Date: Tuesday, August 11, 2020 6:04:57 PM

I think people should be able to have chickens and bees on their private property in Darien.  I
have neither but bees are beneficial to us all and raising chickens is a great hobby.

I can understand not liking roosters but the owner of the chickens got rid of the rooster.

Some people complaining about the bees probably do not know the difference between honey
bees and yellow jackets.  All over the Midwest, we are seeing an increase of yellow jackets
this year probably due to the weather.  Honey bees are harmless if not harassed.

Sue Schemmer



From: Jennifer Murtoff
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: chicken ordinance
Date: Saturday, August 15, 2020 11:44:04 AM

Hello, 
My name is Jennifer and I saw on Facebook that Darien is considering an ordinance on
chickens and bees. 
Since 2008, I have had a business in the Chicagoland area as a chicken consultant, helping
families and organizations with their flocks, giving classes, and advising on best practices. I
would welcome the opportunity to bring my experience to Darien's ordinance process. I have
consulted/testified regarding ordinances for a number of municipalities, including Baltimore,
MD, and I'm well versed in the needs of chickens, owners, and neighbors, as well as with the
common concerns that arise around chicken keeping. 

In addition, I know a number of beekeepers through the Chicago urban agriculture movement,
and have a hive on my property.

Darien aldermen may be interested in attending the Chicago Coop and EcoYards Tour, Sept.
19-20. This annual event allows participants the opportunity to see urban and suburban coops
and talk with the owners about their experiences. 
  
You can find my blog at the link below.  

Thank you for your consideration!
Jennifer
----------------------------
Jennifer Murtoff
Home to Roost Urban Chicken Consulting 
My LinkedIn Profile



From: Dan Gombac
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: FW: Ordinance
Date: Thursday, September 10, 2020 9:41:39 AM

Maybe a duplicate from earlier.
 
Daniel Gombac
Director of Municipal Services
630-353-8106
To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic newsletter:
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT
Follow the link and subscribing is simple!
https://darien.il.us/reference-desk/directconnect-enews
 

From: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:13 PM
To: Dan Gombac <dgombac@darienil.gov>; Diane Noverini <dnoverini@darienil.gov>
Subject: FW: Ordinance
 
 
 
 
 
Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.
 
 
Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.
 
 
 
-------- Original message --------
From: Nancy Brogato <brogato@ >
Date: 8/31/20 4:26 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Ordinance
 
I love in Norman courts and we are Against raising chickens and bees!!!!

Sent from my iPhone



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Vote NO on new ordinances
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:04:52 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: Carol Norbut <c.norbut@ >
Date: 9/8/20 4:25 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Vote NO on new ordinances

This is to encourage you to vote no on the ordinance allowing chickens
to be raised in Darien as well as the one allowing bees to be kept on
Darien property. I am against both proposals and urge you to vote no.
Thanking you in advance,
 

Carol Norbut



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Bees and chickens
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:07:00 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: lawrence jostock <wernoz@ >
Date: 9/2/20 7:35 AM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Bees and chickens

Dear Mr. Kenny,

In our opinion, we do not  favor keeping bees and chickens in Darien.

Thank you,

Gloria Clancy & Lawrence Jostock
1431 Coventry Ct.
Darien, IL  60561



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Chickens and Bee Hives upcomming Vote
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:07:30 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: JOSEPH VALO <jvalo >
Date: 9/1/20 4:55 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Chickens and Bee Hives upcomming Vote

I am asking that you vote NO in regard to allowing Chickens and Bees to be raised in
the city of Darien. This is definitely not a rural community. 

Joseph Valo
Resident and Home Owner of Darien.



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Chickens and bee hives
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:08:54 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: MARTIN GABRIEL <mgabriel1521@ >
Date: 9/1/20 10:47 AM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Chickens and bee hives

I am a resident of Darien, Il. and I emphatically do not want chickens or bee hives to
be allowed in Darien. 



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: New vote
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:09:49 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: "James C. Williams" <jamescwilliams@ >
Date: 9/1/20 9:33 AM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Re: New vote

So noted. Thanks.

On Aug 31, 2020, at 7:16 PM, Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov> wrote:

Jim,

I have received your email as well as a handful of your neighbors. I will use all of the
feedback provided to make an informed decision when it's time for the City Council to
vote on an ordinance.

Sincerely,

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------



From: "James C. Williams" <jamescwilliams@ >
Date: 8/31/20 1:28 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Fwd: New vote

Alderman Kenny:

I also believe Darien is not the proper place for either chickens or bee keeping. They
are not consistent with Darien's general environment. I also believe their existence
would have a negative impact on property values.

Best Regards,
Jim Williams
1450 Coventry Court

Begin forwarded message:

From: Carolyn Williams
<carolynswilliams@ <mailto:carolynswilliams@ >>
Subject: Fwd: New vote
Date: August 31, 2020 at 12:51:07 PM CDT
To: Jim Williams
<jamescwilliams@ <mailto:jamescwilliams@ >>
Cc: Bonnie Kucera
<bonniekucera@ <mailto:bonniekucera@ >>

Begin forwarded message:

From: Carolyn Williams
<carolynswilliams@ t<mailto:carolynswilliams@ >>
Subject: New vote
Date: August 31, 2020 at 12:49:47 PM CDT
To: jkenny@darienil.gov<mailto:jkenny@darienil.gov>

Alderman Kenny

Although I appreciate the enjoyment of chickens and bee keeping by various people
and don't find either animal/insect undesirable, I do NOT believe Darien is an
appropriate suburb for either one of these. Properties and family homes are
comfortably close and allowing chickens and bees in such small areas would not be
in keeping with the harmony Darien has as a community.

Regards
Carolyn Williams
1450 Coventry Ct.



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Chickens and Bees.
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:10:14 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: jjesamspop@
Date: 9/1/20 8:59 AM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Re: Chickens and Bees.

Thank you.

Sally

-----Original Message-----
From: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
To: jjesamspop@  <jjesamspop@ >
Sent: Mon, Aug 31, 2020 7:15 pm
Subject: RE: Chickens and Bees.

Sally,

I have received your email as well as a handful of your neighbors. I will use all of the feedback provided to
make an informed decision when it's time for the City Council to vote on an ordinance.

Sincerely,

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.



-------- Original message --------
From: jjesamspop@
Date: 8/31/20 1:53 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Chickens and Bees.

Dear Alderman Kenny,

I currently live in a town home.  While I can see where it may be possible to allow chickens and bees to
be raised in a single family home and yard, I am against allowing it in a community living situation such as
a town home association where the occupants are in much closer proximity to see other and yard space
is scarce.

When and if an ordinance is written, please consider my concerns.

Thank you.

Sally English
1500 Canterbury Court
Darien, IL 60561



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW:
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:12:47 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: Vivian <vhynes123@ >
Date: 8/31/20 7:24 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject:

Sent from my iPhone. I understand a vote will be taken Monday night regarding the raising of chickens and bees by
Darien residents. As a townhome owner these critters would have to be housed closer to my home than would be
with a single family home. Please vote no. Thank you. Tom Hynes, 1501 Canterbury



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Chickens and bees
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:14:33 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: Jim Craig <pastorjimglcc@ >
Date: 8/31/20 1:02 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Chickens and bees

Vote no on allowing both chickens and bee hives to be kept in Darien unless the homeowner
has a very sizable piece of property. There should be an ordinance specifying the exact
measurement of square feet required in order to have either. 



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: chicken and bee keeping
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:15:56 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: "Toljanic, Joseph" <jtolja@
Date: 8/31/20 12:08 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: chicken and bee keeping

 
Hello Mr. Kenny,
As a long time resident of Darien, I wanted to express my opinion regarding keeping bees and
chickens in our city.  I disagree with approval of this ordinance.  We live in a suburban environment
and not a rural environment.  Beekeeping and chickens would detract from that suburban feel.  I
would also be concerned about the additional bees in the neighborhood that may sting my family.  I
am especially concerned about the chickens that I feel would create the potential for an unhealthy
environment.  I just yesterday heard a rooster crowing in the morning very close to where I live
which took me by complete surprise.  I do not appreciate being awakened by this noise.  I am very
concerned that if approved, this ordinance may lead to people choosing not to live in Darien which
could decrease the value of my property.  Please vote against this ordinance when it come up for a
vote
Thanks you in advance for your consideration,
Dr. Joseph Toljanic
1527 Brittany Ct
Darien
Sent from Mail for Windows 10
 

.. ..



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Voting for Chickens!
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:16:22 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: Bonnie Kucera <bonniekucera@ >
Date: 8/31/20 11:19 AM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Voting for Chickens!

Hi Joe, 
I am not sure what to call this - so, I am not in favor of the City allowing Chickens or
Bees to be breed, living or cared for on residential properties.  The chickens will not
provide any type of value to the our personal or city property.  Perhaps even provide
a health concern especially airborne.  There are several type of farmer communes in
the area (way further west) that those that wish to raise or have contact with chickens
can visit or buy into.  Not sure if you are voting on Bees yet but so many people are
allergic I think it becomes a health concern.  I am not sure of your position on this but
giving you mine!

Take care.  Hope you are Lisa are enjoying this beautiful much cooler weather!  

Bonnie Kucera 1427 Coventry Court Darien, IL  60561 
bonniekucera@



Attachment C 

TITLE 7: HEALTH AND SANITATION 

Chapter 5: ANIMALS 

7-5-2 Hobby Beekeeping 

1. DEFINITIONS;

APIARY: A place where one or more bee colonies are kept.

BEE: Any stage of the common domestic honey bee, Apis mellifera species.

BEEKEEPER: A person who owns or has charge of one or more colonies of bees.

BEEKEEPING EQUIPMENT: Anything used in the operation of an apiary, including,
but not limited to, hive bodies, supers, frames, top and bottom boards and
extractors.

COLONY (COLONIES): A hive and its equipment and appurtenances, including
bees, comb, honey, pollen and brood.

FLYAWAY BARRIER: Barrier that raises the flight path of bees as they come and
go from a hive.

HIVE: A structure intended for the housing of a bee colony.

HOBBY BEEKEEPING: The keeping of bees subject to the restrictions set forth in
this chapter.

NUCLEUS COLONY: A small quantity of bees with a queen housed in a smaller
than usual hive box designed for a particular purpose.

2. REQUIREMENTS; PEMITS, FEES & PENALTIES

a. Bees and bee hives shall be permitted on residential zoning lots containing a
minimum of ten thousand (10,000) square feet as an accessory use.

b. A maximum of two (2) hives/colonies shall be permitted on properties zoned and
occupied for single family residential uses.

c. The hive(s) shall be located only in the rear yard and a minimum of fifteen feet
(15') from all lot lines.

d. A flyway barrier at least five feet (5') in height, consisting of a solid fence, tall
bushes, the side of your garage or shed, or anything else that forces the bees to
immediately fly up into the air and away from people adjacent to the beekeeping
hives.

e. Prominent signage warning of the presence of bees shall be required on the
property (i.e., gate).
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f. Each hive shall not exceed five feet (5') in height, nor shall the land area 
designated for the hives exceed thirty (30) square feet in total. 

g. A source of water shall be available at all times on the property during the 
beehive's active months (March - November). Humane conditions are to be 
maintained year round. 

h. All areas where beehives are kept shall be clean and well maintained with no 
accumulation of bee combs, wax, etc., around the site. 

i. An initial building-registration permit shall be required for all hives and an 
inspection/approval is required prior to obtaining a beekeeping permit. 

j. A beekeeping permit issued by the City with a one-time fee of twenty five dollars 
($25.00) shall be required. A renewal permit shall be required each year 
thereafter, with no additional fee or building inspection required. 

k. All hives are required to register and maintain requirements with the Illinois 
Department of Agriculture as required.  

l. Sales of honey or anything related to beekeeping are not allowed.  
m. On or prior to May 1, 2021 all nonconforming properties must be brought into 

conformance with the hobby beekeeping regulations of this article. This period is 
for all purposes deemed an appropriate amortization period for each and every 
nonconforming property presently located within the corporate limits of the City 
or hereinafter located within the City by reason of annexation into the City of the 
lot or parcel on which the uses are located. 

 



Community Development Department 
1702 Plainfield Road Darien, Illinois 60561 

Tel: 630-852-8115 Fax: 630-852-4709 

BEEKEEPING, SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING REGULATIONS AND RESTRICTIONS 

ADDRESS: ____________________________________________________________________ 

SUBMIT THE FOLLOWING (intake staff to verify required submittal documents indicated below): 
• Building Permit Application that is filled out and signed by owner
• Bee Hive / Bee Colony Specification Sheet (both pages 1 and 2) filled out and signed by owner
• Legal Plat of Survey that is Scale and indicates All Existing Conditions
• Site Plan (typically, a copy of the plat of survey) indicating the bee hive location and distances to lot lines

and other structures (i.e. house, detached garage, shed, etc.)

Bee Hive and Colony Yard Requirements 
• Maximum of two (2) bee hives/colonies shall be permitted on residential zoning lots containing a

minimum of ten thousand (10,000) square feet as an accessory use-hives/colony yards shall occur only
in rear yards of single family properties.

• The hive(s) shall be located only in the rear yard and a minimum of fifteen feet (15') from all lot lines.
• A flyway barrier at least five feet (5') in height, consisting of a solid fence, tall bushes, the side of your

garage or shed, or anything else that forces the bees to immediately fly up into the air and away from
people adjacent to the beekeeping hives.

• Prominent signage warning of the presence of bees shall be required on the property (i.e., gate).
• Each hive shall not exceed five feet (5') in height, nor shall the land area designated for the hives exceed

thirty (30) square feet in total.
• An initial building-registration permit shall be required for all hives and an inspection/approval is

required prior to obtaining a beekeeping permit.
• A beekeeping permit issued by the City with a one-time fee of twenty five dollars ($25.00) shall be

required. A renewal permit shall be required each year thereafter, with no additional fee or building
inspection required.

Sanitation requirements 
• A source of water shall be available at all times on the property during the beehive's active months

(March - November). Humane conditions are to be maintained year round.
• All areas where beehives are kept shall be clean and well maintained with no accumulation of bee

combs, wax, etc., around the site.
• All hives are required to register and maintain requirements with the Illinois Department of Agriculture

as required.
• Sales of honey or anything related to beekeeping are not allowed.

On or prior to May 1, 2021 all nonconforming properties must be brought into conformance with the 
hobby beekeeping regulations of this article. This period is for all purposes deemed an appropriate 

amortization period for each and every nonconforming property presently located within the corporate 
limits of the City or hereinafter located within the City by reason of annexation into the City of the lot or 

parcel on which the uses are located. 
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         Community Development Department 
      1702 Plainfield Road Darien, Illinois 60561 

Tel: 630-852-8115 Fax: 630-852-4709  
  

 

 

BEEKEEPING PERMIT PERMIT FEE $25.00

ZONING 
DISTRICT

LOT SQ FT*

SIDE (ft) REAR (ft) SIDE (ft) SIDE REAR SIDE

5' TALL 
FLYAWAY 

ZONE

5' TALL 
FLYAWAY 

ZONE

15' 15'
15' Min 

100'

15' Min 

Front Yard 15' 15' Rear Yard

100'

1st Violation 2nd Violation 3rd Violation Revoked Removed

APPROVED BY: DATE:

1.  ADDRESS AND APPLICANT INFORMATION

FULL NAME

ADDRESS

PHONE (H) PHONE (C)

EMAIL

2.  OWNER INFORMATION WHEN APPLICANT IS NOT OWNER

FULL NAME

ADDRESS

PHONE (H) PHONE (C)

EMAIL

3.  PROPERTY INFORMATION (SITE PLAN REQUIRED)

R1     R2     R3     SINGLE FAMILY                                         
DETACHED                                

Applicant and Owner agree to allow City staff personnel to access the property for the purpose of verifying complaince with all 
applicable codes.                                                                                               

BY SIGNING THIS DOCUMENT, I UNDERSTAND AND AGREE TO THE CONDITIONS SET FORTH.

* minimum lot size 10,000 
square feet

# OF COLONIES* * Maximum of 2

4.  COLONY INFORMATION 

15' Min.
House

OFFICE USE ONLY

APPLICANT: DATE:

OWNER: DATE:

SETBACK DISTANCE   1                                                               
(minimum 15' to property line)

SETBACK DISTANCE   2                                                              
(minimum 15' to property line)

5.  VERIFICATION
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Published in pamphlet form by authority of 
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AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE VII OF THE DARIEN CITY CODE, 
 

“HEALTH AND SANITATION” 
 

WHEREAS, residents of the City have expressed interest in raising and engaging in the 

hobby of bee keeping on residential property; and 

WHEREAS, these matters are not addressed by the Darien City Code; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have concluded that allowing such activities on 

certain residential property, subject to appropriate regulation, is reasonable;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DARIEN, DU PAGE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE 

POWERS as follows: 

SECTION 1: Title VII, “Health and Sanitation” Amended. Title VII of the Darien City 

Code, “Health and Sanitation,” is hereby amended by adding the following Chapter 5,  

“Animals”: 

TITLE 7: HEALTH AND SANITATION 
 
Chapter 5: ANIMALS 
 
7-5-2 Hobby Beekeeping 
 
1. DEFINITIONS: 
 
APIARY: A place where one or more bee colonies are kept. 

 
BEE: Any stage of the common domestic honey bee, Apis mellifera species. 

 
BEEKEEPER: A person who owns or has charge of one or more colonies of bees. 
 
BEEKEEPING EQUIPMENT: Anything used in the operation of an apiary, 

including, but not limited to, hive bodies, supers, frames, top and bottom 
boards and extractors. 

 
COLONY (COLONIES): A hive and its equipment and appurtenances, including 

bees, comb, honey, pollen and brood. 
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FLYWAY BARRIER: Barrier that raises the flight path of bees as they come and go 
from a hive. 

 
HIVE: A structure intended for the housing of a bee colony. 
 
HOBBY BEEKEEPING: The keeping of bees subject to the restrictions set forth in 

this chapter. 
 
NUCLEUS COLONY: A small quantity of bees with a queen housed in a smaller 

than usual hive box designed for a particular purpose. 
  
2.   REQUIREMENTS; PERMITS, FEES & PENALTIES 
 
a. Bees and bee hives shall be permitted on residential zoning lots containing 

a minimum of ten thousand (10,000) square feet as an accessory use. 
 

b. A maximum of two (2) hives/colonies shall be permitted on properties 
zoned and occupied for single family residential uses. 
 

c. The hive(s) shall be located only in the rear yard and a minimum of fifteen 
feet (15') from all lot lines. 
 

d. A flyway barrier at least five feet (5’) in height, consisting of a sold fence, 
tall bushes, the side of your garage or shed, or anything else that forces the 
bees to immediately fly up into the air away from people adjacent to the 
beekeeping hives. 
 

e. Prominent signage warning of the presence of bees shall be required on the 
property (i.e., gate). 
 

f. Each hive shall not exceed five feet (5') in height, nor shall the land area 
designated for the hives exceed thirty (30) square feet in total. 
 

g. A source of water shall be available at all times on the property during the 
beehive's active months (March - November). Humane conditions are to be 
maintained year round. 
 

h. All areas where beehives are kept shall be clean and well maintained with 
no accumulation of bee combs, wax, etc., around the site. 
 

i. An initial building-registration permit shall be required for all hives and an 
inspection/approval is required prior to obtaining a beekeeping permit. 
 

j. A beekeeping permit issued by the City with a one-time fee of twenty five 
dollars ($25.00) shall be required. A renewal permit shall be required each 
year thereafter, with no additional fee or building inspection required. 
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k. All hives are required to register and maintain requirements with the Illinois 
Department of Agriculture as required. 
  

l. Sales of honey or anything related to beekeeping are not allowed.  
 

m. On or prior to May 1, 2021 all nonconforming properties must be brought 
into conformance with the hobby beekeeping regulations of this article. This 
period is for all purposes deemed an appropriate amortization period for 
each and every nonconforming property presently located within the 
corporate limits of the City or hereinafter located within the City by reason 
of annexation into the City of the lot or parcel on which the uses are located. 

 
 SECTION 2: Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after 

its passage and approval as provided by law.   

 PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE 

COUNTY, ILLINOIS, this 5th day of October, 2020. 

AYES:   

NAYS:   

ABSENT:   

APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE COUNTY, 

ILLINOIS, this 5th day of October, 2020. 

 

  
  JOSEPH A. MARCHESE, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
  
 JOANNE E. RAGONA, CITY CLERK 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
  
 CITY ATTORNEY 
 



AGENDA MEMO 
City Council  

October 5, 2020 

ISSUE STATEMENT 
Approval of an ordinance amending Title VII of the Darien City Code, “Health and Sanitation” for Chicken 
Fostering. 

Please note, Bee Keeping is presented under a separate agenda memo. 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY-AUGUST 17, 2020 
An increasing number of residents want to raise chickens in urban environments as a hobby or they may 
believe this method of raising chickens for food may be safer or less expensive. Darien currently does 
not regulate the keeping of chickens on residential property, but it is subject to general nuisance rules. 
Recent calls to the city, asking if raising chickens is permitted, prompted the City Council to consider 
an ordinance developed specifically to regulate raising chickens. Preliminary research shows public 
health and nuisance concerns related to backyard chicken can be managed through proper regulations 
and education of owners. Residential chicken ordinances typically address such items as number of 
chickens allowed per property, prohibiting roosters, permitting process, location and size of chicken 
coop on property, registration and sanitary condition requirements. 

Attachment A is a compiled spreadsheet from various municipalities regarding regulations on chicken 
raising. The goal is to create a balanced City ordinance for each and would consist of the following: 

Definitions- Hen-female chicken; domestic fowl raised for egg producing 

Quantities- City Council to determine quantities 
Chickens-Limit to 6 

Additional regulations will be presented to the Committee for consideration and will include the 
following: 

Grandfathering of Existing/Amortization 
Permit through Registration-Right to Access Property 
Setbacks 
Structures 
Prohibited Uses - Home Based Business-Prohibited 
Sanitation 
Violations - Penalties/Fees 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY- SEPTEMBER 28, 2020 - UPDATE FOR COMMITTEE  
At the August 17, 2020, City Council Meeting, Staff was directed to present an ordinance in regards to 
chicken for the Municipal Services Committee. Two residents spoke on the subject; one who owns and 
maintains an existing chicken coop and the second resident lives adjacent to a resident who fosters chickens. 
The resident adjacent to a property with chicken raising further suggested that screening should be required 
along with daily housekeeping of the chicken coop.  

To date Staff has completed the following: 
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· Updated the matrix of various municipalities regarding the fostering of chickens, attached
and labeled as Attachment A, (1 page).

· Met with two residents that currently foster chickens.
· Spoke with two residents that are adjacent to one chicken fosterer. Both residents

commented on privacy screening requirements.
· Updated the correspondences received from residents and non-residents regarding chicken,

attached and labeled as Attachment B, (160 pages).
· Researched municipal ordinances for a City model ordinance.

Attached and labeled as Attachment C, (2 pages) is a proposed model ordinance regarding the fostering of 
chickens. Staff will present each item within the proposed ordinance for consideration or modification. In 
conjunction with the proposed ordinance a handout sheet will be implemented as part of the 
registration/permit process and is attached and labeled as Attachment D. (2 pages) 

Attached and labeled as Attachment E, is the pamphlet form of the Ordinance, pending any modifications. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff is recommending the following consideration from the Municipal Services Committee: 

1. Approval of the proposed ordinance-pending any modifications the item will be presented to
the City Council for approval at the October 5, 2020 meeting.  ORDINANCE

OR

2. Prohibit the fostering of chickens-Discussion-Compliance date   ORDINANCE

UPDATE OCTOBER 5, 2020 UPDATE FOR CITY COUNCIL 
PLEASE NOTE, ALL BACKUP MATERIAL IS ATTACHED AND LABELED AS PRESENTED 
AT THE SEPTEMEBER 28, 2020 MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 

The Municipal Services Committee discussed this item at their September 28, 2020, Municipal Services 
Committee Meeting. The Committee recommended the modifications to the Chicken Ordinance, attached 
and labeled as Attachment C - Municipal Services Committee Revision 

MUNICIPAL SERVICES  
The Municipal Services Committee failed to vote on the proposal due to lack of a second.

ALTERNATE CONSIDERATION 
An alternate decision has been prepared should the Chicken Ordinance receive an unfavorable vote. 

Ordinance-Prohibit any domestic fowl, such as chickens, turkeys, ducks, and geese within the City of Darien 
Corporate Limits.  

DECISION MODE  
This item will be placed on the October 5, 2020 City Council Meeting, New Business for formal 
consideration. 



Attachment A                 

DRAFT 1
Bolingbrook Carol Stream Darien, WI Downers Grove DuPage County  Minneapolis, MN Warrenville West Chicago Westmont Willowbrook Wood Dale Woodridge Darien 

Permit/Licenses

not allowed not specified
yes w/ non 

refundable $15 fee

yes‐$99‐5 yrs.‐only after 
all building permits 

obtained‐proof structure 
complies‐only to single 

family homes

8/18/20 consideration 
of text amendment‐

unknown but could be 
require conditional use 

approval

yes; one year renewable fowl permit ‐ 3 
tiers‐tier 1‐6 hens; tier 2‐7‐15 hens; tier 

3‐16‐30 hens
not allowed

required‐one time permit & 
review fee

not allowed not allowed not allowed
required‐one time permit & 

review fee

Applications yes see above
submit to Community 
Development Director

yes not specified yes

Responsible Officer

code enforcement‐
complaints

not specified
Community Planning & Economic 

Development
not specified

police 
regulated/animal 

control

police 
regulated/animal 

control

Community 
Development/Municipal 

Services

State Registration
compliance with 
State regulation

not specified not specified not specified
compliance with State 

regulation

Inspections
not specified may inspect if deemed necessary city

initial inspection for 
compliance and  inspect if 

deemed necessary
Roosters prohibited prohibited not permitted yes; with permit no prohibited prohibited

# Chickens
4 hens 4 hens  4 hens see permit/licenses 10 6 hens 8

Sale of Eggs not specified not specified
prohibited‐only commercial use; has 

different requirements
not specified prohibited

Enclosures

coop shall be 
elevated 2ft above 

ground;

required‐entirely confined 
at all times  

30ft setback

yes; screened from habitable buildings 
on neighboring property; constructed of 
durable materials & compatible with 
your house & neighboring residential 

properties

confined at all 
time (coop or 

run)

one per property; cannot 
exceed 7ft in height

yes; screened from habitable 
buildings on neighboring 
property; constructed of 

durable materials & 
compatible with your house & 

neighboring residential 
properties

Space per hen
not specified

50'‐no permit             
7'‐permit

10 sq. ft. for each fowl housed in 
outside run 

5ft per hen not to exceed 
50ft

15 x 15 or 225 square feet

Sanitation

cleaned daily‐waste 
disposed of properly

property must be kept 
clean sanitary‐clean once 

every 24 hrs.‐refuse 
disposed of in 

clean/sanitary fashion

chicken litter should be removed 
frequently to prevent odors from 
emitting over property lines‐can be 
double bagged & thrown away or 

composted on‐site; may not be placed 
in recycling 

see rodent 
protection

not allowed to become 
unkempt or unclean; swept 

at least once in 24 hrs.

property must be kept clean 
sanitary‐clean once every 24 
hrs.‐refuse disposed of in 
clean/sanitary fashion

Rodent Protection

food must be stored 
in vermin proof 

container

feed shall be kept in 
rodent‐proof containers

not specified
chicken feed kept 
in rodent proof 

container

enclosure to be 
impenetrable against 

rodents

enclosure to be impenetrable 
against rodents

Nuisance Clause

1st offense‐warning; 
2nd‐$50; 3rd‐12 

months revocation & 
$200 fine

not specified

any coop 3 or more occurrences in 12 
months to receive complaints of noise, 
odor or any other complaint that are 

founded

not specified
1st offense‐warning; 2nd‐$50; 
3rd‐12 months revocation & 

$200 fine

Humane Conditions

no raising of 
chickens for fighting

outlined
provide adequate safeguards to protect 

the fowl
provide adequate safeguards to 

protect the fowl

Slaughtering Restrictions prohibited prohibited prohibited prohibited prohibited

Lot Size unknown unknown unknown not specified 10,000 sq. ft. lot not applicable all single family residential

Zoning

permitted under 
conditional use

not specified administrrative

Location of Enclosures

rear yard only fence 
required

any structure within 
50'of any property line‐
permit must be  obtained

behind front wall of 
house

rear yard 20 ft. away from residential 
neighbor

rear yard only
rear yard only; 10ft from 
dwelling; 20ft from rear & 

side of yard

rear yard 20 ft. away from 
residential neighbor‐fence 

required

Penalties/Fines

nuisance‐animal 
cruelty‐failure to 
obtain permit

not specified
may refuse to grant permit if failure to 
comply with criteria & has the right to 
keep any fees paid by the applicant

2 violations in 1 year 
requires removal of hen 
coop; 3 total violation 

require removal of the hen 
coop

2 violations in 1 year requires 
removal of hen coop; 3 total 
violation require removal of 

the hen coop

Municipal Chicken Regulations Comparative Table



Attachment B

RESIDENT NON-RESIDENT UNKNOWN

2 no opinion on chickens 2

5 1 pro-chickens no specification 6

4 1 pro-chickens w/regulation 5

2 pro-chicken w/no regulation 2

12 1 opposed to chickens 13

8 1 opposed to chickens w/regulations 9
37

PUBLIC COMMENTS - CHICKENS



From: Lynnie Ley
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Chickens and bees
Date: Thursday, August 6, 2020 3:32:00 PM

I do not have chickens or bees, but it has been something I’ve been interested in for years! I
think it would be great if Darien allowed such hobbies.  And good for the Earth if honeybees
were allowed. 



From: mcam9905
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Ordinance
Date: Thursday, August 6, 2020 5:21:09 PM

Hello
DuPage county has an ordinance about chickens.  Plus more chickens means more coyotes which can present all
sorts of problem.  Plus if not properly cared for chickens can carry all sorts of viruses. So yea everyone’s so worried
about covid yet they promote livestock in residential areas.  As far as bees,  I know in school the peanut allergy
people ran the show.  Well there are so many more people allergic to bees and again if not properly cared for can
cause all sorts of problems with residents living close by.  Also raw honey can cause botulism which can be fatal.
Remember eggs are like $1.50 and honey is like 3 bucks.  Let’s not risk other people’s health for simple non
necessities.
Thank you 

Sent from my iPhone



From: Steve Leopoldo
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Chickens
Date: Friday, August 7, 2020 2:23:13 PM

Hello,

We have had chickens for a while within Incorporated Darien.

I'm happy to help answer any questions.

Best,
Steve



From: Heather Conroy
To: Regina Kokkinis
Cc: Paul Jacob Conroy
Subject: In response to Chicken Keeping in Darien
Date: Saturday, August 8, 2020 11:53:48 AM

Hello Regina,

I am a Darien resident since 2016. I belong to the Darien Rotary Club as well as the Darien
Woman's Club, as well as hold committee positions on both. I am also an Executive Board
member, second year, on the Darien Woman's Club.

I currently have 5 chickens and run a 580 member group specifically for Backyard
Chickens with many local area and Darien members. Which if you or others want to
join, we would love to have you see what chicken keeping is all about.

https://www.facebook.com/groups/1811019362460926/?ref=share

I would like to ask if any ordinances with chickens is going to be required, even though we are
respectful adults, then a committee be formed with community members that own chickens,
that would like to work up the ordinances that will now govern what they are doing, from
people that actually do it and understand chickens. The owners would be the best committee
for it. I would love to be a community member on the committee.

Thank you,

Heather Conroy



From: Thomas Belczak
To: Adventure Awaits mom
Cc: Regina Kokkinis; Dan Gombac
Subject: Re: Chicken owner again
Date: Saturday, August 8, 2020 12:11:14 PM

Melissa Goodrich:

I so sorry for your loss, I was unaware. Please accept my sympathies. This chicken issue was
brought to my attention by both your neighbors and yourself, and there will be a resolution
that both sides will need to live with. To be clear, we will not eliminating chickens ( and/or
bees). We will create an ordinance that allows chicken-owners and their neighbors to
peacefully co-exist. Most municipalities, that allow chickens, have regulations and rules
regarding the number, and necessary care for the raising of chickens. We have regulations
regarding dogs & cats, and chickens should be no different.
I am hoping to get input from the neighborhood regarding this issue. Please review the
ordinances that Downers Grove, Illinois & Darien, Wisconsin as an example of how other
municipalities allow & regulate the ownership of chickens. I am no more in favor of
eliminating chicken ownership, as I would be in allowing unlimited and unregulated
ownership. We are looking to create an ordinance that protects the chicken owner without
impairing their neighbors ability to enjoy the use of their own property. Please advise as to
your opinion as to how chickens should be allowed and regulated in a residential
neighborhood. I am sure there are some people that consider chickens “farm animals” with no
place in our community, but I am equally sure that there are people that think chicken
ownership is a safe and wonderful hobby. Our ultimate goal will be to meet in the middle.
Please encourage your friends to email me with their opinions on this issue, as well as
emailing Regina Kokkinis @ rkokkinis@darienil.gov. I’ve attached the latest city posting that
was in this weeks direct connect. If you haven’t signed up for Darien’s Direct Connect, I
suggest that you do, as it provides a weekly synopsis of what’s happening in Darien. You can
sign up at darien.il.us

Thomas Belczak
Alderman Ward 7
7025 Beechnut Lane
Darien, Illinois
630-418-2046.

City Considers Ordinance on Chickens and Beekeeping

In response to increased resident interest in raising chickens and
beekeeping in Darien, the City is gathering information and
considering an ordinance to specifically regulate raising chickens
and bees. The City does not currently have an ordinance that
addresses urban chickens or beekeeping, but these activities are
subject to general nuisance rules. The City recognizes the interest in
raising birds and bees for food and/or as a hobby. Our preliminary
research shows that proper regulation (e.g. number of animals,
prohibiting roosters, sanitary requirements) and education can help
residents enjoy these hobbies without disturbing their neighbors.

If you currently have chickens or beehives on your property, please
let us know as we are trying to determine the number of residents



impacted by a new ordinance. Please also send any feedback or
questions on this topic to Regina Kokkinis at rkokkinis@darienil.gov.

On Aug 8, 2020, at 10:21 AM, Adventure Awaits mom
<melissagoodridge91@ > wrote:

Good morning sir,

I saw the article about my chickens this morning.  This brings me great sadness
that you are trying to create legislation to eliminate chickens in our beautiful
community.  I got rid of my rooster immediately after your notice.  I have 6 hens
now. My family has been hit hard with covid. The chickens provide is essential
food, just like our garden. They also provide essential learning and life skills for
my young children who are homeschooled. I'm not sure if we have personally
met, but I'd love to talk more and meet in person.  I know this neighborhood talks
so I'm sure you heard of the family who lost their baby to a tragic accident last
summer  ... thats us! Our beautiful baby Layla passed away. Ever since we have
tried to find outlets to our grieving and mental health.  The chickens bring great
joy to our family and the last thing my young sons need is more loss. So please
stop pursuing to hurt my family and let's all just live and let live. I'm not hurting
anyone.

Thank you for understanding,

Your neighbors Melissa and family



Daniel Gombac 
Director of Municipal Services 
630-353-8106 

Joseph A. Marchese 

Celebrating “50” Years!  

DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT 



From: lgb110@
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Chickens and Bee Keeping Ordinance
Date: Saturday, August 8, 2020 3:03:34 PM

I do not want raising chickens and bees in backyards to be allowed in Darien.  No exceptions to this rule.  This
hobby should only be allowed in rural areas where there are large backyards or a distance between property lots.  I
am totally against allowing this.  We live in a townhome with very small backyards.  Please take into consideration
the large number of townhomes and condominiums in our community if this Ordinance is allowed.

Thank you,

Jim and Linda Banich
8517 Evergreen Lane



From: Tamara Fredriksen
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Chicken/Bee Ordinance
Date: Saturday, August 8, 2020 6:38:51 PM

Dear Ms. Kokkinis,

I understand that the city of Darien is considering a new ordinance regarding chickens and bees. My family and I
have been residents (67th & Western) since the fall of 2013.
We do not currently have chickens or bees, but have been considering them for the past several years. We have three
young children and I feel that raising chickens and possibly bees could be a wonderful learning experience for them,
in addition to additional food sources (fresh eggs & honey).
One of our neighbors (only 2 doors down) has several chickens and if my husband hadn’t been invited over to see
them, we would have no idea they are there (no noise, smells, disturbances of any kind).
I believe that an ordinance could be helpful in that it can give residents clear information on what is/is not allowed
regarding animal keeping within our city.  That said, I believe it is important to ensure that the guidelines are not so
narrow that they make it difficult for most residents to keep these animals if they so wish.
As a side note, you may also want to reconsider our city’s stance on domestic animals as well. I know that currently
we are allowed up to three animals (dogs/cats), but I think it would be beneficial to allow up to four. We currently
have two cats (we got them at the same time as kittens) and when the time comes would like to get 2 more kittens
together so they have a playmate their own age.
Thank you for your time and consideration.

Sincerely,
Tamara Fredriksen

Sent from my iPhone



From: ELISABETH MONAHAN
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: DARIEN BACKYARD CHICKENS
Date: Monday, August 10, 2020 10:49:12 AM

Good Morning and Happy Monday-

I am writing to express my opinions on backyard chicken keeping and beekeeping-
One of the reasons I moved to Darien was because there were not regulations
against keeping backyard chickens.
My family and I bought 6 hens this spring to raise as pets. I would be devastated if
Darien would regulate against my pets or request that I reduce the amount of hens I
have.

ROOSTERS: Personally, I do not think roosters should be allowed due to the volume
and frequency of their crows. My understanding is the current stand in Darien on
chickens is if they are not loud they are ok, basically saying if you have a rooster you
are going to get in trouble and need to rehome the rooster. That being said, chickens
do not have external genitalia, and even professionals are accurate only about 80-
90% of the time. That means you can pay extra to have the hatchery send you only
girls, but still end up with a boy on accident. Often you do not know for sure if you
have a boy until it crows at about 3-4 months old. Now comes the process to rehome
which can take a few days to a few weeks at the most. So even if Darien passes an
ordinance saying ONLY HENS.... you will still have the rare rooster crowing for a
week or two before it is rehomed. And I would not be surprised if a few of those
owners request to keep them because they have been attached to them for months.
A simple no and reference to noise ordinance should be sufficient to speed along the
rehoming process.

NUMBER OF HENS:  Hens are small animals, the size of 6 chickens combined easily
only equals one dog. Most towns that initially started with allowing 4 hens are moving
up to allowing 6 hens. The size of a coop/run for 4 hens and for 6 hens is the virtually
the same.

LIVING CONDITIONS: Most owners take care to have safe, clean and odor free
coop/runs for their pets. As with any pet owner, some are not good at that upkeep.
Those isolated incidents should be investigated after complaints received, just as you
would with dogs or other pets kept in the backyard that are being neglected.

BEEKEEPING: This is on my bucket list of things to do in my future backyard.
Unfortunately, I live next to a school so I will not attempt my hand at beekeeping until
I move.

So, in summary, I think the current allowance of pet chickens as long as you don't get
a noise/ odor complaint should remain. Even if you regulate chickens to just a few
hens, you will still have the occasional complaint call about accidental rooster and the
occasional neglectful pet owner call.



Please keep me informed of the status of this ordinance review.
Thank you.

Elisabeth Monahan
1938 Manning Road
Darien IL 60561



From: Elisabeth Monahan
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Re: DARIEN BACKYARD CHICKENS
Date: Monday, August 10, 2020 11:00:39 AM

Attaching some pics from my yard.











On Aug 10, 2020, at 10:49 AM, ELISABETH MONAHAN
<lizzy.monahan@ > wrote:

Good Morning and Happy Monday-

I am writing to express my opinions on backyard chicken keeping and
beekeeping-
One of the reasons I moved to Darien was because there were not
regulations against keeping backyard chickens.
My family and I bought 6 hens this spring to raise as pets. I would be
devastated if Darien would regulate against my pets or request that I reduce
the amount of hens I have.

ROOSTERS: Personally, I do not think roosters should be allowed due to the
volume and frequency of their crows. My understanding is the current stand in
Darien on chickens is if they are not loud they are ok, basically saying if you
have a rooster you are going to get in trouble and need to rehome the rooster.
That being said, chickens do not have external genitalia, and even
professionals are accurate only about 80-90% of the time. That means you
can pay extra to have the hatchery send you only girls, but still end up with a
boy on accident. Often you do not know for sure if you have a boy until it
crows at about 3-4 months old. Now comes the process to rehome which can



take a few days to a few weeks at the most. So even if Darien passes an
ordinance saying ONLY HENS.... you will still have the rare rooster crowing
for a week or two before it is rehomed. And I would not be surprised if a few
of those owners request to keep them because they have been attached to
them for months. A simple no and reference to noise ordinance should be
sufficient to speed along the rehoming process.

NUMBER OF HENS:  Hens are small animals, the size of 6 chickens
combined easily only equals one dog. Most towns that initially started with
allowing 4 hens are moving up to allowing 6 hens. The size of a coop/run for
4 hens and for 6 hens is the virtually the same.

LIVING CONDITIONS: Most owners take care to have safe, clean and odor
free coop/runs for their pets. As with any pet owner, some are not good at
that upkeep. Those isolated incidents should be investigated after complaints
received, just as you would with dogs or other pets kept in the backyard that
are being neglected.

BEEKEEPING: This is on my bucket list of things to do in my future backyard.
Unfortunately, I live next to a school so I will not attempt my hand at
beekeeping until I move.

So, in summary, I think the current allowance of pet chickens as long as you
don't get a noise/ odor complaint should remain. Even if you regulate
chickens to just a few hens, you will still have the occasional complaint call
about accidental rooster and the occasional neglectful pet owner call.

Please keep me informed of the status of this ordinance review.
Thank you.

Elisabeth Monahan
1938 Manning Road
Darien IL 60561



From: Sue Schemmer
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Chickens and bees
Date: Tuesday, August 11, 2020 6:04:57 PM

I think people should be able to have chickens and bees on their private property in Darien.  I
have neither but bees are beneficial to us all and raising chickens is a great hobby.

I can understand not liking roosters but the owner of the chickens got rid of the rooster.

Some people complaining about the bees probably do not know the difference between honey
bees and yellow jackets.  All over the Midwest, we are seeing an increase of yellow jackets
this year probably due to the weather.  Honey bees are harmless if not harassed.

Sue Schemmer



From: James Freidag
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Chicken ordinance
Date: Wednesday, August 12, 2020 9:04:27 PM

I’m writing to have you consider  A few concerns when you create an ordinance

I am writing in confidence as we live next door to Melissa and Jim Harvatt  Our home is 1009 ironwood Ave.
Their backyard is our side yard  I do not want to cause trouble.  They are nice people.
My cell is  if you want to call to ask specific questions.  When you look at our home - your eyes are
drawn to their stuff in their yard including a big coop- the outside playhouse for the chickens when they are out of
the cage

This year we have had an unbelievable amount of flies.  We had to put up fly traps.  We can’t eat outside without
flies bothering us. ( more so than any of the 37 years we have lived here)

 I wish there  was some ordinance for keeping the cage clean and proper disposal of the “ waste” to prevent flies
and odor  They did get rid of their rooster which was crowing early am.  But they have 6 chickens.  ( It’s not a
country sized lot- the coop is near our house).  If they had the coop under their deck it wouldn’t be such a problem
and look neater. Or a privacy fence along the lot line

The chickens are let out of their cage and allowed to roam.  That itself doesn’t bother me -if they stayed in their own
yard.  ( it could  be prevented with solid fencing).  They have a coop but get the chickens out to wander  and eat
bugs etc. and occasionally clean the cage by putting another layer of straw). ( the chickens don’t know where the
property line is).  If you drive on ironwood you will see what I mean

I would suggest a limit of No more than 4 female chickens allowed.  Unless you have an acre or more of land.
Without limits they could Raise  50 If they wanted

Please drive by to see for yourself.  Look at other ordinances. Please require a privacy fence.  Require cleaning to
prevent rodents- flies- bugs and  to reduce the smells.

I would prefer for you to see this for yourself verses having us brought up.  Her side neighbor Karen is also upset as
her bedroom window is near her yard and a chicken laying an egg can be as loud as a rooster !
Address SMELL CLEANLINESS. # allowed. FENCING  Roaming chickens not fenced in.

If you look at who signed the ordinance you will see most names are NOT in Darien.
Marie
Sent from my iPhone



From: Jim Freidag
To: Regina Kokkinis
Cc: Tom Belczak; Marie Freidag
Subject: Chickens in Darien.
Date: Thursday, August 13, 2020 12:32:57 PM

Chickens and other outdoor animals need to be regulated. We are directly influenced by the ugly coop on Seminole.
I am sure others in Darien are negatively impacted also.
1. This coop is 20’ from our house and 30’ from our driveway. The first thing we see turning into our driveway is
this coop.
2.  The resale of our house is and will be directly affected by this structure. Probably 10 to 50 thousand.
3.  FLIES!  We have lived on Ironwood for 36 years and never until this summer have we had massive amounts of
flies in and around our house. To the point we keep a fly seater out at all times, we have had to hang fly strips in the
house(great decoration when company comes over), and I have had to put fly traps outside on our deck so it is
tolerable when we are outside. I can show you how many flies are in a trap in just 4 to 5 days. Gross.
4.  SMELL!  We use our deck and outside backyard extensively. Now, we have gone inside a couple of times
because the odor was bad. We eat on our deck a lot. We have chose to reduce outdoor dining.
5.  Noise. Though the Rooster is gone, have you heard hens laying eggs? We no longer enjoy having our windows
open at night while sleeping. Between the clucking and smell.

Coop and chickens need to be regulated.
1. A permit should be required (Fee)
2. A maximum number of hens (4)
3.  An annual veterinary check should be required (it is for dogs and cats)
4. Coops (cages) should be required To be cleaned on a daily basis.
5.  Chickens (non-domestic) animals should be required to be in a cage 24/7.
6.  An 8 foot solid fence that blocks views of the coop from neighbors yards should be required.
7.  Coops (cages) should be required to be at least 10? from property lines and have same to similar building code
requirements as a shed in Darien.

Thank you for allowing me to express my opinion.

Sent from my iPhone
Jim Freidag



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Chicken ordinance OR Ban chickens in Darien
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:06:24 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: Marie Freidag <mariepchef@ >
Date: 9/5/20 6:40 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Re: Chicken ordinance OR Ban chickens in Darien

We are out of town for the weekend. Thank you for stopping by.  Will be home by Monday night.  I’m glad you could see for yourself. I appreciate that so much. My
cell is 630-712-7645 

Sent from my iPhone

> On Sep 5, 2020, at 4:42 PM, Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov> wrote:
>
> Marie,
> I stopped by your home this afand rang the bell.
>
>
>
> Joe Kenny
> Darien Alderman Ward 3
> 1605 Holly Ave
> Darien, IL 60561
> (630)334-2858.
>
>
> Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.
>
>
>
> -------- Original message --------
> From: Marie Freidag <mariepchef@
> Date: 9/5/20 2:16 PM (GMT-06:00)
> To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
> Subject: Re: Chicken ordinance OR Ban chickens in Darien
>
> Thank you Joe.  I’m very upset by the thought of 8 chickens.  The only other suburb that allows that is Naperville  A min 30’ set back from lot line. 6’ barrier
along the lot line AND 6’ landscaping of the coop at 75% is required in Naperville!!!!
>
> It’s obvious to me that probably the Chicken so called  expert-  heather conboy wrote this ordinance so that our neighbor could have her postage size back yard of
20x30 and a huge coop and that She could keep all of her chickens  and get 2 more!!  PLEASE. Visit our property 1009 Ironwood Ave to look for yourself.
>
> Also PLEASE LOOK INTO the kinds of illnesses can be transmitted from  residential chickens.  Right now Melissa is keeping her yard cleaner than I’ve ever
seen.  I’m very alarmed at what could happen when 8 neglected chickens live on top of us.
>
> My suggestion is either to ban chicken  altogether or LIMIT TO NO MORE  than 4.
> The fee of 25 will not cover Darien INSPECTING. Those coops. If anything it should be a 25 fee plus a 25 per chicken fee or 125  for 4
>
> Please promise us that you will drive by our home.  You are welcome to go on our back deck and see how close our table is to the coop as well. Thank you
>
> Sent from my iPhone
>
>> On Sep 5, 2020, at 11:07 AM, Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov> wrote:
>>
>> Marie,
>>
>> I have received your email as well as a handful of other Darien residents. I will use all of the feedback provided to make an informed decision when it's time for
the City Council to vote on an ordinance.
>>



>> Sincerely,
>>
>>
>> Joe Kenny
>> Darien Alderman Ward 3
>> 1605 Holly Ave
>> Darien, IL 60561
>> (630)334-2858.
>>
>>
>> Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.
>>
>>
>>
>> -------- Original message --------
>> From: Marie Freidag <mariepchef@ >
>> Date: 9/4/20 3:16 PM (GMT-06:00)
>> To: jmarhese@darienil.gov
>> Subject: Chicken ordinance OR Ban chickens in Darien
>>
>> To whom it may concern.
>> Chicken Ordinance
>> Darien “was” a nice place to live for 37 years.
>> I am hoping that Darien will either consider banning chickens altogether or create an ordinance that values the rights of residences who border a property where a
chicken coop is harbored.  A proper ordinance is called for so that property values will not decrease and public health will not be compromised. A proper ordinance is
necessary for a suburban community where houses are near to each other.  Darien is not a farm community.
>> Communities that surround Darien either ban chickens or restrict the # of chickens to under 4 hens.  In addition other communities regulate fencing, cleanliness of
coops, size and look of coops,  disposal of “waste”,  how close they can be to neighbors, registration of animals , permits, liability insurance, and many require that
adjoining neighbors sign off and agree to the chicken coop.  In Burr Ridge you must have a minimum of an acre lot and can only have 4 chickens, In Downers Grove
you need the permission of  100% of your neighbors and can only have 4.  Chickens are banned in Woodridge, Hinsdale, Elmhurst, Lombard, Lisle, Clarendon Hills,
Oak Brook, and Willowbrook.
>> Our neighbors who rent their home, put up a large coop in their backyard which is our side yard and front yard. They have recently added an “addition” onto their
coop without getting a permit. They currently have 6 chickens. There is NO fence of any kind between the coop and our house and our outdoor deck. The chickens
are allowed to roam outside their pen and wander onto our property, the sidewalk and they have been as far as 3 houses down from theirs.  At a minimum we ask that
a property that has a coop must have privacy fencing at least 6’ in height.  That would work to allow the animals to stay on their own property as well as preserve the
integrity of the homes nearby.  In addition there needs to be regulations of daily cleaning and disposing of the “waste” chickens create.  A limitation to the size of the
coop and that the coop must be aesthetically pleasing. IF someone fails to abide by the rules then there must be some repercussions and fines for not abiding by them.
>> I know that their corner lot- like many in Hinsbrook subdivision of Darien have the unusual property of the back yard- being a neighbor’s side yard.  In Hinsbrook
most corner lots have put up a privacy fence- not because of chickens but so that they can enjoy their back yard without being on top of their neighbors.  As you can
imagine- having a chicken coop makes that arrangement even more awkward.
>> You need a permit to build a shed.  There should be a permit needed to build a coop. There needs to be a limit of coop size and how close it can be to a neighbor’s
property line.
>> Looking at Western Springs as an example of an ordinance- Roosters are banned and they are allowed up to 4 hens.  Chickens are not allowed to roam.  The
chickens must be in a fenced yard. There are regulations on how the shelter should look and how close it should be to the property line and there is a fee.  Prior to
putting in a shelter – the owner has to submit plans – and have required inspections.
>> In researching chicken ordinances of other suburbs – there is not one that I found that would allow a configuration such as the coop that currently exists next to our
property.
>> IF Darien does not ban chickens- and IF Chickens are allowed- I would ask that they be
>> * limited to 4 hens and ban roosters.
>> * require a privacy fence that is a minimum of 6’
>> *That the owners of the chickens carry liability insurance specifically covering their  chickens.
>> *That inspections must take place and that the City of Darien have the means to inspect and license chickens and revoke them if non- compliance is found.
>> *That there be a licensing fee and permit required
>> * That the coop must be cleaned daily, and that all the waste be disposed of in a metal container with a lid.
>> *That the food be stored in a metal container with a lid
>> *That steps are taken to avoid infestation of rodents, flies, and illnesses associated with chickens.
>> *And that failure to abide by these rules would require the owners to get rid of the chickens and coop.
>>
>> I am saddened at having to appeal to you.  As a 37 year resident of Darien.  As a 30 plus year member of Darien Woman’s Club, and an active member of my
community- I am uncomfortable having to complain and ask for some help so that the value of our property is preserved.  There is a time and a place for barn
animals.  I know raising chickens is a new fad.  Please look into the ramifications of chickens in a residential area.  There are many things to consider and possibly
banning chickens altogether might be a more appropriate stand.
>>
>> Marie Freidag
>> 1009 Ironwood Ave, Darien IL
>>
>> mariepchef@ <mailto:mariepchef
>>
>> --
>> Marie Freidag
>> Independent Senior Executive Director at The Pampered Chef
>>
>> mariepchef@ <mailto:mariepchef@ >
>>

>
>>



From: Whitney Kieca
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Backyard Chickens
Date: Thursday, August 13, 2020 1:23:47 PM

Hi Regina,
I saw the post in Darien's e-newsletter about backyard chickens and wanted to
email to let you know we have 4 egg-laying hens. They are confined to their coop
most of the day and get about 10 to 20 minutes out of their cage in our fully fenced
backyard to eat grass while my husband or I supervise them.

If you need to know anything else, please let me know.
Thanks,
Whitney Kieca
7210 Summit Rd.



From: Jennifer Murtoff
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: chicken ordinance
Date: Saturday, August 15, 2020 11:44:04 AM

Hello,
My name is Jennifer and I saw on Facebook that Darien is considering an ordinance on
chickens and bees.
Since 2008, I have had a business in the Chicagoland area as a chicken consultant, helping
families and organizations with their flocks, giving classes, and advising on best practices. I
would welcome the opportunity to bring my experience to Darien's ordinance process. I have
consulted/testified regarding ordinances for a number of municipalities, including Baltimore,
MD, and I'm well versed in the needs of chickens, owners, and neighbors, as well as with the
common concerns that arise around chicken keeping.

In addition, I know a number of beekeepers through the Chicago urban agriculture movement,
and have a hive on my property.

Darien aldermen may be interested in attending the Chicago Coop and EcoYards Tour, Sept.
19-20. This annual event allows participants the opportunity to see urban and suburban coops
and talk with the owners about their experiences.

You can find my blog at the link below.

Thank you for your consideration!
Jennifer
----------------------------
Jennifer Murtoff
Home to Roost Urban Chicken Consulting 
My LinkedIn Profile



From: Dan Gombac
To: Kristina Nemetz; Regina Kokkinis
Cc: Joseph Hennerfeind; Bryon Vana; Tom Belczak; Joe Marchese
Subject: RE: Concern | Chicken Coop on Seminole & Ironwood
Date: Tuesday, August 18, 2020 2:37:33 PM
Attachments:

Good afternoon Kristina,

 

Thank you for your e-mail and we will keep you posted regarding the upcoming discussions.

 

Regina,

 

Please add this e-mail as backup.

 

Daniel Gombac
Director of Municipal Services
630-353-8106
To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic newsletter:
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT
Follow the link and subscribing is simple!
https://darien.il.us/reference-desk/directconnect-enews
 

From: Kristina Nemetz <knemetz@  

Sent: Tuesday, August 18, 2020 2:25 PM

To: Dan Gombac <dgombac@darienil.gov>

Subject: Concern | Chicken Coop on Seminole & Ironwood

 

Hi Dan,

 

I hope this emails finds you well. As you can tell from my work signature below, I am all too aware of what municipal

government looks like during a pandemic and especially in regards to resident concerns.

 

I grew up at 1009 Ironwood Ave. I lived in Darien from 1982-2002, 2005-2007, and again in 2017 (while we refinished our

home). My parents are Jim & Marie Freidag. I understand this chicken thing is causing quite a stir. My email today is to not

only express my sincere concern for this ordinance to be put in place, but for it to be developed to protect the adjacent
neighbors of both this chicken coop and others within the City limits. A privacy fence needs to be a part of this ordinance

and all current chicken owners should have to comply, nothing should be grandfathered in. This fencing should be at the

expense of the chicken owners not the neighboring properties attempting to protect the value of their homes.

 

When the chicken coop was going up, I had my reservations, but my parents are truly good people and amazing neighbors

and did their best to be supportive. They even attempted to mediate several times between other neighbors who were

bothered by this. They have taken to playing with the kids next door (Melissa’s), hanging out with them with the mom goes

MIA (lots of on record mental issues), invites them over for bonfires, they even helped Melissa and Jim try a new business

and they FUNDED their start-up kit. They still to this day snow plow the entire corner of Seminole and Ironwood, even in

their mid-60s, because they are just GOOD PEOPLE. Did you even hear my dad last night offer to build the fence himself at

his expense if the City would authorize him to? Unfortunately in the aftermath of last night, Melissa Goodrich has taken to

social media to shame my parents publicly which is total uncalled for and is completely out of line. You mentioned

Mediation at the meeting last night. I wanted to thank you in advance for taking this into consideration as at this point I am

thinking it is going to be necessary. I am grateful for City staff such as yourself who is willing to help stop situations from

getting worse.

 

You have a renter ridiculing and publically name calling, a longtime resident, senior couple. It is shameful and puts Darien in

a negative spotlight. I am honestly concerned for my parents well-being. She is not mentally stable. Her social media posts



are irrational, her recalling of events is false, her argument lacks any sound understanding of civilian rights. In one post she

cited this not being about the chickens, but about her “right as a millennial”. Many days the woman does not come out of

her house and her parents never leave her alone in the house unless her kids are gone. She has been diagnosed bi-polar,

police records probably will confirm this dating back several years even prior to her living on Seminole Drive on the other

side of Darien. The yard is rarely ever kept clean. Honestly since she called the Darien Patch to come out for the story, the

yard looks the nicest it has ever looked. Apparently it is “show time”, now that the media is involved.

Unfortunately for my parents, the media will stop covering this at some point and the yard without the restrictions of a

privacy fence will go back status quo. I hate the thought that someone else’s actions will devalue the hard work and

investment my parents have made into their house that they have called home since 1982. Let alone this could happen

elsewhere in town to another family or someone who isn’t willing to speak up. When Melissa stated last night having

chickens in the neighborhood would “attract younger residents” she is FAR from the truth. If you drove up to a home to look

at it and your future neighbor’s yard looked like the property that Melissa Goodrich lives at PLUS it had a chicken coop,

would you even go in the house for a tour? I am technically in that “millennial” age she is speaking of and I most definitely

would not even get out of my car no matter how great a house might look on paper.

Dan, I know your job is not easy. I know the chickens are probably causing headaches that were not required in a time like

this. I thank you in advance for your service to Darien and for your attention to resident concerns. I have worked with a lot

of boards and councils in career and it was nice to know that Darien seemed to have many even-keeled individuals working

and representing the City.

Thank you for your time and consideration. Please reach out with any questions.

Kristina Nemetz



From: Dan Gombac
To: Regina Kokkinis
Cc: Mary Sullivan; Joseph Hennerfeind
Subject: FW: Fly the coop
Date: Tuesday, August 25, 2020 10:24:09 AM

Please add to b/u for MS

 

Daniel Gombac
Director of Municipal Services
630-353-8106
To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic newsletter:
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT
Follow the link and subscribing is simple!
https://darien.il.us/reference-desk/directconnect-enews
 

From: Mary Sullivan <msullivan@darienil.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, August 25, 2020 7:36 AM

To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>; Tom Belczak <tbelczak@darienil.gov>; Eric Gustafson

<egustafson@darienil.gov>; Dan Gombac <dgombac@darienil.gov>; Joseph Hennerfeind

<jhennerfeind@darienil.gov>

Cc: Joe Marchese <jmarchese@darienil.gov>; Bryon Vana <bvana@darienil.gov>

Subject: Fwd: Fly the coop

Good day.  I wanted all of you on Municipal Services to have this email from a resident
regarding the Chicken ordinance that will be developed.  Thank you.

Mary Sullivan
City of Darien Alderperson Ward 5

Begin forwarded message:

From: Kelly Glisan <
Subject: Fly the coop
Date: August 17, 2020 at 11:49:19 AM CDT
To: Mary Sullivan <msullivan@darienil.gov>

Alderwoman Sullivan,
Foremost thank you for your service to the community and in particular
Carriage Hill/Tara Hill.

I am writing in opposition to allowing chicken coops on the side of houses.
Frankly, I was astonished it is even being taken seriously to allow these in
the middle of subdivisions.  If members of the community want to raise
farm animals it is a matter of the most appropriate location. This middle of
a cookie cutter residential subdivision is not the place, this is not the



community for them.

With some people it is all about them, not about the neighbor or the
community. Darien is at a cross roads, do we want to be an upscale
community like Hinsdale and Clarendon Hills or do we want to be a
dump?  If a neighbors house is for sale at half a million dollars is their
house worth more or less money if their neighbor has a rickety dump of a
chicken coop 3 feet off your lot line on the side of the house?

It think both answers are self-evident truths.  My neighbor has sunk a ton
of money in their forever home, we have also. The homes are built lot line
to lot line to squeeze the largest home possible on the smallest lot
because property in Darien is so expensive.  Talk about "disrupting
neighbors" both of us would freak out if the other put some rickety chicken
coop on the side of the house off the lot line or even the rear. While we do
not have the proverbial "million dollar views", we probably do have around
$750K. views.

Lastly, I will readily admit I am never the smartest guy in the room, but
even I can see through and call BS to the disingenuous claim that
because of job insecurity it is necessary to grow your own eggs to defray
costs.  Really?  Members of the community can generally catch a dozen
eggs on sale for around $0.70, seventy cents a dozen.  How many eggs
can you really eat in a week?  Someone that can't find the seventy cents
in the couch cushion  could go to OLMC Food Pantry if the seventy cents
a week really makes the difference between going hungry or not.  In
addition, it probably costs more in feed, vett fees, time to grow eggs
yourself than it costs to buy them.  My wife loves to bake, it costs her $50
to make a cake from scratch that Wallmart sells for $20.  I am not buying
their contention that food insecurity is driving them to produce their own
eggs, they must really think we are..... brain dead.

I urge you to express vocal opposition and vote No to allowing chicken
coops on the side of houses.  There is a good article  noted below.

Addie is graduating UofI at Semester. She had a strong MCAT score in
the mid 90% so is now hoping to get into a medical school somewhere to
continue her education, but it is competitive we will have to see and hope.
Is Bridget graduating this year? Does Bridget have plans for graduate
school or will she be entering the workforce?  Bridget is a great kid, you an
Mark did a great job parenting.

https://www.thehappychickencoop.com/why-you-should-not-get-chickens/

Kindest Regards,
Kelly Glisan



����������	
����
��
�
������������
������
�����������
���������
�������������������� ��!�"��������#�$�%���
&��

������������'����
��������
�����'��
����&���
�� ���������������(��&������������&�)
�&����'&����������(

*����������+

,(��&���� �
�-�*
�
�
�������������
������&�)
�&�.

/�(�&�
������ ��
���&�����
�������
����������(��
�������������
����&� �����
����&������&������������
����
����������

*�����
���-��&�0��1����������+

#(���
��&��������'����'�����'��
��������
���&�������!!2��
&� ��
����
����&���������(�&���
+

	��
�3����*��������������(������
��&����������456�7889�:;<:784=+�	�����0��-�����������&���
�(&�*�������'

�
�������
��(
���&���
&�� ��
��(�&��
�����������&������(���
������
����&��-���&��'���'�����������&����-�&����������

������'��
������+

>;<:784=�>?4�@8�AB984=<C8

	
������
���3�&�'���
����-����������
���������
��DEFG���&���&� ��
�&���&����������(�������������1���������

������'��
������+

�
����''����-����������������
&�����+

#(���
��&��
��������������
����(&�*���&��� �����
&��������-����������
������������
����&�
���D�!!+

� �

� �
��
��&��
�&�$���*��H�%���
&���H�����������	
����


�
�
������������
������

I��' ������'��
������ ����������

I&���� ����� J
���



���������	
���
����������


������������������������������������������
����������������������������

�����������������������������������
�����������������������������������
������������������������������
��

���������� �������
����!�������������
����������������������������������
�������"���������
������
������#
���


������#������$������������%��$������������������
�������&��������������
����������
����������������
�������'


����������������������
����������������������

����
���
������'�������������������$�������(������������������������������������

)*+,-+./0�12�3++45/

6789:;�9<�=;><?@A<<B

C��������������������
���������!������������������������
��������������&
�������

6DD�EFGD



���������	
������
��
����������������
�������������
�����������������������������������������������

�������������������������������������������������
���������������������������������
���
��������������
���

��
�������������

�������������������
����������

����������������
������������������������������������������������������

��
������������������������������������� !��������������
������
��
��
�"!�
�������
���������������������#$

�������

���������������������
�
������
��������������������������������
�
�
�����%�&�'������������(����

)
�����
�����������������������������������
�����
������������
�����(����
����
�������
�������������������
���

��������
���
����

*+,�-.///0�123456

7��������������
������������
������
�
�����
������
��
����������������
���������������
���������������
���������

��
��
����8

���
��������������������������������
������
�����������������������
�����������
�������������������������������



�
��
�����������������������������
���������
����������������
����������



�������������	�
	����
������������
��	���	����	���
�
������
���
���������
���	�
����������������
�����
�

����
�
�
������
��
����
��
�����
����
���	����
������
������
�
�������
��������	�

��������������������
�����
�����	�������
��������������
��
��	����������
�����������
�������
���������
����������

�
	������
�����������������
 

!���
�����
��
���
������������������
��������	��
��������
��
��"���������������������
���������������


��
���
��������	��������	
������#�����	��
����������
������������	���	
��������������
�������	����
������������
�

����������
�����������	���������
��	�����������
�����	
�����	�
���	�������	��������� 

!����	���	
���������
��������������������	�
���
��

$%&'()*�+,-.'./,�+'0,
12314�567�89�:,';�<=>,&

?,@,/0�A%'.�BC%D.0

EFGHIGFJK�6FLMKNJ

OPP9QRRR

S



���������	
���
��	
��
�����	�
��	�����
��	��
�
���������������
��		���������������������	�����
������	������

�	��������
�	����
����������������������
�	����
	���������	����������������	������
�	��
�

�
�
�����������	
���
����
���
������������
�����	�����
��	��
��������
	�������
�����	���������������
������


������
�����	���
��
��
�	���
���
��	
��������
��� ��	��
�
���
����������������
��!

"#$�%&�'#()�"*+,-./

����	��
��������	����������
�	����
�����	�����	����
���	����
�����
�������
���	�
�����	��������
������
 �������



	��	������
��

������
�����
����
�����������������
��
��
��������
��
�������
�	���
�	
��������
�
�������	

��
���	����

��
����	�������
�������
��

�����������	�
���
������������������
	�����	��	�	��
��� �������	�
��	����
���������

�
�������
���
�	
��
������
����	���
�����	��
������������
�
����������������
���

���

����������������
�������
���	����
��������

��
��������������
�������������	������������
����	���	�����
���	��

0#�'#(�"+1*�+�2+34(5�6,+7/

8���
�����
�	������
�	����
��������
�������
���9	��
�	���������
���
��

����������	����������

���������������
�����	�������
������	�����������	���	�������
��	�����������
:���������������������������	��� �	�

�������������
�����������	
�:

����	���	
;������������� ������
��	��������������	���	�������
�����
������������
	����	������������������
��	����

����
��
��
�������
�����������������
����������
����������
����������
����	
��	���	�������	�������

��
���������
������������
������
����<8����������������������
��������
���	��������
���
������
���	�

����
�	������;
����������������	
����=�����
����
���������������
���	�����	����������������	��
	�������
�

������

��
��	���	��

����	����������	���
����������������	�����������	������>	�
��	����	����
�����
�
��
��������

�����
	��=�����	
�

9	��������	�����
��	����	���	����������������
��
���������������	
��	����
�����������
��
������
	������	����

	�

����

������

"*7&�?-#5�'#(�@#A7B�C7�D+3+-A#7&

����	�������������	�	
�������	
��	��
�����	�������������	����
������� 
�������
�	�������������

�

E	�����	������������������	������
 ����
��	��������		���	��
	�����	�������������	
�
����
!

F�����
�
����
���
��������������
���	������������ 
����
��������������	��������	����
������������	�
�
��������
�

������������
��	���������
���
��������
�
�������
�����	����
���������	������
�



��������		
������	�

������
�	��
��	�	�����	�
����
������������
����
�	�������	�
��������������������
�����

����
��

�����
����
�
�	����
�	��������	�����������
����
�	�������	�
������
���������	�


���
�������������
���������


����������	�


������
�	
��������
��������������
�������
���

 !"#�$%#�$&'(�&)�*++(

,��
�������	���������
����	�
��
������������
�������
�����������������
���	����������
��
�	����������
��	��
���

	������
�	�
�����
�	�	�
����
���	�
���������
�	�
�������������
������
�����	�
��	��
���������������������
��-

.��	��
��������
��	����
�������������������������	�������������
�	����	�
���	�
�������
������������
��	�
������

���	�����������
�-



�����������	
���
����
�����������������������������������������������
�����
����	������������������

����


������
���������������
��������������������
�����������	��������������������������
���	
����������������	�����

�������������������

��
����	�����
�����������
��
����
�����������	��������������	���������
����
����������
����������
��������������

������������������	������������	����	������������� �������������������
����������

!"##$%&

��������������	�����
�����������������������'����������
��
��������������	������	�����������������
�����	��

����������������(

)��	�����������������������������������
��������������
�����
����������������������������������������������������

����
�������*+�
��
������������

������������,-.//0-12��������
��������	�����������	���������������	������������3�
���������	���������������
�

��������

4��	�����������
�����������������	�	��������������������������������
��������	���������
����������	��������

��
��������	�5����	�������������������
���������������������	���

6������������	��������������
�����������������
��
����5����
��������������������
��7	�
��
����������(

89�:.;�</=0<>:�?<@0�-?A-B0CDE�/01�;D�BC.F�AC�1?0�-.GG0C1D�H0/.F�<>@A-0�9.=�C0F�-?A-B0C�B00I0=DJ

�����K������K���������4����L����M����N�	�4����O���

3��L��������K��������M�����	�M���	�'��
�����

P������������
�����	����6�OO�
��	����

QR�STUV�WX%�Y$TVTZ[�\$]̂&$%_�̀aT]̂bZVc

d������������	��������������������

�����e�

����������������������	������������������(



From: b57@
To: Regina Kokkinis
Cc: Tom Belczak
Subject: City Considers Ordinance on Chickens and Beekeeping
Date: Thursday, August 27, 2020 11:56:10 AM

RE: City Considers Ordinance on Chickens and Beekeeping

Regina,
My name is Bob Stevens and I live at 7228 Leonard Drive and I would like to offer my
opinion on the ownership of chickens.

My neighbor directly west of me has chickens, there address is 7305 Richmond. I am
firmly against anyone having chickens because of the following reasons,

While chickens are mostly quiet they can be very loud at times, especially in the
morning. They can sometimes cluck for 30 minutes or longer. Compound this by
the number of chickens.
They can be very bad smelling, especially when the weather goes from cool to
hot in a short period. My back yard sometimes smells like the aviary at the
Brookfield Zoo!
I have noticed mice more frequently now that I have chickens as neighbors.
Roosters should definitely not be allowed. I had to deal with the noise all day
long for a couple weeks before I complained to the city. They were asked to get
rid of the rooster, which they did.

Another important issue is the number allowed. My neighbor has six. Also something
which adds to the above problems is other birds. My neighbor has six to eight ducks
to go along with the chickens. I think if there is a limit on chickens it should include all
birds.

Overall I do not think it is healthy to allow chickens or other birds, especially in larger
numbers. I guess if you allow chickens why not pigs and goats?  Not really the things
to keeps on lots as small as a quarter acre.

One interesting note is I called the city to complain about the noise from the chickens.
When a Community Service Officer showed up I was told there was nothing that
could be done because there is no ordinance about chicken noise. I really don’t see
the difference between a dog barking or a chicken clucking, they are both a nuisance.
If this is really correct then noise from any animals should be added to any ordinance
being considered.

If the ownership of birds, chickens and ducks, are allowed I think a periodic soil
sample should be taken to check for anything which might be considered unsafe. I’m
not very enthusiastic about 12 or more birds using a small area of a yard as a
bathroom. Some type of assurance of safety and cleanliness would be appreciated.

Feel free to pass this along,



Thanks,
Bob Stevens
Down on the farm?

CC: Tom Belczak



Thank you, 
 
Regina Kokkinis 
Administrative Assistant, Municipal Services 
City of Darien 
630-353-8105 





From: Heather Conroy
To: Dan Gombac
Cc: Tom Belczak; Regina Kokkinis; Joseph Hennerfeind
Subject: Re: Village 8/17/20 Presentation-Chicken/Egg Raising
Date: Tuesday, September 1, 2020 8:01:50 AM

Hi Dan,
 

As for the ventilation, 3 six-foot walls would highly decrease ventilation. This puts the chickens

at risk of overheating and even dying. I saw on other groups this past weekend some members

lost chickens from overheating. Chicken owners purposely build structures with a lot of

ventilation for this reason. Also, with less air flow that creates more possibilities for odor and

flies to accumulate. You want as much air flow as possible. Many chicken owners will add fans

to their runs to increase air flow for all of these reasons. I have attached some pictures for

reference and can provide more from my local members if you need more. There is also good

information in this PDF as well on ventilation: https://afs.ca.uky.edu/files/chapter7.pdf  
 

I dont think a fence should be required at all. It solves no problems and if anything will create

problems as I described above. The chickens are in an enclosed run. This ordinance is directed

to one current Darien chicken owner and only an issue because of a couple of complaints. 

Making a law for one person because of one other person is not a democracy.  It is not

Melissa's fault that her property is a corner lot. Her coop is in the backyard.  A fence like this is

not just and would only create more problems for both sides. Please allow this domestic

dispute to stay out of law making. 
 

As long as the chickens are secure in their enclosure, there is no functional purpose for an

extra barrier.  It doesn't eliminate the large structure or any other complaints that have been

brought up. You also do not want to shade them as they need 14 hours of sunlight to produce.

The trees are interesting, and I would like to know more about that idea...how far apart would

they be? How much does one 6ft tree cost (I'm thinking a lot)? How many is sufficient for

compliance? While I think that is an interesting option and would be better for ventilation...

depending on location and property and lines, it could be shading the coop which we try not

to do since they need so much sunlight. Shading the coop is not good for chickens, eggs, or

bugs. 
 

Sincerely
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Chapter 7 – VENTILATION PRINCIPLES 

A. Economic importance of ventilation 

temperature  air quality
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B. Air quality 

water vapor nitrogen oxygen carbon dioxide

latent heat in water vapor

ammonia
Dust particles

Microorganisms
Spores Aspergillus fumigatus

airsacculitis

microorganisms
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“The best method to minimize ammonia during the growout is to properly 
ventilate. Litter amendments can be an effective management tool to 
reduce ammonia, but they are NOT a substitute for proper ventilation.” 

Ventilation is an important 
consideration for controlling heat and humidity

‘respirable’ particles
‘viable’ particles

Endotoxins

Aerosol particles

reduce aerosol generation or reduce 
aerosol concentrations
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volatilization

. Ammonia blindness

cilia in the trachea

C. Air temperature 

homeothermic
internal body temperature

Birds do not have sweat glands
panting mechanism gular flutter

thermoneutral zone
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Figure 7.1 - Environmental temperatures and thermal zones. 

Note: Thermoneutral zone is the range of temperatures at which an animal does not have to 
actively regulate body temperature 

thermal comfort zone thermoneutrality
Broiler feed conversion 

deteriorates when temperatures are outside the recommended comfort zone

Broilers produce heat that must be lost to the environment to maintain constant 
body temperatures

Latent heat loss

Sensible heat 
loss

heat stress
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The right management strategy needs to be determined 
for each situation. 

Heat stress

even more costly is the routine loss of weight and feed 
conversion efficiency during less severe periods of heat stress

effective temperature

older data on heat loss have become obsolete

daily mean temperature
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radiant heat loads

A primary function of insulation is to keep the interior 
surface of the wall or ceiling closer to the interior temperature to minimize radiant 
heat loss from the birds

Radiant heaters

D. Moisture 

Relative humidity

E. Relationship between temperature and moisture 

Psychrometrics
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psychrometric chart

Dry bulb temperature 

Humidity ratio
moisture holding capacity

Saturated air

Relative humidity

Enthalpy

WHAT IS A ‘BTU’? 

B T U

SI Le
Système International d'Unités
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Figure 7.2 - Comparing Celsius and Fahrenheit 
temperature scales on a dry bulb thermometer. 

Figure 7.3 - Comparing dry 
bulb (on left) and wet bulb 
(on right) thermometers. 

Dew-point temperature

amount of moisture in the air

condensation

Wet-bulb temperature

evaporative cooling

Specific volume

Sensible heat

Latent heat
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F. Air exchange for temperature control 

Figure 7.4 - Sensible heat sources and losses in a poultry house. 

Figure 7.5 - Schematic of ventilation for temperature control. 
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G. Air exchange for moisture control 

Litter moisture indoor relative humidity

relationship between temperature and the 
air’s moisture holding capacity

, the moisture holding capacity of saturate 
air doubles for every 20°F temperature rise

Moisture

minimum air exchange

moisture holding capacity
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Figure 7.6 - The relationship between temperature and water-holding capacity of 
air.

Figure 7.7 - Moisture sources and removal in poultry houses. 

Figure 7.8 - Schematic of ventilation for moisture control. 
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litter moisture control

H. Air velocity 

a windchill

When interior air temperatures are over 
100°F, catastrophic broilers losses could result from operating ‘cooling’ fans 
without implementation of evaporative cooling

I. Ventilation system design 

Ventilation

Ventilation rate
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two basic functions Air exchange
Air distribution

two primary types of ventilation Mechanical
ventilation Natural ventilation

static pressure

Figure 7.9 - Schematic of a mechanically ventilated building and its components 

VENTILATION SYSTEM DESIGN VERSUS MANAGEMENT 

Ventilation system design

Ventilating system operation and management
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Figure 7.10 - Schematic of a naturally ventilated building and its components. 

design criteria 
Minimum ventilation rates

the minimum ventilation rate 
needs to be up to nine times the recommended minimum ventilation rate
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J. Mechanical ventilation systems 

static pressure

Figure 7.11 - Types of mechanical ventilation systems based on static pressure. 

negative pressure

positive pressure

neutral pressure

fans
openings heaters controls
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Fans

cubic feet of air per minute

Fan staging

Minimum 
ventilation

static pressure

inches of water column

manometer

Figure 7.12 - Manometer used to determine building static pressure. 
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Variable-speed fans
reduce temperature 

swings

revolutions per minute

Openings

air inlets

Continuous slot inlets
Bottom-hinged baffles
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Unplanned inlets

Even small openings, such as cracks in the structure and around 
doors, windows, and fans, can cause drafts and poor control of air distribution

air jet

Bottom hinged baffles

continuous eave 
inlets

Inlet placement



7.21

continuous-slot inlets
interior ceiling slot inlets

Box inlets

Inlet area

Inlet opening control

Automatically controlled inlets
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static pressure
manometer

slot inlet

Passive automatic inlets

Restrictions to airflow

Upstream inlet restrictions

inlet vents to attic areas

Tunnel inlet openings
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K. Natural ventilation systems 



7.24

sidewall openings
ridge opening

Advantages Disadvantages 

wind speed wind direction outside temperature
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Wind induced and buoyancy induced pressure forces 

wind 
induced ventilation

Buoyancy-induced ventilation

Figure 7.13 - Wind induced natural 
ventilation. 

Figure 7.14 - Thermal buoyancy induced 
natural ventilation. 
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Ventilation requirements 

maximum ventilation rate

Naturally ventilated building design 

Sidewall and ridge openings 
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opening sizes

ridge opening

ridge opening size

barriers

Ridge caps

upstands
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Curtains

Cables drop
cords automated winch
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Curtains are susceptible to several types of damage and need to be replaced 
periodically useful life

Double-hung
curtains

unfurl curtains periodically during summer storage months to discharge water and dirt 
and to dislodge any nesting rodents and birds

billowing

Steel cable

Drop cords
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Winches, cables, and pulleys

Flexibility

Controlling naturally ventilated buildings 

Automatic controls

Controllers Sold state controllers
computer systems
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ELECTRONIC VENTILATION CONTROLLER TERMINOLOGY 

Bandwidth

Cycle timer

Differential

Humidistat

Minimum speed

Minimum speed curve

Motor curves

Continued …
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thermostats
set

point

ELECTRONIC VENTILATION CONTROLLER TERMINOLOGY - continued 

Multiple temperature probes

Offset

On/off control

Ramping

Relative temperature

Set point

Temperature averaging

Temperature curve

Thermostat

Variable speed controller
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Insulation 

insulated
helps prevent condensation heat 

loss reduce solar heat gain

Condensation

resistance or ‘R’ value

vapor retarder

Protecting the insulation from rodents
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Perimeter insulation

Heaters

Unvented heaters

L. Combined mechanical and natural ventilation systems 

mechanical ventilation is used for cold weather
Natural ventilation is used for mild and warm weather Tunnel

ventilation is used for hot weather evaporative cooling
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two sets of sidewall inlets
adjustable baffle inlets sidewall curtains

evaporative cooling tunnel
ventilation

adjustable 
baffle inlets curtain crack fixed board crack
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adjustable baffle inlet

curtain
cracked

Fixed board openings

cooling strategies

Tunnel ventilation high-velocity air

Fans

Evaporative cooling systems
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insulating value

House tightness

manometer or static 
pressure gauge

M. Emergency ventilation 

Poultry can 
survive only 20 to 30 minutes at temperatures above 97°F with still air.

electromagnetic,
automatic sidewall-curtain drop stand-by
electric generator
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alarm system Test your 
emergency ventilation and alarm systems regularly 

N. Fan selection 

exhaust fan

belt- or direct-drive propeller fans

resistance to airflow
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use only rated fans

Table 7.1 - Typical rating table for exhaust fans (Delivery rate in cubic feet per 
minute (CFM) at listed static pressures). 

CFM delivery
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ventilation efficiency ratio
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fan utilization factor

Variable-speed fans 
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O.  Fan accessories 

Guards

Shutters

discharge cones

inlet cones

aerodynamic stall

Stalling severity
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P. Maintenance 

Recommended maintenance schedule 

Every month:

Every 3 months:
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Every 6 months:

Every year:
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Principles of Measuring Air Quality 
Evaluating Livestock Housing Environments

Part 1 of 3
Eileen Fabian Wheeler, Assistant Professor 

Robert Bottcher, Professor, North Carolina State University 

Instruments for 
Measuring Air Quality,

 Evaluating 
Mechanical Ventilation Systems

Principles of Measuring Anything: 

1. Measure the right thing.

2. What is the instrument measuring?
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want

3. Understand how your instrument works.

instrument 

4. Question each reading.

5. Record your readings and observations. 

Now What? 

Resources for Environmental Guidelines 

Mechanical Ventilating Systems for 
Livestock Housing  

Natural Ventilating Systems for 
Livestock Housing  

Dairy Freestall Housing and 
Equipment  

Swine Housing and Equipment 
Handbook  

Special-Fed Veal Production Guide  
Dairy Reference Manual 
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Instruments for Measuring Air Quality 
Evaluating Livestock Housing Environments

Part 2 of 3
Eileen Fabian Wheeler, Assistant Professor 

Robert Bottcher, Professor, North Carolina State University 

Principles 
of Measuring Air Quality

Evaluating Mechanical Ventilation Systems.  

Environmental features that can be 
reasonably measured:  

Measuring Air Quality Characteristics

TEMPERATURE  

thermometer

HUMIDITY 

Max-Min Thermometer
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sychrometric Chart Use 

 sling 
psychrometer,

Sling Psychrometer 

Aspirated Psychrometer 

aspirated psychrometer 

hygrometer

Hygrometer 

Hygrometer Pen
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AIR SPEED 
anemometer

Hot wire anemometer 

hot-wire anemometer

 vane anemometer

Vane anemometer 

Small headed vane anemometer 
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Velocity manometers 

Velocity manometer 

AIR FLOW VISUALIZATION 

smoke 

Smoke Candles 

Smoke Sticks 

Smoke Gun 

bubbles
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 air speed streamers

Inadequate Adequate 
Streamers showing inadequate (left)  

and adequate (right) air speed 

SURFACE TEMPERATURE 

Infrared Thermometer

infrared thermometer 
.
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Gas Sampler Pump and Detector Tubes 

GAS LEVELS

sampler 
pump

detector tube

DUST

Summary

Principles of 
Measuring Air Quality
Evaluating Mechanical Ventilation Systems
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air speed streamer
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Instrument Measures Cost* 

Animal 
Envir. 
Spec. 

Cole
Parmer Davis Grainger 

Thermometer dry bulb temperature $15-50  X  X 
Max-Min
Thermometer dry bulb temperature $20-50 X X X X
Sling 
Psychrometer 

dry & wet bulb 
temperatures 50  X X X 

Aspirated 
Psychrometer 

dry & wet bulb 
temperatures $150-300 X X

Hygrometer humidity $40-60 X X X X 
(and dry bulb 
temperatures) (±5-7% accuracy)     

  $275-350+ X X X X 

  (±1-3% accuracy)     
Hot-wire 
Anemometer air speed $400-1000 X X X X

Vane Anemometer air speed $150-400+ X X X  
Velocity 
Anemometer air speed $16-20 X X

Smoke Gun visualize air speed $100 + refills X  X  

Smoke Sticks visualize air speed $3-22 each X X X
Infrared 
Thermometer 

radiant surface 
temperature $300-2600 X X X X 

Gas Sampling noxious gas levels $350 + $3.50/tube X X X

Manometer static pressure $40-100 X  X X 

Strobe Light fan rotation (rpm) $500-700 X X X

Tachometer fan rotation (rpm) $200-300  X X X 
*
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Evaluating Mechanical Ventilation Systems
Evaluating Livestock Housing Environments

Characterizing a Mechanical
Ventilation System’s Performance 

Fan Air Speed 

Vane Anemometer 

Take air speed measurements at several 
locations across the fan area.  
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Cross section of fan showing large variation 
in air speed coming off fan tips versus near 
fan hub. 

Inlet Air Speed 

Hot Wire Anemometer 

Correction of edge effect for air flowing 
through holes involves reduced effective 
opening area. 

Capacity of Ventilation System 
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Static Pressure 

Inclined manometer  
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Air Flow Visualization 

Air flow visualization by positioning smoke devices 

Instruments for Measuring Air Quality. 

Fan Speed (rpm) 

Tachometers
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Electronic tachometer 

strobe light 

Summary
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Additional Resources 

roubleshooting Swin
Ventilation Systems

Mechanical Ventilating Systems for 
Livestock Housing  

Natural Ventilating Systems for 
Livestock Housing  

Heating, Cooling and Tempering Air 
for Livestock Housing 

http://www.abe.psu.edu/extension/
informationindex.html



From: ELISABETH MONAHAN
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: BACKYARD CHCIKENS
Date: Tuesday, September 1, 2020 8:45:14 AM

Good Morning-

I have recently become aware that Municipal Services is considering adding into the
chicken ordinance that the coop and run need to be fenced in on three sides with a 6
foot privacy fence. I am strongly opposed to this. Good airflow and adequate
sunshine is necessary for healthy chickens.  No other towns have this regulation
designed solely to block the view of coops from neighbors. This addition to the
ordnance could be considered cruelty to animals. Will dog owners be forced to put up
a privacy fence around their dog houses and runs because I don't want to see them?
No. Will parents of be forced to put up 6 foot privacy fences around their children's
playgrounds or pools because I don't want to see them? No. Will gardeners be forced
to put up 6 foot privacy fences because I think only grass should be grown in their
yards? NO.
I do not want a privacy fence in my backyard. I think you will find everyone who owns
chickens in Darien will be against this addition to the ordinance. Why is Darien
creating such an unprecedented rule about hiding chicken coops from view of
neighbors because ONE neighbor is complaining about a corner lot coop.

I am all for regulations, but telling us our beloved pets and their living quarters need to
be hidden from sight in our own backyard is outrageous. If Darien expects this of
chicken owners, then dog owners need to have 6 foot fences too. Any shed or
playground or garden that is not to my particular liking should have a 6 foot privacy
fence around it too. This seems to be an extreme measure effecting an entire town to
appease one cranky neighbor in the Seminole neighborhood.

I moved to Darien because they allowed chickens, I am extremely disappointed that
Darien is now considering making me hide my pets in my own yard as if they are not
worthy of being seen. very sad. Everyone has their own opinions on what is beautiful
and what is not. It should not be up to Darien to make me hide my beautiful coop.
What if someone complains about my house color or my choice of flowers in my
garden, or what style of playground my kids pay on, will Darien regulate those as well,
because if all it takes is one complaint, to set unusual and drastic ordinance, then this
is not the Darien I want to live in.

Elisabeth Monahan.
1938 Manning Road.



From: Elisabeth Monahan
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Re: BACKYARD CHCIKENS
Date: Tuesday, September 1, 2020 9:53:53 AM

I would also like to add...
Why is Minneapolis the largest city in MN with a population of 430,000 being used a
reference for chicken legislation in Darien IL population of 22,000? Seems hand picked as no
other cities or suburbs in Illinois have this fencing regulation.

On Sep 1, 2020, at 9:39 AM, Regina Kokkinis <rkokkinis@darienil.gov> wrote:

Good Morning,

Thank you for your interest in the City of Darien.
Your comments have been received and will be included in the packet provided to
Council.

Thank you,

 
Regina Kokkinis
Administrative Assistant, Municipal Services
City of Darien
630-353-8105
To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic
newsletter:
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT
Follow the link and subscribing is simple!
https://darien.il.us/reference-desk/directconnect-enews

From: ELISABETH MONAHAN <lizzy.monahan@ > 

Sent: Tuesday, September 1, 2020 8:45 AM

To: Regina Kokkinis <rkokkinis@darienil.gov>

Subject: BACKYARD CHCIKENS

Good Morning-

I have recently become aware that Municipal Services is considering
adding into the chicken ordinance that the coop and run need to be fenced
in on three sides with a 6 foot privacy fence. I am strongly opposed to this.
Good airflow and adequate sunshine is necessary for healthy chickens.
No other towns have this regulation designed solely to block the view of
coops from neighbors. This addition to the ordnance could be considered
cruelty to animals. Will dog owners be forced to put up a privacy fence
around their dog houses and runs because I don't want to see them? No.



Will parents of be forced to put up 6 foot privacy fences around their
children's playgrounds or pools because I don't want to see them? No. Will
gardeners be forced to put up 6 foot privacy fences because I think only
grass should be grown in their yards? NO.
I do not want a privacy fence in my backyard. I think you will find everyone
who owns chickens in Darien will be against this addition to the ordinance.
Why is Darien creating such an unprecedented rule about hiding chicken
coops from view of neighbors because ONE neighbor is complaining
about a corner lot coop.

I am all for regulations, but telling us our beloved pets and their living
quarters need to be hidden from sight in our own backyard is outrageous.
If Darien expects this of chicken owners, then dog owners need to have 6
foot fences too. Any shed or playground or garden that is not to my
particular liking should have a 6 foot privacy fence around it too. This
seems to be an extreme measure effecting an entire town to appease one
cranky neighbor in the Seminole neighborhood.

I moved to Darien because they allowed chickens, I am extremely
disappointed that Darien is now considering making me hide my pets in
my own yard as if they are not worthy of being seen. very sad. Everyone
has their own opinions on what is beautiful and what is not. It should not
be up to Darien to make me hide my beautiful coop. What if someone
complains about my house color or my choice of flowers in my garden, or
what style of playground my kids pay on, will Darien regulate those as
well, because if all it takes is one complaint, to set unusual and drastic
ordinance, then this is not the Darien I want to live in.

Elisabeth Monahan.
1938 Manning Road.



From: Heather Conroy
To: Dan Gombac
Cc: Tom Belczak; Regina Kokkinis; Joseph Hennerfeind
Subject: Re: Village 8/17/20 Presentation-Chicken/Egg Raising
Date: Tuesday, September 1, 2020 3:01:28 PM

Hi Dan

A quick search on ventilation and chicken housing will bring MANY articles on it.

Most of us chicken owners use natural ventilation, meaning, open air/space without any barriers; so that there can be a breeze/circulation/air flow. Let me be clear, chicken coops and
runs are referred to as poultry houses, as the first PDF talked about. My main concern is based on property lines and houses, which seem to vary around here, and how close the required
fence or barriers will have to be to the coop. Some houses will be ok, some not. My other concern is the burned of time and money put on chicken owners and not other owners....like
dog owners. Also, Darien was a farming town.

Some links can be found on ventilation by clicking this link:

https://www.bing.com/search?q=ventilation+and+chicken+runs&qs=n&form=QBRE&sp=-1&pq=ventilation+and+chicken+runs&sc=2-
28&sk=&cvid=E6BBCF78A3CB407EA84B47C12A405F31

This is a great article as well as the ones in the list through the link above.

https://www.roysfarm.com/poultry-
housing/#:~:text=Well%20ventilation%20inside%20poultry%20housing%20system%20play%20a,Most%20farmers%20use%20natural%20ventilation%20for%20poultry%20production.

I would really have to research or have a chicken expert (yes, they have them) give me information or speak to you on the reasons why, but it is for the reasons I have already listed.
Maybe they can explain them more or in detail to you. I have one, she is a business, so I would have to see if she could speak to you free of charge regarding why fences or barriers
would be an issue.

Fences stop a breeze and airflow. That is what they are...a barrier. I don't see why that would be a law to have to have a fence or trees surrounding the chicken enclosure. This would be
an issue and not having other pets, such as a dog.... which could be dangerous and deadly depending on the dog if the leash were to break, are not required to have fences or barriers. I
have seen dogs in Darien with no leash outside on their property or in the backyard with no fence. This fence is for what purpose if the chickens are already in an enclosure? Is it for
Aesthetics only? What is the purpose of the fence/tree barrier? I wouldn't have so much of a problem with this if a fence or barrier was required for other pet owners.

I would however still argue the ventilation issues and that they are already in an enclosure. If this is only for Aesthetics, then whose opinion is that of? And does that
opinion represent the majority of Darien residents. I could put together with the help of others I know, a poll to see what other residences feel about the situation of having a chicken
coop visible or not and if that should be a law. I would think the village could create a survey for the community on this issue as they have done for others. Personally, I would love to
walk around and see people's gardens, chickens, etc. And I actually do! I know others in Darien that agree with me on this one.

When you start to say put up a fence or barrier, what's to say you can't still see it through openings or over the top of the fence? What are the specifics on the fence as in Aesthetics?
What if people have a funky color paint? Signs on the fence? Pictures on the fence? In other words, where does the Aesthetics line get drawn and who is calling the shots on that? Is this
what the majority of Dairen residences want (opinions) or is this piece of the law for only a handful of certain residents and their "standards". I would really like to see a survey on this
since it seems to me there is no physical reason for the fence or barrier. Actually, if anything, this makes me think dog owners should be required to have one. There are houses I have
personally seen that have large breed dogs and only an "Invisible fence" electric fence (which I actually am afraid of walking by).

This is coming down to a level of “I don't like seeing what is in your yard” based on one’s personal opinion.

Having the number of chickens and feet from property lines, that I can see. If it isn't visible how do you confirm if there is a compliance issue? I know we are agreeing to property
inspection if there is a viable complaint, but a locked fence wouldn't allow easy access or ease of just driving by and seeing something not in compliance.

For all these reasons, I do not want a fence or barrier law and I think that can open up a whole other can of worms. I do believe a law should have the majority of the community's
opinion on something like this, especially for a forced purchase on the owner... as well as time. With that, I would like to see a survey on the fence or barrier piece of the ordinance. We
are already doing things other pet owners do not have to do with certification and agreeing to those terms, number of hens, feet from property, and max on enclosure. I could create a
survey through online groups, or maybe this is something the village can do and we can make sure we get it out there.

The other option would be, not to make a fence or barrier part of the ordinance.

With that you have the support of a majority of the community I believe, but a survey would have to prove that theory.

Sincerely,
Heather Conroy

On Tue, Sep 1, 2020 at 11:04 AM Dan Gombac <dgombac@darienil.gov> wrote:

Hi Heather,

I have read through your PDF on ventilation and the document cites air ventilation specifically to poultry houses. Please forward the verbiage that relates to ventilation of chicken coops.

Sincerely,

Daniel Gombac



Director of Municipal Services

630-353-8106

To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic newsletter:

DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT

Follow the link and subscribing is simple!

https://darien.il.us/reference-desk/directconnect-enews

From: Heather Conroy <hconroy333@  

Sent: Tuesday, September 1, 2020 8:00 AM

To: Dan Gombac <dgombac@darienil.gov>

Cc: Tom Belczak <tbelczak@darienil.gov>; Regina Kokkinis <rkokkinis@darienil.gov>; Joseph Hennerfeind <jhennerfeind@darienil.gov>

Subject: Re: Village 8/17/20 Presentation-Chicken/Egg Raising

Hi Dan,

As for the ventilation, 3 six-foot walls would highly decrease ventilation. This puts the chickens at risk of overheating and even dying. I saw on other groups this past weekend some

members lost chickens from overheating. Chicken owners purposely build structures with a lot of ventilation for this reason. Also, with less air flow that creates more possibilities for

odor and flies to accumulate. You want as much air flow as possible. Many chicken owners will add fans to their runs to increase air flow for all of these reasons. I have attached some

pictures for reference and can provide more from my local members if you need more. There is also good information in this PDF as well on ventilation:

https://afs.ca.uky.edu/files/chapter7.pdf  

I dont think a fence should be required at all. It solves no problems and if anything will create problems as I described above. The chickens are in an enclosed run. This ordinance is

directed to one current Darien chicken owner and only an issue because of a couple of complaints.  Making a law for one person because of one other person is not a democracy.  It is

not Melissa's fault that her property is a corner lot. Her coop is in the backyard.  A fence like this is not just and would only create more problems for both sides. Please allow this

domestic dispute to stay out of law making. 

As long as the chickens are secure in their enclosure, there is no functional purpose for an extra barrier.  It doesn't eliminate the large structure or any other complaints that have

been brought up. You also do not want to shade them as they need 14 hours of sunlight to produce. The trees are interesting, and I would like to know more about that idea...how far

apart would they be? How much does one 6ft tree cost (I'm thinking a lot)? How many is sufficient for compliance? While I think that is an interesting option and would be better for

ventilation... depending on location and property and lines, it could be shading the coop which we try not to do since they need so much sunlight. Shading the coop is not good for

chickens, eggs, or bugs. 

Sincerely
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From: Dan Gombac
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: FW: Chickens???????
Date: Tuesday, September 8, 2020 2:22:38 PM

Please add to b/u for agenda.

 

Daniel Gombac
Director of Municipal Services
630-353-8106
To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic newsletter:
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT
Follow the link and subscribing is simple!
https://darien.il.us/reference-desk/directconnect-enews
 

From: Joe Marchese <jmarchese@darienil.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, September 8, 2020 2:06 PM

To: WOSTRATZKY Millie <mwostratzky@ ; Ted schauer <tschauer@darienil.gov>;

Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>; Lester Vaughan <lVaughan@darienil.gov>; Thomas Chlystek

<TChlystek@darienil.gov>; Mary Sullivan <MSullivan@darienil.gov>; Eric Gustafson

<egustafson@darienil.gov>; Tom Belczak <tbelczak@darienil.gov>; Dan Gombac

<dgombac@darienil.gov>

Subject: RE: Chickens???????

Mrs.. Wostratzky:

               Thank you for taking the time to share your concern regarding this issue.  While you have

noted one specific situation, this issue impacts more than the two families you mention in your

email.  We have heard from residents who share opposing positions on this matter, and it is our

intention to formulate an ordinance that takes these differing opinions into consideration.

               Our Municipal Services Committee will be discussing this issue and examining several

proposals at its Monday September 28 meeting to be held here at City Hall starting at 7:00 pm. 

While I would encourage you to attend that meeting, please be assured that your email will be

shared with the committee members as they deliberate and vote on this issue.  Please note that the

September 28 meeting will result in a recommendation(s) to the entire City Council which will be

discussed at and voted on at one of our council meetings in October.

               Again, my thanks to you for your comments; stay safe and best wishes.

 

Joseph A. Marchese

Mayor, City of Darien
630-353-8108
Celebrating “50” Years!

To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic newsletter:
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT
Follow the link and subscribing is simple!



http://www.darien.il.us/Reference-Desk/DirectConnect.aspx

 

From: WOSTRATZKY Millie <mwostratzky@  

Sent: Tuesday, September 8, 2020 1:47 PM

To: Joe Marchese <jmarchese@darienil.gov>; Ted schauer <tschauer@darienil.gov>; Joseph Kenny

<jkenny@darienil.gov>; Lester Vaughan <lVaughan@darienil.gov>; Thomas Chlystek

<TChlystek@darienil.gov>; Mary Sullivan <MSullivan@darienil.gov>; Eric Gustafson

<egustafson@darienil.gov>; Tom Belczak <tbelczak@darienil.gov>; Dan Gombac

<dgombac@darienil.gov>

Subject: Chickens???????

To all concerned Darien Government Officials,

I have recently heard about the issue of residents having live chickens in a densely
populated community.  To me, this is outrageous.  These residents aren't even the
home's owners, but renters who probably aren't particularly interested, or care, how
this affects property value.  These residents have chickens, an enlarged coop (no
permit) with no fence so that chickens can meander on to neighbor's lawns.  Would
you want this next to your home??  I know I absolutely wouldn't.  I think that since
Darien's motto is a "Nice Place to Live", this doesn't cover growing farm animals.  I
implore you to establish an ordinance to ban growing chickens in our community.  It is
unfair to subject established homeowners to the annoyance that comes with living
next to chickens.  Again, how would you feel if this was occurring right next door to
your home?  Please settle this issue accordingly.

Sincerely,
Millie Wostratzky-32 year Darien resident



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Chickens???????
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:05:24 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: WOSTRATZKY Millie <mwostratzky@
Date: 9/8/20 4:27 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: RE: Chickens???????

Thank you!

On 09/08/2020 3:08 PM Joseph Kenny < jkenny@darienil.gov> wrote:

Millie,

I have received your email as well as a handful of other Darien residents. I will
use all of the feedback provided to make an informed decision when it's time for
the City Council to vote on an ordinance.

Sincerely,

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.



-------- Original message --------
From: WOSTRATZKY Millie < mwostratzky@ >
Date: 9/8/20 1:49 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joe Marchese < jmarchese@darienil.gov>, Ted schauer <
tschauer@darienil.gov>, Joseph Kenny < jkenny@darienil.gov>, Lester Vaughan
< lVaughan@darienil.gov>, Thomas Chlystek < TChlystek@darienil.gov>, Mary
Sullivan < MSullivan@darienil.gov>, Eric Gustafson <
egustafson@darienil.gov>, Tom Belczak < tbelczak@darienil.gov>, Dan Gombac
< dgombac@darienil.gov>
Subject: Chickens???????

To all concerned Darien Government Officials,

I have recently heard about the issue of residents having live chickens in a densely
populated community. To me, this is outrageous. These residents aren't even the
home's owners, but renters who probably aren't particularly interested, or care,
how this affects property value. These residents have chickens, an enlarged coop
(no permit) with no fence so that chickens can meander on to neighbor's lawns.
Would you want this next to your home?? I know I absolutely wouldn't. I think
that since Darien's motto is a "Nice Place to Live", this doesn't cover growing
farm animals. I implore you to establish an ordinance to ban growing chickens in
our community. It is unfair to subject established homeowners to the annoyance
that comes with living next to chickens. Again, how would you feel if this was
occurring right next door to your home? Please settle this issue accordingly.

Sincerely,
Millie Wostratzky-32 year Darien resident



From: Dan Gombac
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: FW: Ordinance
Date: Thursday, September 10, 2020 9:41:39 AM

Maybe a duplicate from earlier.

 

Daniel Gombac
Director of Municipal Services
630-353-8106
To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic newsletter:
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT
Follow the link and subscribing is simple!
https://darien.il.us/reference-desk/directconnect-enews
 

From: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:13 PM

To: Dan Gombac <dgombac@darienil.gov>; Diane Noverini <dnoverini@darienil.gov>

Subject: FW: Ordinance

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: Nancy Brogato <brogato@ >
Date: 8/31/20 4:26 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Ordinance

I love in Norman courts and we are Against raising chickens and bees!!!!

Sent from my iPhone



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Vote NO on new ordinances
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:04:52 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: Carol Norbut <c.norbut@ >
Date: 9/8/20 4:25 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Vote NO on new ordinances

This is to encourage you to vote no on the ordinance allowing chickens

to be raised in Darien as well as the one allowing bees to be kept on

Darien property. I am against both proposals and urge you to vote no.

Thanking you in advance,
 

Carol Norbut



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Bees and chickens
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:07:00 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: lawrence jostock <wernoz@ >
Date: 9/2/20 7:35 AM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Bees and chickens

Dear Mr. Kenny,

In our opinion, we do not  favor keeping bees and chickens in Darien.

Thank you,

Gloria Clancy & Lawrence Jostock
1431 Coventry Ct.
Darien, IL  60561



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Chickens and Bee Hives upcomming Vote
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:07:30 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: JOSEPH VALO <jvalo@ >
Date: 9/1/20 4:55 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Chickens and Bee Hives upcomming Vote

I am asking that you vote NO in regard to allowing Chickens and Bees to be raised in
the city of Darien. This is definitely not a rural community. 

Joseph Valo
Resident and Home Owner of Darien.



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Chickens and bee hives
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:08:54 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: MARTIN GABRIEL <mgabriel1521@ >
Date: 9/1/20 10:47 AM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Chickens and bee hives

I am a resident of Darien, Il. and I emphatically do not want chickens or bee hives to
be allowed in Darien. 



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: New vote
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:09:49 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: "James C. Williams" <jamescwilliams@ >
Date: 9/1/20 9:33 AM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Re: New vote

So noted. Thanks.

On Aug 31, 2020, at 7:16 PM, Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov> wrote:

Jim,

I have received your email as well as a handful of your neighbors. I will use all of the
feedback provided to make an informed decision when it's time for the City Council to
vote on an ordinance.

Sincerely,

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------



From: "James C. Williams" <jamescwilliams@ >
Date: 8/31/20 1:28 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Fwd: New vote

Alderman Kenny:

I also believe Darien is not the proper place for either chickens or bee keeping. They
are not consistent with Darien's general environment. I also believe their existence
would have a negative impact on property values.

Best Regards,
Jim Williams
1450 Coventry Court

Begin forwarded message:

From: Carolyn Williams
<carolynswilliams@ <mailto:carolynswilliams@ >>
Subject: Fwd: New vote
Date: August 31, 2020 at 12:51:07 PM CDT
To: Jim Williams
<jamescwilliams@ <mailto:jamescwilliams >>
Cc: Bonnie Kucera
<bonniekucera@ <mailto:bonniekucera@ >>

Begin forwarded message:

From: Carolyn Williams
<carolynswilliams@ <mailto:carolynswilliams@ >
Subject: New vote
Date: August 31, 2020 at 12:49:47 PM CDT
To: jkenny@darienil.gov<mailto:jkenny@darienil.gov>

Alderman Kenny

Although I appreciate the enjoyment of chickens and bee keeping by various people
and don't find either animal/insect undesirable, I do NOT believe Darien is an
appropriate suburb for either one of these. Properties and family homes are
comfortably close and allowing chickens and bees in such small areas would not be
in keeping with the harmony Darien has as a community.

Regards
Carolyn Williams
1450 Coventry Ct.



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Chickens and Bees.
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:10:14 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: jjesamspop@
Date: 9/1/20 8:59 AM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Re: Chickens and Bees.

Thank you.

Sally

-----Original Message-----
From: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
To: jjesamspop@  <jjesamspop@
Sent: Mon, Aug 31, 2020 7:15 pm
Subject: RE: Chickens and Bees.

Sally,

I have received your email as well as a handful of your neighbors. I will use all of the feedback provided to
make an informed decision when it's time for the City Council to vote on an ordinance.

Sincerely,

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.



-------- Original message --------
From: jjesamspop
Date: 8/31/20 1:53 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Chickens and Bees.

Dear Alderman Kenny,

I currently live in a town home.  While I can see where it may be possible to allow chickens and bees to
be raised in a single family home and yard, I am against allowing it in a community living situation such as
a town home association where the occupants are in much closer proximity to see other and yard space
is scarce.

When and if an ordinance is written, please consider my concerns.

Thank you.

Sally English
1500 Canterbury Court
Darien, IL 60561



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Chickens
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:12:14 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: Mark Costa <mckc123@ >
Date: 8/31/20 8:17 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Chickens

Hi Alderman Kenny,

Hope this finds you and yours well. Thank you for your representation of our ward and your service to the
community.

I’m writing to you asking that City Council not create a residential chicken ordinance. I respect the educational
value, the food source (eggs) and whatever other reasons proponents advocate for. My biggest objection is to the
health risk to the community through bacterial introductions And other communicable transmissions in today’s
world present or that may lie ahead. I think we’ve all had enough of that. 

I hope we can curtail this movement and not let it be our “Sterogenics”

I trust you understand my position.

Sincerely,

Mark Costa
1438 Coventry Ct 



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW:
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:12:47 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: Vivian <vhynes123 >
Date: 8/31/20 7:24 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject:

Sent from my iPhone. I understand a vote will be taken Monday night regarding the raising of chickens and bees by
Darien residents. As a townhome owner these critters would have to be housed closer to my home than would be
with a single family home. Please vote no. Thank you. Tom Hynes, 1501 Canterbury



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Vote re: Chickens being allowed in Darien
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:14:11 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: RENEE FIDANZO <renee_fidanzo@ >
Date: 8/31/20 1:35 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Vote re: Chickens being allowed in Darien

Hi,

I have never sent an email on anything like this but feel very strongly. I work behind
the scenes being a Social Worker/Forensic Interviewer working with children that
have been abused.  I have lived in Darien over 18 years and right next door in
Downers Grove another 20 years prior.  I love the city of Darien and do what I can to
always keep my area at the highest level as I feel it reflects myself and my neighbors.

I ask that you consider not voting for the approval of chickens in residence in Darien. I
think there is a place for everything and our homes in Darien is not the place. Once
you start to lower the bar you open yourself up to many other things that would bring
our home values down.

I did not want to take up much of your time. If you have any questions please let me
know.

thank you for all that you do. Please stay safe.

Renee M. Fidanzo, LCSW, CWEL



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Chickens and bees
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:14:33 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: Jim Craig <pastorjimglcc@ >
Date: 8/31/20 1:02 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Chickens and bees

Vote no on allowing both chickens and bee hives to be kept in Darien unless the homeowner
has a very sizable piece of property. There should be an ordinance specifying the exact
measurement of square feet required in order to have either.



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: chicken and bee keeping
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:15:56 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: "Toljanic, Joseph" <jtolja@ >
Date: 8/31/20 12:08 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: chicken and bee keeping

 

Hello Mr. Kenny,

As a long time resident of Darien, I wanted to express my opinion regarding keeping bees and

chickens in our city.  I disagree with approval of this ordinance.  We live in a suburban environment

and not a rural environment.  Beekeeping and chickens would detract from that suburban feel.  I

would also be concerned about the additional bees in the neighborhood that may sting my family.  I

am especially concerned about the chickens that I feel would create the potential for an unhealthy

environment.  I just yesterday heard a rooster crowing in the morning very close to where I live

which took me by complete surprise.  I do not appreciate being awakened by this noise.  I am very

concerned that if approved, this ordinance may lead to people choosing not to live in Darien which

could decrease the value of my property.  Please vote against this ordinance when it come up for a

vote

Thanks you in advance for your consideration,

Dr. Joseph Toljanic

1527 Brittany Ct

Darien

Sent from Mail for Windows 10

 

.. ..



From: Joseph Kenny
To: Dan Gombac; Diane Noverini
Subject: FW: Voting for Chickens!
Date: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 8:16:22 PM

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: Bonnie Kucera <bonniekucera@ >
Date: 8/31/20 11:19 AM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Voting for Chickens!

Hi Joe,
I am not sure what to call this - so, I am not in favor of the City allowing Chickens or
Bees to be breed, living or cared for on residential properties.  The chickens will not
provide any type of value to the our personal or city property.  Perhaps even provide
a health concern especially airborne.  There are several type of farmer communes in
the area (way further west) that those that wish to raise or have contact with chickens
can visit or buy into.  Not sure if you are voting on Bees yet but so many people are
allergic I think it becomes a health concern.  I am not sure of your position on this but
giving you mine!

Take care.  Hope you are Lisa are enjoying this beautiful much cooler weather!

Bonnie Kucera 1427 Coventry Court Darien, IL  60561 
bonniekucera@



From: Mary Belmonte
To: Regina Kokkinis
Subject: FW: Contact Us
Date: Friday, September 11, 2020 9:21:15 AM

 

 

From: postmaster@muniweb.com <postmaster@muniweb.com> 

Sent: Thursday, September 10, 2020 5:18 PM

To: Mary Belmonte <mbelmonte@darienil.gov>

Subject: Contact Us

ContactID: 87

Form inserted: 9/10/2020 6:17:21 PM

Form updated: 9/10/2020 6:17:21 PM

First name: Gale

Last name: Dyskie

Email: Gale@

Message: Hello I just wanted to give myt input regarding chickens. I see nothing wrong with
having chickens and there are many homes in Downers Grove which have them as well. I do
not see any issues with this and hope that you will make Darien chicken friendly

ConfirmUserPolicy: I confirm that I have read and understood the privacy policy statement.

Enter security code:



From: Dan Gombac
To: Regina Kokkinis
Cc: Tom Belczak; Bryon Vana
Subject: FW: chicken thoughts
Date: Thursday, September 17, 2020 10:07:23 AM

Pls add to the matrix and b/u.

 

Daniel Gombac
Director of Municipal Services
630-353-8106
To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic newsletter:
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT
Follow the link and subscribing is simple!
https://darien.il.us/reference-desk/directconnect-enews
 

From: Bryon Vana <bvana@darienil.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, September 16, 2020 4:37 PM

To: Forward ForT Belzczak <tjbelczak@ >

Cc: Dan Gombac <dgombac@darienil.gov>

Subject: RE: chicken thoughts

Dan

I think all of the communications you receive will be put into the packet and sent out at one
time so they are all in one place. Is that correct?

Bryon D. Vana
Bryon D. Vana
City Administrator -City of Darien, Office phone – 630-353-8114
To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic newsletter:
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT -Follow the link and subscribing is simple!

From: Thomas Belczak <tjbelczak@ > 

Sent: Wednesday, September 16, 2020 4:11 PM

To: Bryon Vana <bvana@darienil.gov>

Cc: Dan Gombac <dgombac@darienil.gov>

Subject: Fwd: chicken thoughts

I received the following email; Feel free to share with other elected officials.

Begin forwarded message:



From: <bill.christenson@ >
Subject: chicken thoughts
Date: September 15, 2020 at 8:09:44 PM CDT
To: <tjbelczak@ >

We were asked to contact you with our position on the chicken issue so that you have

input from your constituents.    First and foremost though,  we are concerned that

there seems to be a decline in polite neighborly communication  as a whole.  Or even

polite neighborly consideration.   We would want our neighbors to communicate to

find a solution that is considerate of all involved – it would have solved so much in this

instance.  

 

  That being said – we are for chickens,  but privately!  

I tried to research it and found:

An average chicken lays 5-6 eggs.  For a family of four -   30-36 eggs a week seems like a

lot of eggs -  6 chickens sounds like a starting point.

On average a chicken needs approx. 6sf/chicken for the coop and 10sf/chicken for the

run.  Again, 6 chickens seems like it would not be taking up too much space – (1) 6x6 =

a 36 sf coop with a run that is approx. 6x10 = so a total of approx. 100sf  

The problem seems as to be where it is located and who sees it…. To be honest, the

closer to their own house seems fair and a privacy fence seems like it would quell any

complaints.   

Layer Hens do not make much noise and if the chickens are given fresh ground ( 4-5 x’s

a week) there should not be a smell.

 

6 chickens per property that is of average size, less chickens for the odd small property.

A 20 foot or so minimum for the entire structure  from any property line fair?   Does

there need to be an understanding for movable coop structures?

A hard privacy fence  on any side facing another property or common thoroughfare.

 Landscaping is not a permanent solution for year round privacy .  I also do not foresee

owners buying plants that are full grown and providing privacy from day one.

Is a limit of One coop and one run per property reasonable? – ONE structure – owners

should think ahead and get a permit just as is required for a shed.

Licensing would give the city some control and compensation for dealing with

complaints.  

A Minimum # of licenses   - to be renewed each year would keep it from getting out of

hand, and provide for consequences if neighbor’s complaints are verified by city.

 

This is a fad – sooner or later, as little children grow and get involved, life’s busy

schedule will catch up with the least hardy of the chicken farmers and that will be that. 

Chickens are work, plain and simple.  If I were going to do it.. I’d move out to the

country where I could do it well.

I hope we weren’t too late.  Best of luck on deciding the future or rural Darien!

Anne and Bill



From: Dan Gombac
To: Lee Pahr; Regina Kokkinis
Cc: Eric Gustafson; Joe Marchese
Subject: RE: Chickens
Date: Thursday, September 17, 2020 10:34:09 AM

Thanks Lee

Daniel Gombac
Director of Municipal Services
630-353-8106
To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic newsletter:
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT
Follow the link and subscribing is simple!
https://darien.il.us/reference-desk/directconnect-enews

-----Original Message-----
From: Lee Pahr <leepahr@ >
Sent: Thursday, September 17, 2020 10:22 AM
To: Joe Marchese <jmarchese@darienil.gov>
Cc: Eric Gustafson <egustafson@darienil.gov>; Dan Gombac <dgombac@darienil.gov>
Subject: Chickens

I am a Darien resident for the past 28 years.

I had spent 75 days this past spring & summer on an organic farm in rural Pierre, SD. While the farm had range fed
chickens, it was my understanding that the "city" of Pierre does not allow chickens to be raised/kept within their city
limits.

I went and sat in Darien Pool's parking lot and viewed what your current "chicken" debate was, 1st hand. I can't
imagine if the pool was open this past summer, what potential for, perhaps tragic, incident(s) could have occurred in
such a public/urban setting. Have you personally viewed the unappealing curb aesthetic. Aren't you concerned how
chickens can bring in additional predators and vermin to an area?

As a Darien resident, I would appreciate your debate in this issue to address ALL farm animals within Darien's city
limits, place minimum acreage verbage as well as "free range" not be permitted within the city limits of Darien.

Thank you for your time and consideration.

Leonette Pahr
7828 Dorchester Lane
Darien, IL 60561



From: Kristina Nemetz
To: Dan Gombac; Regina Kokkinis
Cc: Joseph Hennerfeind; Bryon Vana; Tom Belczak; Joe Marchese; mariepchef
Subject: Ordinance with Resident Notes in preparation for September 28 sub-committee
Date: Thursday, September 17, 2020 2:49:09 PM
Attachments: image011.png

image012.png
image013.png
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image004.png
Attachment B - Chickens and Bees JH edits DG edits RK 09-02-20 w EDITS from RESIDENTS 9.6.20 (1).docx

Hi Dan,

 

Marie Freidag (my mother) asked me to forward the ordinance to you with our notes and suggestions for the Mayor,

Commissioner, and staff consideration. She is unable to reach her computer right now. Please confirm upon receipt that the

right column with notes and suggestions is visible. We spent a great deal of time consulting web references as well as

colleagues, other Village council people, veterinarians, and county officials in an effort to provide factual information on the

potential implications of this ordinance and how this can be amended to protect both sides of the “yet to be required”

fence.

 

Following the meeting in August I was under the impression there would be an actual mediation that would take place in

regards to this matter prior to the next meeting. It is disappointing to watch Melissa Goodridge continue to expand her

coop and plant ornamentals in accordance with this proposed ordinance. An ordinance she must think is somewhat final

according to her interaction with my father, and an ordinance she clearly knew about well in advance of my parents

receiving a copy to review. Not quite sure how this process is going, but from a fellow municipal employee’s perspective it

looks fairly “pro-chicken” driven. It seems pretty obvious there may be someone advising her of the proposal and

encouraging them to expand to meet these current conditions to have an advantage. I hope you will find the attached

notes, comments, and insight helpful in finding an equitable and fair ordinance for all residents of Darien.

 

There are reasons a majority of the Western Suburbs have banned or put severe restrictions on chickens. There is too much

risk for the community as a whole and not enough individual reward. Why risk the health and safety of all, for the loudest

chicken in the coop? It is a difficult balance to find. I don’t envy the heavy lifting and time I am sure you all have put in to

this issue.

 

You will find many of these concerns addressed in the attached. I am happy to provide input additional sources that are

required. I obviously have a vested interest in protecting my parents and their home, but also am happy to provide support

to fellow municipalities as fellow civil servant.

 

Thank you for your time.

 

Kristina

 

 

 

 

From: Dan Gombac [mailto:dgombac@darienil.gov] 

Sent: Tuesday, August 18, 2020 2:38 PM

To: Kristina Nemetz <knemetz >; Regina Kokkinis <rkokkinis@darienil.gov>

Cc: Joseph Hennerfeind <jhennerfeind@darienil.gov>; Bryon Vana <bvana@darienil.gov>; Tom Belczak

<tbelczak@darienil.gov>; Joe Marchese <jmarchese@darienil.gov>

Subject: RE: Concern | Chicken Coop on Seminole & Ironwood



 

Good afternoon Kristina,

 

Thank you for your e-mail and we will keep you posted regarding the upcoming discussions.

 

Regina,

 

Please add this e-mail as backup.

 

Daniel Gombac
Director of Municipal Services
630-353-8106
To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic newsletter:
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT
Follow the link and subscribing is simple!
https://darien.il.us/reference-desk/directconnect-enews
 

From: Kristina Nemetz <knemetz@ > 

Sent: Tuesday, August 18, 2020 2:25 PM

To: Dan Gombac <dgombac@darienil.gov>

Subject: Concern | Chicken Coop on Seminole & Ironwood

 

Hi Dan,

 

I hope this emails finds you well. As you can tell from my work signature below, I am all too aware of what municipal

government looks like during a pandemic and especially in regards to resident concerns.

 

I grew up at 1009 Ironwood Ave. I lived in Darien from 1982-2002, 2005-2007, and again in 2017 (while we refinished our

home). My parents are Jim & Marie Freidag. I understand this chicken thing is causing quite a stir. My email today is to not

only express my sincere concern for this ordinance to be put in place, but for it to be developed to protect the adjacent
neighbors of both this chicken coop and others within the City limits. A privacy fence needs to be a part of this ordinance

and all current chicken owners should have to comply, nothing should be grandfathered in. This fencing should be at the

expense of the chicken owners not the neighboring properties attempting to protect the value of their homes.

 

When the chicken coop was going up, I had my reservations, but my parents are truly good people and amazing neighbors

and did their best to be supportive. They even attempted to mediate several times between other neighbors who were

bothered by this. They have taken to playing with the kids next door (Melissa’s), hanging out with them with the mom goes

MIA (lots of on record mental issues), invites them over for bonfires, they even helped Melissa and Jim try a new business

and they FUNDED their start-up kit. They still to this day snow plow the entire corner of Seminole and Ironwood, even in

their mid-60s, because they are just GOOD PEOPLE. Did you even hear my dad last night offer to build the fence himself at

his expense if the City would authorize him to? Unfortunately in the aftermath of last night, Melissa Goodrich has taken to

social media to shame my parents publicly which is total uncalled for and is completely out of line. You mentioned

Mediation at the meeting last night. I wanted to thank you in advance for taking this into consideration as at this point I am

thinking it is going to be necessary. I am grateful for City staff such as yourself who is willing to help stop situations from

getting worse.

 

You have a renter ridiculing and publically name calling, a longtime resident, senior couple. It is shameful and puts Darien in

a negative spotlight. I am honestly concerned for my parents well-being. She is not mentally stable. Her social media posts

are irrational, her recalling of events is false, her argument lacks any sound understanding of civilian rights. In one post she

cited this not being about the chickens, but about her “right as a millennial”. Many days the woman does not come out of

her house and her parents never leave her alone in the house unless her kids are gone. She has been diagnosed bi-polar,

police records probably will confirm this dating back several years even prior to her living on Seminole Drive on the other

side of Darien. The yard is rarely ever kept clean. Honestly since she called the Darien Patch to come out for the story, the

yard looks the nicest it has ever looked. Apparently it is “show time”, now that the media is involved.

 



Unfortunately for my parents, the media will stop covering this at some point and the yard without the restrictions of a

privacy fence will go back status quo. I hate the thought that someone else’s actions will devalue the hard work and

investment my parents have made into their house that they have called home since 1982. Let alone this could happen

elsewhere in town to another family or someone who isn’t willing to speak up. When Melissa stated last night having

chickens in the neighborhood would “attract younger residents” she is FAR from the truth. If you drove up to a home to look

at it and your future neighbor’s yard looked like the property that Melissa Goodrich lives at PLUS it had a chicken coop,

would you even go in the house for a tour? I am technically in that “millennial” age she is speaking of and I most definitely

would not even get out of my car no matter how great a house might look on paper.

 

Dan, I know your job is not easy. I know the chickens are probably causing headaches that were not required in a time like

this. I thank you in advance for your service to Darien and for your attention to resident concerns. I have worked with a lot

of boards and councils in career and it was nice to know that Darien seemed to have many even-keeled individuals working

and representing the City.

 

Thank you for your time and consideration. Please reach out with any questions.

 

Kristina Nemetz

 

 

 

 



CHICKEN(S):

COOP:

FOWL: 

HEN:

POULTRY:

ROOSTER:



APIARY:

BEE:

BEEKEEPER:

BEEKEEPING EQUIPMENT:

COLONY (COLONIES):

FLYAWAY BARRIER: 

HIVE:











From: Dan Gombac
To: Regina Kokkinis
Cc: gtag324@
Subject: FW: Coop
Date: Monday, September 21, 2020 10:00:02 AM

Regina,

Add to backp.

Daniel Gombac
Director of Municipal Services
630-353-8106
To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic newsletter:
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT
Follow the link and subscribing is simple!
https://darien.il.us/reference-desk/directconnect-enews

-----Original Message-----
From: Thomas Gannon <gtag324@ >
Sent: Monday, September 21, 2020 9:53 AM
To: Dan Gombac <dgombac@darienil.gov>
Subject: Coop

DAN WE DO NOT NEED CHICKEN  IN DARIEN.

Sent from my iPad



From: Dan Gombac
To: Regina Kokkinis
Cc: Joseph Kenny
Subject: Fwd: Chickens in Darien
Date: Monday, September 21, 2020 7:51:18 PM

Begin forwarded message:

From: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Date: September 21, 2020 at 7:49:03 PM CDT
To: Dan Gombac <dgombac@darienil.gov>, Diane Noverini
<dnoverini@darienil.gov>
Subject: FW:  Chickens in Darien

﻿
Tonight's communication 

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave
Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Date: 9/10/20 7:59 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Stephanie Kochan <stephanie_kochan@ >
Subject: RE: Chickens in Darien

Stephanie,

I have received your email as well as a handful of other Darien residents. I will
use all of the feedback provided to make an informed decision when it's time for
the City Council to vote on an ordinance.

Sincerely,

Joe Kenny
Darien Alderman Ward 3
1605 Holly Ave



Darien, IL 60561
(630)334-2858.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note9.

-------- Original message --------
From: Stephanie Kochan <stephanie_kochan@ >
Date: 9/10/20 7:50 PM (GMT-06:00)
To: Joseph Kenny <jkenny@darienil.gov>
Subject: Fw: Chickens in Darien

Dear Alderman Kenny,
I realized I forgot you in the address box.  So forwarding.

----- Forwarded Message -----
From: Stephanie Kochan <stephanie_kochan@ >
To: jmarchese@darienil.gov <jmarchese@darienil.gov>
Sent: Thursday, September 10, 2020, 07:48:10 PM CDT
Subject: Chickens in Darien

Dear Mayor and Alderman Kenny,
I've lived in ward 3 for 40+ years.  I've never considered keeping chickens, but thought I
would comment on the ongoing discussion regarding residents choosing to keep chickens.

I think the Downers Grove model where ALL near neighbors have to sign off on them and a
maximum population is a good thing.  I also think some requirement about how far away the
coop must be from neighbors should be a consideration along with some kind of privacy
fencing or hedge might be appropriate.  

My daughter kept chickens for years, but they had a five acre lot with not a neighbor in
sight.  They are smelly, they do draw flies and the birds can wander.  A harder thing to live
with when most of our lots around 0.3 acres.  Please consider the neighbors of the chicken
coop when you create your response to resident chickens.

Sincerely,
Stephanie Kochan
1534 77th Street
Darien, IL
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Regina Kokkinis
From: Dan Gombac
Sent: Wednesday, September 30, 2020 11:19 AM
To: Regina Kokkinis
Cc: Tom Belczak; Bryon Vana
Subject: FW: Backyard chickens

Please print and we will compile as supplemental info on Fri. 
 
Daniel Gombac 
Director of Municipal Services 
630-353-8106 
To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic newsletter: 
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT 
Follow the link and subscribing is simple!  
https://darien.il.us/reference‐desk/directconnect‐enews 
 

From: Bryon Vana <bvana@darienil.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, September 30, 2020 10:48 AM 
To: Dan Gombac <dgombac@darienil.gov>; Joe Marchese <jmarchese@darienil.gov> 
Subject: FW: Backyard chickens 
 
info 
 

Bryon D. Vana 
Bryon D. Vana 
City Administrator -City of Darien, Office phone – 630-353-8114 
To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for our electronic newsletter: DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT -
Follow the link and subscribing is simple!  

http://www.darien.il.us/Reference-Desk/DirectConnect.aspx 
 
 

From: Thomas Belczak <tjbelczak@icloud.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, September 30, 2020 9:37 AM 
To: Bryon Vana <bvana@darienil.gov> 
Subject: Fwd: Backyard chickens 
 
 

Sent from my iPhone 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: ivan simic <snezanasimic@ > 
Date: September 30, 2020 at 9:29:05 AM CDT 
To: tbelczak@darienil.gov 
Subject: Backyard chickens 

I am a resident of Darien and I approve backyard chickens. Please count my vote. 
Snezana and Ivan Simic 
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6921 Wilmette Ave  
Darien, il 60561 
 
Snezana “Susie” Simic 
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Regina Kokkinis
From: Thomas Belczak <tjbelczak@icloud.com>
Sent: Wednesday, September 30, 2020 1:53 PM
To: Dan Gombac; Regina Kokkinis
Subject: Fwd: Chickens in Darien

Another one for the list 

Sent from my iPhone 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Amanda V <amlvaugh@ > 
Date: September 30, 2020 at 1:35:33 PM CDT 
To: "tbelczak@darienil.gov" <tbelczak@darienil.gov> 
Subject: Chickens in Darien 

Hello, 
 
I am a resident in Darien Ward 1 and I wanted to reach out to you regarding the vote on prohibiting 
chickens (and other fowl) in the community. I would like to ask that you strongly consider allowing our 
community members to keep chickens and fowl on their private property.  
 
Chickens are very beneficial for a variety of reasons including increasing self-esteem of children that 
help care for them, decrease food waste, and reducing insects and pests.  
 
I urge you to consider all the good that chickens in our community can do. Please vote to continue 
allowing chickens in our community.  
 
Thank you, 
Amanda Vaughn 
--  
-Amanda Vaughn 



My name is Marie Freidag, I am a 37 year home owner in Darien, a 36 year 

member of DWC, I have served on the PTO, DSRC board, my church council as 

well as being an involved citizen.and business owner for 32 years. I am here 

because we are the immediate neighbor to Mellissa Goodridge and the most 

impacted by her chicken coop. 

When we first saw our neighbors coop it was a small white house ... put on a small 

patch that was their previous garden. OVER the summer it grew several times in 

size, and height, and 4 chickens became 6. Since the last council meeting the 

large coop also got an addition-without a permit-making the !arge coop even 

larger. Over the summer, as we experienced the smells, the flies and discovered 

from the CDC the health ramifications to us- we did go from being tolerant to 

being very concerned. 

As of Sept 22 the CDC shares that there are 1,346 reported cases of salmonella 

tied to backyard poultry. 229 hospitalizations and one death. This number has 

risen by 408 since the July 29th report. Healthy Chickens carry salmonella in their 

digestive track. The harmful bacteria is in their droppings, on the eggs and on 

their feathers and on its legs. While it doesn't bother chickens it can infect people 

with serious symptoms 

WE asked a veterinarian*to explain more to us about the concerns we should 

have living so close (less than 20 feet from a coop) WE found out It can be 

especially dangerous to people over 65, anyone immune compromised, and 

children 5 and under.( One neighbor is 80 and my husband is 65 and I'm close 

behind and we have grandchildren under 5) IT can be spread with a breeze -as 

dried manure can become airborne You can inhale the fungus. It can get into 

your eyes. The rain will wash the droppings onto the grass where it is then 

spread by dogs, and people walking. The chickens themseives have it ail over 

their feathers and legs and when they walk or are handled, they spread the 

bacteria. These chickens have walked on the sidewalk, and beyond their propeity, 

where the bacteria can get on the soles of shoes of any person that walks, and 

they can bring it indoors and spread. 

Chickens should NEVER be allowed to roam on city sidewalks and into neighbor's 

yards. By walking where the chickens walked we are advertently spreading the 



bacteria and can bring it indoors into our homes. It is also a fact that chicken 

droppings will attract rodents and pests such as flies in addition to attracting 

predators. That causes a whole list of other issues. This summer there were more 

flies than we ever experienced in our 37 years of home ownership. We confirmed 

that our immediate neighbors reported the same thing of an increase of flies. 

There is good reason chickens are banned in most cities and suburbs. There are 

legitimate health risks. IF Darien aiicws chickens to be raised what types of 

supervision will Darien provide to protect its residents? Will there be fines and 

follow up to check on the coops? Will liability insurance be required of a home 

owner? What requirement for cleaning and disposing of waste'? AND if they are in 

violation what are the penalties and fines and how will that be enforced? And 

repeat violators how will that be handled? 

Why do we need chickens in Darien in the first place? They are not appropriate 

pets for an urban area. If the reason to own chickens are to provide eggs I would 

counter that you can save money as eggs are oniy 87 cents a dozen at Aidi's- if 

you can afford to raise chickens then you must include the price of putting up an 

appropriate coop and fencing into cost factors. We have a nice looking 

community and I would like to keep it that way. 

• Then minimum of a fenced in yard with a privacy fence 6-8 feet should be

required

. * Chickens should NOT be allowed to roam outside the fenced in yard NO 

exceptions. Chickens are out of the coop for cleaning- so by definition a FENCE is 

required so that they STAY on their own property. There should be a max of no 

more than 4 chickens. There needs to be strict regulation for DAILY cleaning of 

the pen and throwing out of the waste to reduce smell, flies and rodents as well 

as minimize the chance of spreading salmonella 

YOU have regulations that limit the size and placement of a shed- a chicken coop 

should NOT be larger than a shed. Should NOT be close to the neighbors home 

and should require the approval from immediate bordering neighbors. I know 

that because of the unique lot that the Horvatt's rent- their yard would not be 

appropriate for chicken raising. AS Burr Ridge states (our border neighbor- lots 

need to be an acre in size to allow chickens, and a LIMIT of 4 is allowed) 



I know that you have a difficult decision. I hope that the safety and integrity of 

Darien needs to be considered. I hope to keep it a nice place to live. 

e Barb Reschke, head VET of Dupage Wildlife 



Thank you for allowing me this time to air my frustrations and opinions on the issue of 
raising chickens within our community. As you know from previous conversations and 
presentations, I am not against the possibility of homeowners in Darien having 
chickens. My original request that anyone having this kind of agricultural operation in 
the yard within the city limits of Darien should be required to have an 8-foot privacy 
fence completely surrounding their backyard to protec.i adjacent homeowners property 
and its value. The coop shouid be at least 20 feet from their property line and 
maintained so flies and odors do not invade neighbors' homes. In addition, I was asking 
for the city to limit the number of chickens any homeowner could have on their property 
to four to assist in noise control. 

After doing additional research on raising chickens in residential areas and reviewing 
area communities' ordinances regarding the raising of chickens within those 
communities, I feel it is necessary for the City of Darien to include additional regulations: 

1. An annual permit fee to cover the cost of regulating and monitoring the required
structures and health of the birds. City taxpayers should not have to subsidize
these ventures.

2. Stringent health regulations for the chickens and the upkeep of the coop need to
be included in any ordinance. I have attached to your copy of this transcript
several links to governmental and private health agencies that scared me with all
the potential diseases and issues backyard chicken coops can cause.

3. Structural requirements are needed for buildings within and around coop areas.
Because of the need to provide a heated interior area during the colder months
of our year it is imperative that for the safety of citizens proper electrical and
structural guidelines be set.

4. Finally, reiterating my original requests i.e. the need a for privacy fence and
fencing to contain the chickens within the homeowners yard, a safe a reasonable
distance from coops to neighbors yards so the insect pests and odors are not
invading their properties, and a limit on the total number of chickens a
homeowner can have at any one time.

In conclusion, the CDC, The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, posted on 
its website just this past September 23, 2020 the following statement: 

"CDC and public health officials in 49 states are investigating 16 multistate 
outbreaks of Salmonella infections linked to contact with poultry in backyard 
flocks, such as chicks and ducklings. The number of illnesses reported this 
year sets a record number of illnesses as compared to past years' outbreaks 
linked to backyard flocks." 

I ask, Does the City of Darien need to protect our citizens? 



Quotes and references from my research: 

1. Cytotoxicity of Odorous Compounds from Poultry Manure from the International
Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health.
(ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5129256)

"Long-term exposure and inhalation of odorous compounds from poultry manure can 
be harmful to farm workers and the surrounding residents as well as animals .... 
Odorous compounds generated from poultry farmhouses are a potential nuisance to 
the environment and public health. Odours are formed by microbial decomposition of 
excreta from litter and direct emissions from the birds in a poultry farm (1]. They can 
originate from fresh and decomposing waste products such as manure and also 
from feathers and bedding. Strong odors have been reported to intensify the 
symptoms of people with asthma or allergies ra]. 

2. Illinois Department of Public Health -
http://www.idph.state.il. us/health/infecVPoultry. htm

"Human Health Concerns About Raising Poultry" 

Salmonella and Campy/obacter are common public health hazards potentially 
associated with chicken contact. These bacteria are carried by healthy chickens and 
are communicable to people through direct contact, exposure to manure, or 
consumption of undercooked chicken and eggs. 

Histoplasmosis can cause a respiratory disease with cough and shortness of breath. 
The fungal organism causing this disease is present throughout the Midwest but can 
be concentrated in areas with quantities of bird droppings. 

Other diseases and issues concerning to the Illinois Department of Public Health 
Avian influenza (bird flu), Exotic Newcastle disease, Attraction of predators 

3. CDC: https://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/backyardpoultry-05-20/index.html



* Dr rec:t{y Rtfel'--'k IX !lef KbZJ,5
-

Darien Neighbor Petition Supporting Regulation of Chicken Coops 

I am aware of the dispute between several of my neighbors in our Darien Hinsbrook Subdivision regarding the city's 

position (or lack thereof) regarding chicken coops. As a homeowner directly impacted by the same chickens and chicken 

coop, I request the City of Darien act to regulate both chickens and the coop structures in Darien. I support the 

following viewpoints: 

1. Chlckei1 coops should not be allowed to be constructed close and visibie to a neighbor's yard without the

neighbor's permission. Neighboring cities have adopted these policies and have required approval by all

neighboring properties during the permit process.

2. if chicken coops are allowed in any circumstance the city should develop and police strict sanitation policies.

The environmental impact of chicken coops should be monitored to meet safety and health standards and the

city should make sure neighboring properties are not adversely affected.

3. The owner of any property that contains a chicken coop should be required at their expense to construct and

maintain a privacy fence that blocks all visibility of their chicken coop from neighboring properties and the

street.

First Name Last Name Address 

....._--------+----------+-----------1-------------



Attachment C 

TITLE 7: HEALTH AND SANITATION 

Chapter 5: ANIMALS 

7-5-1 Chickens 

1. DEFINITIONS;

CHICKEN(S): the common domestic fowl (Gallus gallus domesticus) especially
when young.

COOP: Shall mean and include a coop, building, pen or other enclosure, with or
without an enclosed pen or hen yard that is designed, constructed and maintained
to confine fowl within the coop and to prevent access by predators and trespassers.

FOWL: Any domesticated egg laying chicken hen and shall exclude all roosters and
chicken hens that have ceased laying eggs.

HEN: a female chicken.

POULTRY: domestic fowl, such as chickens, turkeys, ducks, and geese.

ROOSTER: a male chicken.

2. REQUIREMENTS; PEMITS, FEES & PENALTIES

a. The raising/keeping of hens shall be permitted on all single-family detached
single family residential zoning lots containing a minimum of six thousand
(6,000) square feet as an accessory use.

b. A maximum of eight (8) four (4) hens shall be permitted.
c. All hens shall be kept within a coop consisting of a covered enclosure/structure

with an attached covered/enclosed outdoor area to prevent hens from
encroaching onto neighboring properties.

d. An outdoor area a minimum of ten (10) square feet per hen will be required and
a maximum of two hundred (200) one hundred fifty (150) total square feet will
be permitted for both the covered enclosure / structure and outdoor area. The
total height of a coop may not exceed seven (7) feet.

e. All enclosures/structures shall be located a minimum of ten feet (10') twenty
feet (20) from all lot lines.

f. All hens and enclosures/structures shall be kept/located in the rear yard only.
g. All areas where hens are kept shall be clean and well maintained on a daily

basis, with little to no accumulation of waste. In addition, all areas where hens
are kept shall not produce or cause odors that are detectable on adjacent
properties. All electrical appurtenances shall be UL Listed and clearly
labeled.

h. All chicken coops shall require an approved 6-foot screening barrier, located on
3 (three) sides of the coop, within 5 feet from the coop and consisting of a solid 



  Attachment C 

privacy fence or 6-foot high arborvitae spaced in zig-zag pattern as not to allow 
any portion of the coop to be seen. As an alternative, Perimeter fencing six 
foot high, privacy/solid fencing shall be required around the entire yard – six 
(6) foot high fence shall satisfy the screening requirement. 

i. Humane conditions are to be maintained year round. 
j. Roosters are prohibited. 
k. Slaughtering is prohibited. 
l. No other poultry, including but not limited to geese, ducks and turkeys shall be 

kept on the property. 
m. An initial hen permit shall be required for approval of hens, coops, and required 

fencing or screening. Permit application shall be authorized by owner of 
property. Permit authorizes City staff to inspect property for compliance when 
deemed necessary. Permit approval is required prior to obtaining hens. Privacy 
fence shall be installed prior to construction of the coop. 

n. A hen permit issued by the City with a one-time fee of twenty five dollars 
($25.00) shall be required. A renewal permit/registration shall be required each 
year thereafter, with no an additional fee of $10.00 or building inspection 
required.  

o. A hen permit issued under this article shall be revoked upon the commission of 
three (3) violations within a period of twelve (12) months. Any revoked 
property shall not be granted a permit for one year. 

p. Sales of egg(s) or hen(s) or anything related to chicken keeping are not allowed.  
q. On or prior to May 1, 2021 all nonconforming properties must be brought into 

conformance with the keeping of hens regulations of this article. This period is 
for all purposes deemed an appropriate amortization period for each and every 
nonconforming property presently located within the corporate limits of the City 
or hereinafter located within the City by reason of annexation into the City of the 
lot or parcel on which the uses are located. 

 



Attachment D 

Community Development Department 
1702 Plainfield Road Darien, Illinois 60561 

Tel: 630-852-8115 Fax: 630-852-4709 

Hen Coop / Hen Yard SPECIFICATIONS, REQUIREMENTS and GUIDELINES 

ADDRESS: ______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBMIT THE FOLLOWING (intake staff to verify required submittal documents indicated below): 
· Building Permit Application that is filled out and signed by owner.
· Hen Coop / Hen Yard Specification Sheet (both pages 1 and 2) filled out and signed by owner.
· Legal Plat of Survey that is to Scale and indicates All Existing Conditions.
· Site Plan (typically, a copy of the plat of survey) indicating the hen coop location and distances to lot lines

and other structures (i.e. house, detached garage, shed, etc.)

Hen Coop and Hen Yard Requirements 
· An initial hen permit shall be required for approval of hens, coops, and required fencing. Permit

application shall be authorized by owner of property. Permit authorizes City staff to inspect property for 
compliance when deemed necessary. Permit approval is required prior to obtaining hens. 

· A hen permit issued by the City with a one-time fee of twenty five dollars ($25.00) shall be required. A
renewal permit/registration shall be required each year thereafter, with an additional fee of $10.00. 

· An outdoor area a minimum of ten (10) square feet per hen will be required and a maximum of one
hundred fifty (150) total square feet will be permitted for both the covered enclosure / structure and 
outdoor area. The total height of a coop may not exceed seven (7) feet. 

· The raising/keeping of hens shall be permitted on all single-family detached single family residential
zoning lots containing a minimum of six thousand (6,000) square feet as an accessory use. 

· All hens and enclosures/structures shall be kept/located in the rear yard only.
· Hen coops shall be located a minimum of twenty feet (20') from all lot lines.
· No more than four (4) hens per property.
· Roosters are not permitted and hens may not be slaughtered.
· Perimeter fencing around the entire yard – six (6) foot high privacy/solid fencing is a requirement.
· No other poultry, including but not limited to geese, ducks and turkeys shall be kept on the property.

Sanitation requirements 
· A hen permit issued under this article shall be revoked upon the commission of three (3) violations within

a period of twelve (12) months. Any revoked property shall not be granted a permit for one year. 
· Humane conditions are to be maintained year round.
· Sales of egg(s) or hen(s) or anything related to chicken keeping are not allowed.
· All areas where hens are kept shall be clean and well maintained on a daily basis, with little to no

accumulation of waste. In addition, all areas where hens are kept shall not produce or cause odors that
are detectable on adjacent properties. All electrical appurtenances shall be UL Listed and clearly labeled.
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  Community Development Department 
  1702 Plainfield Road Darien, Illinois 60561 

Tel: 630-852-8115 Fax: 630-852-4709  
 
Hen Coop Information:              PERMIT FEE $25.00  

 Coop Size/Dimensions: ________ x _______ = SF (Max. 150 SF) 

 Height_________ (Max 7’)  

 # of Hens _________ (Max. 4) (NOTE: Roosters are PROHIBITED) 

 Distance to House ________ (Min. 20’) 

 Distance to Lot Lines _________ (Min. 20’) __________ (Min. 20’) _________ (Min. 20’) 
    Side   Rear   Side 
 Hen Coop Material ________________________________________ 

 

Example Site Plan 

 

 

YOUR SIGNATURE BELOW ATTESTS THAT THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IS CORRECT AND COMPLIES WITH CITY ADOPTED CODES 

 

 ______________________________ ______________________________  ___________________ 
AGENT Pinted Name   Agent Signature    Date 
 
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________  ___________________ 
OWNER Printed Name   Owner Signature    Date 
 
 
 

This document is provided in order to administer general information pertaining to your Permit Application. Additional 
requirements may be applicable to this project. Please refer to the Community Development Staff for additional 

information. 
        

On or prior to May 1, 2021 all nonconforming properties must be brought into conformance with the keeping of hens. This 
period is for all purposes deemed an appropriate amortization period for each and every nonconforming property presently 
located within the corporate limits of the City or hereinafter located within the City by reason of annexation into the City of 

the lot or parcel on which the uses are located. 

20' Min 

20'Min.
Permitted Area for Hen 

Coop/Yard

Maximum 150 square 
feet

20' Min 

Front Yard Rear Yard

Street

20' Min.

House



CITY OF DARIEN 

DU PAGE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE NO.  

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE VII OF THE DARIEN CITY CODE 
“HEALTH AND SANITATION” 

ADOPTED BY THE 

MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE 

CITY OF DARIEN 

THIS 5th DAY OF OCTOBER, 2020 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of 
the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Darien, DuPage County, Illinois, and this 
____day of October, 2020. 
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AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE VII OF THE DARIEN CITY CODE, 
 

“HEALTH AND SANITATION” 
 

WHEREAS, residents of the City have expressed interest in raising domesticated egg-laying 

chickens; and 

WHEREAS, these matters are not addressed by the Darien City Code; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have concluded that allowing such activities on 

certain residential property, subject to appropriate regulation, is reasonable;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DARIEN, DU PAGE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE 

POWERS as follows: 

SECTION 1: Title VII, “Health and Sanitation” Amended. Title VII of the Darien City 

Code, “Health and Sanitation,” is hereby amended by adding the following Chapter 5,  

“Animals”: 

TITLE 7: HEALTH AND SANITATION 
 
Chapter 5: ANIMALS 
 
7-5-1 Chickens 
 
1. DEFINITIONS: 

 
CHICKEN(S): the common domestic fowl. 
 
COOP: Shall mean and include a coop, building, pen or other enclosure, with or 

without an enclosed pen or hen yard that is designed, constructed and 
maintained to confine fowl within the coop and to prevent access by 
predators and trespassers. 

 
FOWL: Any domesticated egg-laying chicken hen and shall exclude all roosters 

and chicken hens that have ceased laying eggs. 
 
HEN: a female chicken. 
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POULTRY: domestic fowl, such as chickens, turkeys, ducks, and geese. 
 
ROOSTER: a male chicken. 
 
2. REQUIREMENTS; PERMITS, FEES & PENALTIES 
 
a. The raising/keeping of hens shall be permitted on all single-family detached 

single family residential zoning lots containing a minimum of six thousand 
(6,000) square feet as an accessory use. 

b. A maximum of four (4) hens shall be permitted. 

c. All hens shall be kept within a coop consisting of a covered enclosure/structure 
with an attached covered/enclosed outdoor area to prevent hens from encroaching 
onto neighboring properties. 

d. An outdoor area a minimum of ten (10) square feet per hen will be required and a 
maximum of one hundred fifty (150) total square feet will be permitted for both 
the covered enclosure/structure and outdoor area. The total height of a coop may 
not exceed seven (7) feet. 

e. All enclosures/structures shall be located a minimum of twenty feet (20) from all 
lot lines. 

f. All hens and enclosures/structures shall be kept/located in the rear yard only. 

g. All areas where hens are kept shall be clean and well maintained on a daily basis, 
with little to no accumulation of waste. In addition, all areas where hens are kept 
shall not produce or cause odors that are detectable on adjacent properties. All 
electrical appurtenances shall be UL listed and clearly labeled. 

h. Perimeter fencing six foot high, privacy/solid fencing shall be required around the 
entire yard.  

i. Humane conditions are to be maintained year round. 

j. Roosters are prohibited. 

k. Slaughtering is prohibited. 

l. No other poultry, including but not limited to geese, ducks and turkeys shall be 
kept on the property. 

m. An initial hen permit shall be required for approval of hens, coops, and required 
fencing. Permit application shall be authorized by owner of property. Permit 
authorizes City staff to inspect property for compliance when deemed necessary. 
Permit approval is required prior to obtaining hens. Privacy fence shall be 
installed prior to construction of the coop. 

n. A hen permit issued by the City with a one-time fee of twenty five dollars 
($25.00) shall be required. A renewal permit/registration shall be required each 
year thereafter, with an additional fee of $10.00. 
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o. A hen permit issued under this article shall be revoked upon the commission of 
three (3) violations within a period of twelve (12) months. Any revoked property 
shall not be granted a permit for one year. 

p. Sales of egg(s) or hen(s) or anything related to chicken keeping are not allowed.  

q. On or prior to May 1, 2021 all nonconforming properties must be brought into 
conformance with the keeping of hens regulations of this article. This period is for 
all purposes deemed an appropriate amortization period for each and every 
nonconforming property presently located within the corporate limits of the City 
or hereinafter located within the City by reason of annexation into the City of the 
lot or parcel on which the uses are located. 

 
 SECTION 2: Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after 

its passage and approval as provided by law.   

 PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE 

COUNTY, ILLINOIS, this 5th day of October, 2020. 

AYES:   

NAYS:   

ABSENT:   

APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE COUNTY, 

ILLINOIS, this 5th day of October, 2020. 

 

  
  JOSEPH A. MARCHESE, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
  
 JOANNE E. RAGONA, CITY CLERK 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
  
 CITY ATTORNEY 
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AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE DARIEN CITY CODE 
BY ADDING A CHAPTER TO TITLE VII, 

“HEALTH AND SANITATION” 
 

WHEREAS, residents of the City have expressed interest in raising domesticated egg-laying 

chickens on residential property; and 

WHEREAS, these matters are not addressed by the Darien City Code; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have concluded that allowing such activities on 

certain residential property, subject to appropriate regulation, is prohibited;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DARIEN, DU PAGE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE 

POWERS as follows: 

SECTION 1:  City Code Title VII, “Health and Sanitation” Amended. Title VII of the 

Darien City Code, “Health and Sanitation,” is hereby amended by adding the following Chapter 5,  

“Animals”: 

TITLE 7: HEALTH AND SANITATION 
 
Chapter 5: ANIMALS 
 
7-5-1 Domestic fowl, chickens, turkeys, ducks and geese shall be prohibited. 
 
1. DEFINITIONS: 
 
CHICKEN(S): the common domestic fowl 
 
COOP: Shall mean and include a coop, building, pen or other enclosure, with or 

without an enclosed pen or hen yard that is designed, constructed and 
maintained to confine fowl within the coop and to prevent access by 
predators and trespassers. 

 
FOWL: Any domesticated egg-laying chicken hen and shall exclude all roosters 

and chicken hens that have ceased laying eggs. 
 
HEN: a female chicken. 



ORDINANCE NO.______________ 
 
 

3 

POULTRY: domestic fowl, such as chickens, turkeys, ducks, and geese. 
 
ROOSTER: a male chicken. 
 
2. REQUIREMENTS; PERMITS, FEES & PENALTIES 
 
a. On or prior to January 1, 2021 all nonconforming properties must be 

brought into conformance regulations of this article. This period is for all 
purposes deemed an appropriate amortization period for each and every 
nonconforming property presently located within the corporate limits of the 
City or hereinafter located within the City by reason of annexation into the 
City of the lot or parcel on which the uses are located. 

 
 SECTION 3: Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after 

its passage and approval as provided by law.   

 PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE 

COUNTY, ILLINOIS, this 5th day of October, 2020. 

AYES:   

NAYS:   

ABSENT:   

APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE COUNTY, 

ILLINOIS, this 5th day of October, 2020. 

 

  
  JOSEPH A. MARCHESE, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
  
 JOANNE E. RAGONA, CITY CLERK 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
  
 CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 

 



CITY OF DARIEN 

RULES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC COMMENT REQUIREMENTS 
OF THE ILLINOIS OPEN MEETINGS ACT 

I. PURPOSE OF RULES. 

The purpose of these Rules is to comply with the requirement of Section 2.06 of the Illinois 

Open Meetings Act that a public comment section be provided at each meeting subject to the Open 

Meetings Act. 

II. DEFINITION OF “PUBLIC BODY” or “BODY.”

For purposes of these Rules, the term “Public Body” or “Body” shall mean the City Council,

any Committee of the City Council, and any Board and Commission established by the City Council. 

III. RULES GOVERNING PUBLIC COMMENT.

A. Unless otherwise allowed by a majority vote of the Body, the public comment periods 

shall be as follows: 

1. For the City Council, as set forth on the attached Agenda template.

2. For Council committees and advisory committees, at the conclusion of the meeting

immediately before adjournment. At the direction of the Body, the floor may be opened for 

public comment in conjunction with specific agenda items.  

B. Individuals seeking to make public comment to the Body shall be formally recognized 

by the Chair. 

C. Individuals addressing the Body shall identify themselves by name, but need not 

provide their home address. 

D. Individuals addressing the Body shall do so by addressing their comments to the Body 



itself and shall not turn to address the audience. 

 E. Public comment time shall be limited to three (3) minutes per person. 

 F. An individual will be allowed a second opportunity to address the Body only after all 

other interested persons have addressed the Body and only upon the majority vote of the Body. 

 G. In the case of a special meeting, public comment will be limited to subject matters 

germane to the agenda of the special meeting. 

IV. PUBLIC HEARING REQUIREMENTS. 

 Additional public comments periods will be allowed as required by law in the case of public 

hearing, subject to the same time constraints.  

 

 

Approved by a Motion on November 17, 2014 
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